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COMPANY HISTORY

LR

In 1977, the family of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late founder and chairman of the Group,
acquired the equity interest of Hong Kong Resort Company Limited (“Hong Kong
Resort”) which is the registered owner and developer of Discovery Bay on Lantau
Island. The shares of Hong Kong Resort and the other Group company currently
named HKR Properties Limited were once listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited in 1987 and in 1988 and 1989 respectively. During the years 1988 and
1989, the Group underwent a series of reorganisation and scheme of arrangement
and formed HKR International Limited (“the Company”) in May 1989 as its new
listed holding company carrying on principally real estate development and other
related businesses. Today, the Company is a constituent of the 200-stock Hang Seng
Composite Index Series under the stock code of 480.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

FRERF IR

AUGUST 8H

Le Bleu Deux in Tung Chung was launched and
attained a record-high selling price of HK$12,979
per square foot GFA for a specialty unit Le Bleu
Spa Villa. About 88% of all 524 units were snapped
up by buyers within weeks.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/&E 2B £ E AR A A
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OCTOBER 10H

The Sukhothai hotel was
named the “Best Business
Hotel in Bangkok” by
the Business Traveller
magazine.

The Sukhothai B J& ¥
Business Travellerf % &F
/5 [Best Business Hotel in
Bangkok] °

Chianti in Discovery Bay won the “Top Ten
Property Marketing Award”, the “Top Ten Property
Layouts Award” and the “Best Environmental
Planning Award” in the “HKIS Property Marketing
Award 2008” organised by the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
AERERT i E
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MARCH 3H
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Senior government officials in Shanghai joined top management of HKR International Limited and Swire Properties
Limited to officiate at the Dazhongli Relocation of Historical Building and Ground Breaking Ceremony.

DENERBAE 8 REEHEEREEARARRANERRAFTNSRELRE —RERFAH BRERZFEBUMD
BERAT S o

Preparation works of the Dazhongli project in R LTREAREEANEHTIR
the Jingan district, Shanghai, kicked off with — F&EZIE R AR EZERG TIZHEE
the commencement of relocation of a historical ~ MEZER °

building within the site.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/&E 2R £ E AR A A



MARCH 3H

Construction works of The Sukhothai Residences
in Bangkok were progressing smoothly. As of
31 March 2009, 141 units were sold, representing
approximately 72% of the 196 units available, and
fetched about Thai Baht 6,457 million (approximately

HK$1,408 million).

i A 2 A BThe Sukhothai
Residencesz i £ T 12 #E R JIE
o B E2000F3AK - ZHE
BHEH 141 BB - #1555
196 BRI H72% & HERY
64.57 BZ:ER(#14.081887T) »

GenRx opened its first Healthway
Medical Centre in Guangzhou as
an outreach of GenRx medical
service in Hong Kong and a
platform for Hong Kong doctors to
practise in the Southern region of
the Mainland.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
BT e

The Financial Year 2008/2009 (“the year”) was an extremely challenging year as we faced the worst
international financial crisis in decades.

In the face of global downturn, HKR International Limited (“the Group”), having inherited generations
of prudent management and sound financials, adjusted its strategy to rebalance and enhance assets,
with a view to conserving resources, consolidating foundation, and improving the Group’s competitive
edge.

FINANCIALS

Loss attributable to shareholders for the year was HK$224.1 million and loss per share was HK$0.17,
compared to a profit of HK$924.8 million and earnings per share of HK$0.68 last year. This was the
second loss-making year for the Group since it was listed on the Stock Exchange in 1989, after the
Financial Year 2002/2003 when Hong Kong faced the SARS epidemic.

The loss for 2008/2009 was mainly attributable to the revaluation deficits caused by fair value changes in
investment properties and financial assets totalling HK$735.7 million as a result of the adverse financial
and economic conditions. Excluding the revaluation deficits, the Group would have reported a profit. The
Group’s operations have remained robust, and financial position solid.

Turnover for the year was HK$2,593.7 million, compared to HK$3,429.7 million in 2007/2008. As of
31 March 2009, the net asset value of the Group stood at HK$9,698.4 million (HK$7.2 per share),
down 4.5% from last year's HK$10,154.9 million (HK$7.5 per share).

The Board of Directors does not recommend payment of final dividend to shareholders for the year.

No interim dividend was paid by the Group during the year. In 2007/2008, a total dividend of HK$0.15
per share was paid to shareholders.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &5 E 2B £ E AR A A



Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
Chairman
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

CONSOLIDATION & GROWTH

In 2008/2009, the Group engaged in a series of strategic asset disposals and reviewed some of its
projects to strengthen its financial position.

During the year, the Group successfully timed the sale launch of Le Bleu Deux, Phase 4 of Coastal
Skyline project in Tung Chung, and attained outstanding results, with about 88% of the units sold
within weeks. Meanwhile, the Group also disposed of the commercial premises at Peninsula Centre in
Tsim Sha Tsui East. As a result, the Group was in a better position to weather the storm.

The Group will maintain momentum of its key projects across Asia, and is well-positioned to benefit
from an eventual economic recovery.

In Hong Kong, foundation works of Phase 14 of Discovery Bay were completed during the year and
superstructure works have commenced. The lifestyle shopping centre at Yi Pak is also targeted for soft
opening in late 2009 / early 2010.

In Shanghai, preparation works of the Dazhongli project in the Jingan district began with the
commencement of relocation of a historical building in March 2009. By the end of the year, practically
all Phase 1 and about 55% of Phase 2 resettlement works were completed. Progress of site clearance
has been satisfactory and the project is anticipated to be completed by phases in 2013 and 2014.
This high-end mixed-use project will complement the development of Shanghai into an international
financial centre and will become a flagship development of the Group in the Mainland.

Since early 2009, the Group has been gearing up for the sale launch of Chelsea in Shanghai. Formerly
the Group’s wholly-owned deluxe serviced apartments, the property is being renovated and would be
put to the market for strata-title sale in mid-2009.

In Bangkok, construction works of The Sukhothai Residences were progressing on schedule. This
ultra-luxury 41-storey condominium tower is due for completion in 2011 and will become a new
landmark in the Bangkok Central Business District.

In the meantime, GenRx Holdings Limited (“GenRx”), the Group’s healthcare subsidiary, continued to
expand its network and opened new medical centres in Shanghai and Guangzhou during the year.

OUTLOOK

The economic outlook remains uncertain. Governments around the world have introduced various
policy packages to ease liquidity, deal with distressed assets, and most importantly restore confidence.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED %78 B 3£ B[R 5= E A PR A A
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

The Group remains hopeful and vigilant. We will closely monitor and review the value and progress of
our various projects in light of the fast-changing global economy and local market conditions. Projects
promising outstanding growth potential and investment value would continue. We will also be on the
constant lookout for good buying opportunities.

We have full confidence in the long-term growth of the Mainland economy and the Hong Kong market.
The RMB4 trillion stimulus package announced by the Central Government in late 2008, involving
credit loosening, tax cut and massive infrastructure spending, is expected to help revitalise the
Mainland economy and sustain growth, and at the same time benefit Hong Kong. We will continue to
consolidate and enhance our assets to emerge as a stronger player when the economy recovers and
growth resumes.

APPRECIATION

| would like to extend my gratitude and appreciation to all the people who have been instrumental in
helping the Group cope with the challenging conditions, customers and partners for their support,
and especially our Board of Directors for their strategic guidance as well as all the staffs for their
dedication, perseverance and teamwork.

Finally, | thank you, our shareholders, for your faith and confidence in the Group. With the support of
all our stakeholders, we shall rise to the challenges and come out of the crisis in good shape!

W‘*"ﬁﬂ——“_“‘ﬁ

CHA Mou Sing Payson
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 July 2009

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED %78 B 3£ B[R 5= E A PR A A
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Despite the many challenges posed
by the global financial tsunami, the
overall operations of the Group have
remained sound and intact, and its
financial position solid. During the year,
the Group moved quickly and decisively
to strengthen its position, reviewed
current projects and portfolios, further
consolidated resources, and got well-
prepared for continual growth once the
current volatility subsides.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

In Hong Kong, the sale launch of Le
Bleu Deux, Phase 4 of Coastal Skyline,
achieved remarkable results during the
year. The only waterfront low-density
mid-rise development in Tung Chung,
Le Bleu Deux received overwhelming
market response when it was put to

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

Bl FERESELIBEMN L



MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

the market in August 2008, before the
financial tsunami began to take hold.
The sale campaign coincided with the
Beijing Olympics and the property
immediately grabbed market attention
with its unique positioning and superior
quality. By the end of March 2009,
464 units, representing over 88% of
all 524 units, were sold at an average
of HK$5,870 per square foot GFA. In
particular, one of the specialty units, Le
Bleu Spa Villa, fetched a selling price of
HK$12,979 per square foot GFA, which
is a record high in Tung Chung.

Although the Group is currently re-
assessing the viability of the conference
and resort hotel project in Discovery
Bay in light of the uncertain market
condition, superstructure works of
Phase 14 of Discovery Bay, comprising
3 mid-rise blocks, have commenced
following completion of its foundation
works. The lifestyle shopping centre at
Yi Pak is also planned for soft opening
in late 2009 / early 2010.
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
WP

Return on the Group’s investment properties remained stable. In Discovery Bay, D Deck, comprising
over 20 international restaurants along the waterfront promenade, has established itself firmly as one
of the most popular oceanfront alfresco dining destinations in Hong Kong. As of 31 March 2009, DB
Plaza, together with D Deck, achieved an occupancy rate of 94%, contributing a steady income stream
to the Group. Other investment properties like CDW Building and Discovery Park Shopping Centre in
Tsuen Wan also maintained good occupancy rates.

During the year, the Group also disposed of the commercial premises on 2nd Floor of Peninsula
Centre in Tsim Sha Tsui East to an independent third party at a consideration of HK$228 million.

All these initiatives significantly enhanced the Group’s financial position as we move forward with our
key projects in the Mainland and across Asia.

The Dazhongli project in the Jingan district of Shanghai reached a new milestone during the year,
when preparation works kicked off with the commencement of relocation of a historical building in
March 2009. By the end of the year, Phase 1 resettlement works were practically completed and about
55% of the Phase 2 resettlement works were done. In addition, the master layout plan was approved
and the schematic design had been submitted for approval. This mixed-use project comprising office
towers, retail space and hotels is expected to be completed by phases in 2013 and 2014, enabling the
Group to establish an even stronger foothold and prominent presence in the Mainland.

Chelsea, the Group’s wholly-owned deluxe serviced apartments in Shanghai, would be available for
strata-title sale in mid-2009 after renovation and refurbishment. Located in the prestigious area of
Huashan Road and offering unbeatable views of the legendary Ding Xiang Garden, the property will
be very much sought after by buyers and investors alike and is expected to generate handsome
return for the Group.

Across Asia, Beaufort on Nassim in Singapore was completed during the year. Transactions in 28 of
the 30 units of this luxury low-rise residential development have been completed so far, generating a
profit of S$66 million (approximately HK$356 million). In Bangkok, 141 out of the 196 units of The
Sukhothai Residences, an ultra-luxury 41-storey condominium tower, have been sold for Thai Baht
6,457 million (approximately HK$1,408 million). Construction works progressed smoothly and are
expected to complete in 2011. During the year, DIA Palace Il in Sapporo, Japan, a 39-unit en bloc
residential building held as an investment property, also brought in good rental income.

Although the tourism industry in Asia was affected by the global downturn and the political instability
in Thailand, the Group’s hotels and serviced apartments continued to deliver the highest standards
of customer services and outperformed their competitors. For example, The Sukhothai hotel in
Bangkok was named the “Best Business Hotel in Bangkok” by the Business Traveller magazine and
The Sentosa Resort & Spa also won the prestigious “Singapore’s Leading Spa Resort” award 4 years
ina row.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED %7 B 3£ B[R 5= E A PR A A
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
[ bt e

Turnover of the Group’s healthcare operation increased 11% to HK$352 million. During the year,
GenRyx, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, opened 2 more Healthway Medical Centres in Shanghai
and Guangzhou respectively. By the end of March 2009, GenRx had 56 medical and dental facilities
across Asia.

LOOKING FORWARD

As a strategic response to the global financial tsunami, the Group focused on conserving resources,
rebalancing assets, and enhancing competitiveness during the year.

With a tradition of prudent development, decades of solid foundation, and an experienced and
committed management team, the Group has successfully strengthened its financial and market
position in all the markets where it operates. The Group will continue to watch out for investment
opportunities in Asia and seek to enter markets that offer outstanding growth potential.

Benefiting from the experience and insight of our Board of Directors and with the teamwork of all staff,
we are moving forward despite the downturn. We are confident that the Group is well positioned to
take advantage of an eventual global rebound, and to continue our growth and delivery of excellent
values to our shareholders and stakeholders in the long run.

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director
Hong Kong, 22 July 2009

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED %78 B 3£ B[R 5= E A PR A A
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OPERATIONS REVIEW - HONG KONG
ST - A

REAL ESTATE
DISCOVERY BAY

Chianti

Chianti, Phase 13 of Discovery Bay, has been well-received by the market since it was launched. Its
exceptional architectural and design quality has also won recognition from the surveying and interior
design industries. For example, in November 2008, Chianti was awarded the “Top Ten Property
Marketing Award”, the “Top Ten Property Layouts Award” and the “Best Environmental Planning
Award” in the “HKIS Property Marketing Award 2008” organised by the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. Two show flats of Chianti, namely Cristalli Duplex and Garden Suite, clinched the “Honor
Awards” in the Exhibition Hall category of the “Asia Pacific Interior Design Biennial Awards 2008”,
presented by Asia Pacific Federation of Architects/Interior Designers in October 2008. Another show
flat, Spa Residence, also landed the “Silver Award” in the Show Flat category of “The Ring-iC@ward
International Interior Design 2008” organised by the International Council of Interior Architects and
Designers in December 2008. The designer responsible for Cristalli Duplex also won the “2008
China Top 10 Sample House/Room Designers Award” organised by the China Building Decoration
Association. Chianti is highly regarded by the market for its superior interior design and has won a total

of 11 awards over the years.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &5 E 2B £ E AR A A
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OPERATIONS REVIEW - HONG KONG
ST - A

Yi Pak

Works progress of Phase 14 of Discovery Bay, comprising 3 mid-rise blocks with a size of over 168,000
square feet GFA, has been smooth. The foundation works were completed during the year and the
superstructure works have already commenced. The project is targeted for sale launch in early 2010.

Soft opening of the up-market lifestyle shopping centre in Yi Pak is scheduled for late 2009 / early
2010 and its construction works continued during the year. Meanwhile, the Group is reassessing the
viability of the conference and resort hotel project in Discovery Bay in light of the uncertain sentiment
in the hospitality market in both Hong Kong and Macau.

Separately, the new community hall in Yi Pak was handed over to the Government in April 2009 and opened
in late May 2009. It would further enhance the community facilities provided to residents of Discovery Bay
and the nearby areas, and serve as a new venue for various sports, recreation and cultural activities.

DB Plaza

D Deck, the largest oceanfront alfresco dining hotspot in Hong Kong, has captured the hearts of local
and international diners. More than 20 thematic restaurants along the waterfront promenade offer
customers an ultimate dining experience, combining gourmet dining with a breathtaking sea view
and a touch of European ambience. Patronage has been increasing steadily and creative publicity
campaigns will be rolled out continuously to market D Deck as one of the most unique dining
destinations in Hong Kong.
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Meanwhile, DB Plaza continued to serve the community, delivering a wide variety of products and
services to residents and visitors. Together with D Deck, DB Plaza attained an occupancy rate of 94%
as of 31 March 2009 and generated stable rental income for the Group.

The Bounty

Residing in Discovery Bay, The Bounty, the only European tall ship in Hong Kong, has become a
distinctive icon of local waters since it was brought in by the Group in November 2007. More and
more people get to know The Bounty after she was made available for charter in September 2008.
With a capacity of 60 passengers, The Bounty makes a versatile and innovative venue for a wide
range of events, from corporate entertainment and training activities, to wedding banquets, private
theme parties and TV drama shooting. Since its official launch, The Bounty had had over 20 chartered
functions (as of 31 March 2009), opening up a new revenue source for the Group.

The Bounty
BRI

Discovery Bay Services

The 4 Clubs in Discovery Bay continued to deliver unparalleled services to members, and registered
moderate rise in turnover during the year. Amongst them, Discovery Bay Golf Club remained a
favourite venue for international golf events in Hong Kong. It attracted attention from both local and
overseas media when it hosted the qualifying tournament of Volvo China Open in March 2009.

Apart from the Clubs, the Group’s other subsidiaries continued to provide professional property
management and transportation services to the residents of Discovery Bay.

The Group has a 50% interest in Discovery Bay.
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COASTAL SKYLINE, TUNG CHUNG
Le Bleu Deux

The Group managed to capture the positive market sentiment and launched Le Bleu Deux, Phase 4 of
Coastal Skyline, in August 2008. With its unique positioning as the only waterfront low-density mid-rise
residential development in Tung Chung, Le Bleu Deux was snapped up by buyers. By the end of the
year, 464 units, representing more than 88% of all 524 units, were sold at an average of HK$5,870
per square foot GFA. Le Bleu Spa Villa, one of the specialty units, was sold at HK$12,979 per square
foot GFA, setting a new record price for Tung Chung properties.

Le Bleu Deux’s show flats also won a lot of accolades during the year. For example, 2 show flats of Le
Bleu Deux, including a standard unit and Le Bleu Spa Villa, clinched the “Champion” of “Asia Pacific
Interior Design Biennial Awards 2008” presented by Asia Pacific Federation of Architects/Interior
Designers and the “Honourable Awards” of “CIID China Interior Design Awards 2008” organised
by the China Institute of Interior Design in October 2008. The same show flats were also awarded
the “Silver Award” and “Excellence Award” in the “7th China International Interior Design Biennial
Awards” presented by the China National Interior Decoration Association in December 2008.
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La Rossa

Already sold out in early 2008, La Rossa, Phase 3 of Coastal Skyline, continued to win interior design
awards during the year. For example, one of its show flats won the “Third Place” in the “Asia Pacific
Interior Design Biennial Awards 2008” in October 2008 and the “Gold Award” in the “4th Sino-
Chinese Interior Design Awards 2008" presented by the Cross-Strait Architecture & Interior Design
Exchange Center in November 2008. In December 2008, the show flat was also given the “Excellence
Award” in the “7th China International Interior Design Biennial Awards”.

The Group has a 31% interest in the Coastal Skyline project.
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Discovery Park Shopping Centre, Tsuen Wan
ESE Lbaeiipatil=

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT

Despite unfavourable retail and leasing market condition, the Group’s long-term commercial and
industrial property investment portfolio continued to maintain good occupancy rates and provided the
Group with stable recurrent income. As of 31 March 2009, the Group’s wholly-owned West Gate Tower
in Cheung Sha Wan, CDW Building in Tsuen Wan and Joyce Building in Wong Chuk Hang recorded
occupancy rates of 93%, 94% and 100% respectively. The 50%-owned Discovery Park Shopping
Centre in Tsuen Wan also attained an occupancy rate of 92%.

During the year, the Group disposed of the commercial premises on 2nd Floor of Peninsula Centre in
Tsim Sha Tsui East to an independent third party at a consideration of HK$228 million.

With a view to adding value to its investment portfolio, the Group has always been actively exploring
investment opportunities in the secondary market. Taking into account the current economic
downturn, the Group will seize every opportunity to seek to generate more income through strategic
acquisitions and disposals.

HANISON

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”), the Group’s 49%-owned associated company
engaging primarily in construction business, delivered a steady performance notwithstanding the
gloomy property market. The consolidated turnover during the year was HK$1,828.5 million, 26.5%
higher than last year's HK$1,445.9 million. However, the company incurred a loss of HK$59.4 million,
compared to last year's HK$94.3 million profit. The loss, the first time since the company was listed
on the Stock Exchange in 2002, was mainly attributable to the drop in gross profit margin and loss on
change in fair value of investment properties. Operations of the company have remained sound. With
its solid foundation and expertise in the construction industry, Hanison will continue to participate
actively in construction tenders and acquire properties with good investment value, with a view to
strengthening its competitiveness and further developing its business.
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REAL ESTATE
DAZHONGLI PROJECT IN JINGAN DISTRICT, SHANGHAI

The Group’s development project in Dazhongli (“Dazhongli project”) achieved encouraging progress
during the year. Preparation works for this mixed-use commercial project began in March 2009, with
the commencement of relocation of a historical building within the site.

Located in the heart of the Jingan district, one of the prime areas in Shanghai, the Dazhongli project
enjoys superb accessibility to the whole city as it would be connected seamlessly with the Metro
system. With a total floor area of approximately 330,000 square metres, it will be developed into a
world class project comprising large-scale offices, hotels and retail facilities.

Resettlement works continued to progress smoothly. Site clearance of Phase 1 was practically
completed during the year. By the end of March 2009, about 55% of the total units in Phase 2 had
signed up agreements and/or moved out from the site. The master layout plan was approved in
October 2008 and the schematic design was submitted for approval. The project is anticipated to be
completed by phases in 2013 and 2014.

The strategic partnership between the Group and Swire Properties Limited has not only enhanced the
investment value of the Dazhongli project, but has also taken it to a new level as both companies are
able to contribute their respective expertise to bring out the best of the project. With its prime location,
combination of comprehensive facilities and excellent transportation infrastructure in the Jingan
district, the Dazhongli project is poised to become a new landmark in Shanghai.

The Group has a 50% interest in the Dazhongli project.

Jingan district, Shanghai
PEErE
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CHELSEA, SHANGHAI

Chelsea, the Group’s wholly-owned deluxe serviced apartments in Shanghai, is being renovated and
upgraded. To take advantage of the warming property market sentiment in Shanghai, the Group
would launch the property for strata-title sale in May 2009. Located in the prestigious Huashan Road
residential area and facing the legendary Ding Xiang Garden, it will bring an additional 116 stylish
homes to the city. Due to the limited supply in the district, the incredible panoramic views and the
unparalleled location enjoyed by the property, we are confident that the property will be well-received
by the market.

THE EXCHANGE, TIANJIN

The Exchange, the Group’s 15%-owned investment property in Tianjin, comprises Phase 1 (retail mall
and north office tower) and Phase 2 (hotel and south office tower). The rental income of The Exchange
during the year was stable and satisfactory. The average occupancy rates of the retail mall, 2 office
towers and the hotel were 97%, 75% and 60% respectively. The total GFA of the project is around
152,000 square metres.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &5 B 2B £ E AR A A




Artist’s impression of Chelsea, Shanghai

BERETHNLEREEE_&

LEEEEE"&

SE2EREN DESERBALER REE_FREETINE(CIRE - E DEETSH
B - RER 200045 ABZMELBHE - ZMFUEEURZER - AIRETHN T BIE
- KRB 116 R H/EE - RRAHEBREER - 1 EYELED & rE AR B E R L
EYEBIA - FERTHEE 08 o

REZEES

RAERERSSEEHEE 15% RENREYME - e —H (BYHOLIERAZAE) ME—H
(ZEBERBEERREANE ) AKX < RERSNFEANESRAGBRERS ARE - BYT
O MERAEARRRFEEENTFIHEEED RIR7% - 75% K 60% o B(EE B A @S
HR1B28FITK -

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 %

39



OPERATIONS REVIEW

ASIA
sl B
= 3 - v . L4 r
." | --tr.!’,__
k
E..;L. .
BB T A
_h.n T =
| M T
— 3 |=
BTN T
-u““‘
TR
e ]
! E1I
e ML 1 1 |
il Jil : A T S
e LU ] - othai Residence
JH,.'“ ”I Bangko
= IHI- | = = NI=4
vl 1 e SUKNothal Residence
e WL R )
i i
L HuaE 1 L e

by 2 r ' L Wy e
il LY _" '*!' , g






42

OPERATIONS REVIEW - ASIA
S5 oI -

REAL ESTATE

Construction works of The Sukhothai Residences, the Group’s high-end freehold development in
Bangkok, continued during the year and were well on schedule.

Leveraging on the brand equity of The Sukhothai hotel and the Group’s outstanding track record,
The Sukhothai Residences has received encouraging market response since it was launched in late
2007. By the end of March 2009, 141 units were sold, representing approximately 72% of the 196
units available, and fetched about Thai Baht 6,457 million (approximately HK$1,408 million). This
ultra-luxury 41-storey condominium tower is targeted for completion in 2011 and will become a new
landmark in the Bangkok Central Business District.

In Singapore, the Group’s Beaufort on Nassim, a luxury low-rise development in the Nassim enclave,
was completed in September 2008 and the Certificate of Statutory Completion was received in April
2009. Of the total of 30 units, transactions in 28 units were completed during the year, generating a
profit of S$66 million (approximately HK$356 million).

Capturing the development potential in Japan, the Group acquired in 2008 DIA Palace Il, a 39-unit en bloc
residential building in Sapporo. DIA Palace Il has been held as an investment property and achieved an
occupancy rate of 97% by the end of the year, providing the Group with a stable and recurrent rental income.
The Group will be on the lookout for other good investment opportunities in Japan and elsewhere in Asia.

HOSPITALITY

Despite the slowdown in business activities in Thailand due to the unstable political situation, the
performances of The Sukhothai hotel and Siri Sathorn serviced residences in Bangkok were not too
severely affected during the year. The average occupancy rates achieved at The Sukhothai hotel and
Siri Sathorn were 53% and 71% respectively.

Beaufort on Nassim, Singapore DIA Palace I, Japan
#7035 Beaufort on Nassim HZKDIA Palace ||
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The Sukhothai hotel continued to clinch regional and international accolades during the year. It
was ranked 11th in “The World’s Best Hotels 2008” award organised by the Institutional Investor
magazine in November 2008 and named the “Best Business Hotel in Bangkok” by the Business
Traveller magazine in October 2008. In January 2009, it was recognised as one of the top hotels
on the “Gold List — The World’s Best Places to Stay” by Conde Nast Traveler US magazine and its
exceptional spa facility, Spa Botanica, was also picked as one of the “76 Hot Spas in the World” by
the same magazine in May 2008.

In Singapore, The Sentosa Resort & Spa, the Group’s luxury spa resort was affected by the reduction
in demand for meeting and conference venues, as a result both the average occupancy rate and top
line revenue were affected. The average occupancy achieved was 65% for the year. The Sentosa
Resort & Spa is expected to benefit from the increase in tourist arrivals with the opening of the two
integrated resorts in Marina Bay and Sentosa Island, scheduled for opening in late 2009 and early
2010 respectively.

The Sentosa Resort & Spa won a number of awards during the year. In June 2008, it landed the
prestigious title of “Singapore’s Leading Spa Resort” awarded by the “World Travel Awards” for the
fourth consecutive year. It also won the 2nd Runner-Up of the “Best Brand Experience Awards” in
the Leisure Resort and Spa category of “AdAsia Readership Travel Survey” in February 2009. Spa
Botanica, Singapore’s first garden destination spa, was voted the “Best Spa in Singapore” in the
“Lifestyle + Travel Readers’ Choice Awards 2008” in May 2009. It was also voted the “Top Spa in
Singapore” in the “SpaFinder Readers’ Choice Award 2008” in September 2008, and recognised as
the “Best Overseas Spa” by readers of Luxury Travel magazine in June 2008.

The Group’s hotels, spas and serviced apartments remain at the forefront of the international
hospitality scene, and are well-positioned to take advantage of a boom in tourism when the global
€conomy recovers.

The Sukhothai hotel, Bangkok
£ The Sukhothai B &
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#1704 The Sentosa Resort & Spa
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Qualigenics Diabetes Centre
HEENE R ER L

n F
HEALTHCARE

The business of GenRx, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary engaging in healthcare services,
continued to improve over the years. It recorded a turnover of HK$352 million, 11% up from last year.

GenRx is currently operating 56 medical and dental facilities through its subsidiaries in 7 cities
across Asia, namely Hong Kong, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Macau and Manila. Its
comprehensive service network comprises cancer centres, dental clinics, diabetic and cardiovascular
centres and multi-specialty outpatient centres affiliated with ambulatory hospitals.

GenRx opened its first Healthway Medical Centre in Guangzhou in March 2009. Located in the new
Zhujiang area, the centre is positioned as an outreach of GenRx medical service in Hong Kong and a
platform for Hong Kong doctors to practise in the Southern region of the Mainland. In May 2008, the
second Healthway Medical Centre in Shanghai opened in the Huangpu district of Puxi. The centre
is equipped with state-of-the-art health check-up facilities, central laboratory facilities, a medical
consultation clinic and a dental clinic.

With its leading position in the private healthcare sector, GenRx will continue to grow its business by
capitalising on the rising demand for quality medical services in Hong Kong, the Mainland and the region.
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ImagingMed Diagnostic Centre
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SANITARYWARE

Unstable fuel prices and rising material costs continued to bring pressure to the Group’s sanitaryware
business. However, Imperial Bathroom Products Limited (“Imperial”) was able to deliver encouraging
results by maintaining its turnover at HK$199.2 million amid unfavourable operating conditions.
Imperial, despite the financial crisis, is fortunate that a large portion of its revenues is derived from
Australia where the construction and renovation markets have remained stable. For the coming year, the
company will open new markets, rationalise its product range and fine-tune its premium positioning.

SECURITIES INVESTMENT

The Group’s securities investments have been diversified and managed by external professional fund
managers and internal personnel in a prudent manner. During the year, performance of the Group’s
investment portfolio was affected by the meltdown of global financial markets. As of 31 March 2009,
a marked-to-market net loss of HK$403 million was recorded as a result of liquidation of certain
investment in securities, marked-to-market downward valuation of some of the managed funds, and
the impairment made for a financial asset available-for-sale.

The Group is also a cornerstone investor of Sino-Ocean Land Holdings Limited and is now holding
20,245,500 shares in the company. The investment has been classified as financial asset available-
for-sale.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has been reaching out to extend our love and care to
people in need through participation in charitable events, volunteer activities and social services.

In May 2009, the Group’s corporate volunteer team HKR Care & Share participated in the flag-selling
activity of Playright Children’s Play Association that seeks to enrich the life of children through quality
play. In April 2008, the Group worked with Junior Achievement Hong Kong on a Job Shadowing
Programme to provide secondary students with an opportunity to experience the real business world
and develop career aspiration by working with designated colleagues / mentors in various departments.
The Group also partnered with non-profit organisations and tertiary institutes to organise job fairs,
youth career talks and internship placements during the year.

To play our part in promoting public interest and awareness in arts and culture, the Group also sponsored
the Piano Recital by Argentine pianist Sergio Tiempo at the 37th Hong Kong Arts Festival in February 2009.

In appreciation of our contribution to the community, the Hong Kong Council of Social Service awarded
the Group the “Caring Company” logo for the fourth consecutive year. The Social Welfare Department
also awarded the Group the “Silver Award for Volunteer Service” in December 2008.

HUMAN RESOURCES

Despite the downturn, the Group seeks to maintain the existing workforce and is closely monitoring the
economic situation. As of 31 March 2009, the Group had a total of 3,417 employees in Hong Kong

and overseas.
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To develop a talented workforce that can cope with the increasing complexity of its business, the
Group implemented a Leadership Competency Model at senior staff level, which articulates the
leadership prerequisites for outstanding performance, to guide and drive various human resources
processes like recruitment and training. The Talent Review and Succession Planning process was
kick-started during the year to help identify key talents within the Group, with a view to ensuring its
sustained growth. At the same time, an enhanced Performance Management System was introduced
to senior staff, focusing on goal setting and alignment, to foster a performance-driven culture.

A series of senior executives’ sharing sessions, training courses and seminars on customer services,
management skills, languages, safety and health, etc, were conducted throughout the year. In October
2008, the Group also took part in Hong Kong’s first Work-Life Balance Day which aims to promote the
balance of work and private life for employees.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The Group continued to enhance its operational efficiency and collaboration among staff through
constantly upgrading and improving the information systems and communication technology.

Web services have been introduced to improve on-line customer experience. The new Internet based
Job Application System launched during the year allows simultaneous on-line application submission,
screening and notification. System management tools were installed to monitor the availability and
performance of IT services. The secured remote access system allows mobile workforce to access the
Group’s internal system and information through standard web browser technology, which also forms
the backbone of the home-office arrangement as a contingency measure for pandemic outbreak.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HHE A

The directors of the Company (the “Board” or the “Directors”) have
pleasure in presenting to shareholders their report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Details of the results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2009 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page
112 and the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2009 is set
out in the consolidated balance sheet on pages 113 and 114.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
to shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2009. No interim
dividend was paid by the Company during the year (2008: final
dividend of HK9 cents and interim dividend of HK6 cents per share).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

CHAIRMAN
Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN & MANAGING DIRECTOR
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming
Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham

(also as alternate to Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson)
Mr TANG Moon Wah
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
(re-designated from independent non-executive director to
non-executive director on 4 December 2008)

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
(re-designated from executive director to non-executive director
on 10 April 2008)

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry
Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
Dr QIN Xiao
(appointed with effect from the conclusion
of the board meeting held on 22 July 2009)

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles”) and the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), Mr CHA Mou Zing
Victor, Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry, Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus,
Dr QIN Xiao and Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline shall retire by
rotation at the AGM. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election. Other remaining Directors will
continue in office.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors of the Company were not appointed for a specific term
but their respective terms of office are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the Articles. The rotation article sets
up a mechanism to ensure all Directors shall retire and offer for re-
election at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has made an
annual or initial confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive directors meet the independence guidelines set out
in the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance therewith.
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Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson © Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor © Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming
BEMELLE L BRARELE - REWARXE
Chairman i Deputy Chairman & i Executive Director
ESia ¢ Managing Director L OHTES
. BlIEERESRLE :

i L.-r
Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham Mr TANG Moon Wah The Honourable Ronald
EOBEE - BmERE . Joseph ARCULLI
Executive Director i Executive Director EEERE
HITES COBIITES © Non-executive Director
: COEHTESR
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Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson f Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus

BERMELLE CORKBREL
Non-executive Director : Non-executive Director

FHITES L FBTES

L

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
AMEZE

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Ms WONG CHA May Lung . Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry
Madeline i

IEXERT : Independent Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director D BVEHITES

FHITES '

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin
Tung Marvin

RERBL

Independent Non-executive Director
B EHITES

Apology for not being able to insert the photo of the newly appointed Independent Non-executive Director, Dr QIN Xiao, prior to the bulk print of this report
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

CHAIRMAN

Mr Cha Mou Sing Payson

JP, DSSc (Hons) (Aged 67)

Mr CHA was appointed executive director in 1989, the deputy
chairman in September 2001 and the chairman of the Company
on 15 May 2007. He has been the managing director of HKR Asia-
Pacific Pte Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company, since 1995 and is
now in charge of its operations and management. He has also been
serving as director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group since
its inception in 1977 and has over 40 years experience in property
development. Mr CHA is the chairman and non-executive director
of the Company’s associated corporation, Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited, and an independent non-executive director of
New World Development Company Limited, both of them are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He is an independent non-executive director
of Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, manager of Champion
Real Estate Investment Trust which is listed on the Stock Exchange,
an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong International
Theme Parks Limited, owner and operator of Hong Kong Disneyland
Resort, the chairman of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”) and a director
of Asia Television Limited (“ATV”). Mingly and ATV are both under
the control of members of the Cha Family (as referred to on page
88). Mr CHA is also a committee member of the Eleventh Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”). He is a brother of Ms WONG CHA May Lung
Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor and Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
who are also directors of the Company. Mr CHA is also a director of
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited, CDW Holdings Limited and LBJ
Regents Limited, all of them are substantial shareholders of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and
whose interests in the Company represent the substantial interests
of the Cha Family in the Company.
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DEPUTY CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

Mr Cha Mou Zing Victor

BA, MBA (Aged 59)

Mr CHA was appointed executive director in 1989, the managing
director in September 2001 and the deputy chairman of the
Company on 15 May 2007. He was also appointed the joint
managing director of HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd in 1996 and has
been serving as director of a number of other subsidiaries of the
Group with the earliest appointment back to 1978. Mr CHA is
responsible for the overall and day-to-day management of the Group.
He has been involved in textile manufacturing and real estate
businesses for 30 years. He is an independent non-executive
director of SOHO China Limited, an alternate independent non-
executive director of New World Development Company Limited,
both companies are listed on the Stock Exchange and a director of
United Nigeria Textiles PLC which is listed on the Nigerian Stock
Exchange. Mr CHA is also a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Committee of Zhejiang Province and a council member
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a brother of Ms
WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson and
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson who are also directors of the Company.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming
BSc, MBA, MAcc, MICE, Ml Struct.E, CPA (Aged 67)

Mr CHEUNG was appointed executive director of the Company in
September 2001. He is also the resident director of HKR Asia-Pacific
Pte Ltd in Singapore and director of a number of other subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr CHEUNG has been serving in the Group since
1995 and is the head of the South East Asia business unit
responsible for the management of the Company’s hospitality
subsidiaries and related investments in the Asia Pacific region. He
is @ member of the Institute of Structural and Civil Engineers in the
United Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia.

BEFERESHLE
BB LE

BA, MBA (& + A15%)
BERER—NN\NFEZERRRTNITE
£ YR ZZETE—FNALEARRAIESE
g ERZEEEFRATREBEAELRR
BIRIEE - BITR—NWNANFEZEAEHE
BEDRBERRAFCHEESBKERTS
—NtEN\FREETASEEMGE THEBA
AZEE BAARAEASE EELA
BEEIE - BROBEERFHESEKE
B30F 488 - LA BSOHOH ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ
ZENIFITES I RERARAF]
BREIIEHITES - EZEW%’ATi’]EAHﬁ 5%
FrEmERERNEESFRSGM LT 2
United Nigeria Textiles PLCZ &% - &4
NEFEARBGHEERMNIEEZERE
BETIREREGKE - BEXERTERRE
Tt  ERBEERERELEZ NS K
ENMBARBIZES -

HITES

REBPEKLE

BSc, MBA, MAcc, MICE, MI Struct.E, CPA
(S +t5%)
REENR_ZZE-FNRABZER/ARTHN
TES - BWARFMEARERBEELKRE
RAREEMZES - WAKRSEHME T
MEARZES - %E%Eé—ﬁjwi%ta
RAEBERY  BAREEBHERE &
%?EIE$/AETMB§EE7KE%$/@E%%%ZW
BATINEABKRE - RRERBEBR LA
TiREe28  TABENMEMNEFMAE

&2

~

T8

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £F % 61



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
L& 3 85

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham

FCPA (Aged 63)

Mr CHUNG was appointed executive director of the Company in
1994 and is also director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr CHUNG has been serving in the Group since 1978 and is the
head of finance office responsible for oversight of the Group’s
finance and treasury, accounting, tax functions and information
technology department. He is a certified public accountant
(practising), a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He has over 35 years experience
in financial management and property development in Hong Kong.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Tang Moon Wah

BA (Arch Studies), BArch (Aged 55)

Mr TANG was appointed executive director of the Company in
December 2004 and is also director of a number of subsidiaries of
the Group. He has been serving in the Group since 1985 and is the
head of China business unit and head of projects responsible for
project management of real estate development in Hong Kong and
the People’s Republic of China and for oversight of master planning,
conceptual and major designs and technical advice on acquisitions.
Mr TANG has 30 years extensive experience in property
development. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects since 1981, Authorised Person since 1982 and
Registered Architect since 1991.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI

GBS, CVO, OBE, JP (Aged 70)

Mr ARCULLI was appointed director in 1989 and has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since 1993
before he was re-designated as non-executive director in June 2005.
He is the senior partner of King & Wood, a firm of solicitors in Hong
Kong recently merged with Arculli Fong & Ng. Mr ARCULLI is the
independent non-executive chairman of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited, an independent non-executive director of Hang
Lung Properties Limited and SCMP Group Limited, and a non-
executive director of Hongkong Electric Holdings Limited, Hutchison
Harbour Ring Limited, Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited, Sino Land
Company Limited and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited, all of them
are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-
executive director of Shanghai Century Acquisition Corporation,
listed on the New York stock exchange, from 2005 to 2008. Mr
ARCULLI is currently a non-official member of the Executive Council
of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “HKSAR Government”), a member of the board of directors of
The Community Chest of Hong Kong, a member of the Consultation
Panel and a board member of the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority. He also holds directorships in other public and private
companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson

BA, MBA (Aged 58)

Mr CHA was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated as non-
executive director of the Company in December 2004. He has been
serving as director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group with
the earliest appointment back to 1978. Mr CHA is also a non-
executive director of Hanison Construction Holdings Limited, an
associated corporation of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange,
an independent non-executive director of Shanghai Commercial
Bank Limited and director/non-executive director of a number of
other public and private companies in Hong Kong and China
including ATV, and is actively participating in many non-profit making
organisations. Mr CHA has over 30 years investment management
experience in Silicon Valley and Asia. He is a brother of Ms WONG
CHA May Lung Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson and Mr CHA
Mou Zing Victor who are also directors of the Company. Mr CHA is
also a director of LBJ Regents Limited which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company under Part XV of the SFO and whose
interest in the Company forms part of the interests of the Cha Family
in the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus

BSSc, JP (Aged 61)

Mr CHEUNG was appointed independent non-executive director in
January 2006 and re-designated as non-executive director of the
Company on 4 December 2008. He was the chief executive of Hong
Kong Telecom from 1994 to 2000. Mr CHEUNG is an independent
non-executive director of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited and
Taikang Life Insurance Co. Ltd., the former is listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr CHEUNG is also the chairman of ATV and the
chairman of the board of directors of HKU School of Professional
and Continuing Education.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta

FCIH (Aged 62)

Ms HO was appointed executive director of the Company in 1994
and re-designated as non-executive director on 10 April 2008. She
firstly joined in 1979 and has served the Group for 21 years before
she retired from all executive roles in April 2008. Prior to her re-
designation, Ms HO was the head of Hong Kong real estate business
unit and corporate office responsible for the Group’s real estate
business in Hong Kong and for oversight of corporate strategy and
development, new business models, legal, human resources,
information technology and corporate affairs functions. She is a
fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Housing, Asian Pacific
Branch, and has over 35 years experience in property development,
investment and management. She is currently a member of the
executive committee and the chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Hong Kong Housing Society.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline

(Aged 69)

Ms WONG was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated as
non-executive director of the Company in December 2004. She
has been serving as director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Group since its inception in 1977. Ms WONG is also director of a
number of other public and private companies in Hong Kong and
overseas, including Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited
and Chinney Investments, Limited which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and United Nigeria Textiles PLC which is listed on the
Nigerian Stock Exchange. Ms WONG is a sister of Mr CHA Mou
Sing Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor and Mr CHA Mou Daid
Johnson who are also directors of the Company. Ms WONG is also
director of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited, CDW Holdings Limited
and LBJ Regents Limited, all of them are substantial shareholders
of the Company under Part XV of the SFO and whose interests in
the Company represent the substantial interests of the Cha Family
in the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Dr Cheng Kar Shun Henry
GBS, BA, MBA, DBA(Hons), LLD(Hons) (Aged 62)

Dr CHENG was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated as
independent non-executive director of the Company in 1993. Dr
CHENG is the managing director of New World Development
Company Limited, chairman and managing director of New World
China Land Limited, chairman of NWS Holdings Limited, chairman
and non-executive director of New World Department Store China
Limited, chairman of Taifook Securities Group Limited and
International Entertainment Corporation and non-executive director
of Lifestyle International Holdings Limited, all of them are listed on
the Stock Exchange. Dr CHENG is also director of a number of
private companies in Hong Kong and overseas. He is the chairman
of the advisory council for The Better Hong Kong Foundation and
standing committee member of the Eleventh Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of the People’'s Republic of China.
In 2001, he was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR
Government.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin

GBS, SBS, OBE, JP, DBA (Hons) (Aged 61)

Dr CHEUNG was appointed independent non-executive director of
the Company in September 2004. He is a fellow member of both
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Dr CHEUNG
is an independent non-executive director of Hang Seng Bank
Limited, Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, Sun Hung
Kai Properties Limited and HSBC Holdings plc (“HSBC"), all of them
are listed on the Stock Exchange with HSBC also being dual listed
in the London Stock Exchange. Dr CHEUNG is currently a non-
official member of the Executive Council of the HKSAR Government.
He is also the chairman of Airport Authority Hong Kong, chairman
of the supervisory committee of Tracker Fund of Hong Kong,
chairman of the council of The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, member of the Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal
Panel, member of the operations review committee of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption and member of the
panel of the Witness Protection Review Board. He has recently
ceased to be the council member of The Open University of Hong
Kong in June 2009. Dr CHEUNG was awarded the Gold Bauhinia
Star by the HKSAR Government in 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr QIN Xiao

PhD Econ. (Aged 62)

Dr QIN is the chairman and non-executive director of China
Merchants Bank Co., Ltd (“CMB”) and independent non-executive
director of China Telecom Corporation Limited (“CTC"), both of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange. CMB is also listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange and CTC is also listed on the New York
Stock Exchange. He is also the chairman of China Merchants Group.
Dr QIN is a member of the Eleventh Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and honorary chairman of Hong Kong
Chinese Enterprises Association, guest professor at the School of
Economics and Management of Tsinghua University and the
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China. Before joining China
Merchants Group, he served as president and vice chairman of
China International Trust and Investment Corporation (“CITIC"), and
chairman of CITIC Industrial Bank. He was a deputy to the Ninth
National People’s Congress, an advisor on the Foreign Currency
Policy of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange, and a
member of Toyota International Advisory Board, he also served as
chairman of APEC Business Advisory Council for the Year 2001.
He is the author of several papers and books in the fields of
economics and management. Dr QIN received a PhD degree in
economics from University of Cambridge.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Chan Chi Ming

BSc (Aged 52)

Mr CHAN joined the Group in 1980. He is the head of Hong Kong
business unit and head of development and marketing responsible
for oversight of the Discovery Bay operations in transport, club and
city management services, property investment, sales and
management and related matters, the conceptual and product
planning, professional advice on sales and marketing campaigns
and leasing strategies. He is director of a number of subsidiaries of
the Group and has over 25 years experience in property
development, sales and marketing of real estate.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Rolando P GOSIENGFIAO

MBA (Aged 59)

Mr GOSIENGFIAOQ joined the Group in 2000. He is the head of
healthcare and sanitaryware business unit responsible for oversight
of GenRx Healthcare group and Imperial Bathroom Products group.
He is also director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group and
has over 20 years experience in investment banking, hotels and
entrepreneurial businesses.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of directors’ emoluments are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2009, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company
were as follows:
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THE COMPANY

Long positions in shares of HK$0.25 each

(1) ZAAF

REREEO.258 TR Z4F B

Number of Ordinary Shares

LEER¥E
Approximate
Percentage
of Issued
Share
Capital
Name of Personal Family Corporate Other FER7T
Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total RAZEE
EEfE 5 BAER RGER NEER HitER ay Bk
CHA Mou Sing Beneficial owner, 2,352,860 — 2,624,600 666,333,673 671,311,133 49.72
Payson interests of a (Note a) (Note b)
BB controlled L) (F3ED)
corporation
and beneficiary
of discretionary
trusts
ExfigA
REREE R
REEREAX
#mA
CHA Mou Zing Beneficiary of — — — 666,333,673 666,333,673 49.35
Victor discretionary (Note b)
B trusts (Bi3ED)
BEGEXEA
CHA Mou Daid Beneficiary of — — — 674,118,665 674,118,665 49.92
Johnson discretionary (Note b)
EmeE trusts (F3EDb)
BEETEREA
WONG CHA May ~ Settlor and/or — — — 673521815 673,521,815 49.88
Lung Madeline beneficiary of (Notes b & ¢)
TEXE discretionary (M=EbKe)
trusts
BEGARTA
R/&ZHEA
Ronald Joseph Beneficiary of a 241,472 — — — 241,472 0.02
ARCULLI trust
BEE ERAXHEA
CHUNG Sam Tin Beneficial owner 315,084 — — — 315,084 0.02
Abraham ERBEBA
&LH
HO Pak Ching Beneficial owner 85,600 — — — 85,600 0.01
Loretta ERBEBA
fHeE
TANG Moon Wah Beneficial owner 135,200 — — — 135,200 0.01
HmzE E&EAA
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Notes:

The shares were held by Accomplished Investments Limited,
a corporation 100% owned by Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson.

The shares belonged to certain but not identical
discretionary trusts and were held directly and/or indirectly
by corporate trustees namely, CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited
and LBJ Regents Limited, of which the relevant directors
were among the members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries. Please refer to the paragraph headed
“Substantial Shareholders” below for further details of the
numbers of shares held by the aforesaid corporate trustees.

The director is, under a discretionary trust of which CCM
Trust (Cayman) Limited is the trustee, a settlor and member
of a class of discretionary beneficiaries comprising the late
Dr CHA Chi Ming'’s issue. Such trustee owns 41,052,631
shares.
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ASSOCIATED CORPORATION — HANISON

CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

Long positions in shares of HK$0.10 each

2) MEOEE — RBBRIZEERE

PR 2 &

REGIREEO. 10ETTR D Z 4 B

Number of Ordinary Shares

LERYE
Approximate
Percentage
of Issued
Share
Capital
Name of Personal Family Corporate Other HERT
Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total BRAZER
EEfE 54 BAER EQT £ NEER Hitgs ay Bl
CHA Mou Sing Beneficial owner, 459,541 — 512,616 104,263,263 105,235,420 23.74
Payson interests of a (Note a) (Note b)
ERE controlled (Mi3ta) G
corporation
and beneficiary
of discretionary
trusts
E&BAA
REEER
EEEETER
@mA
CHA Mou Zing Beneficiary of — — — 104,263,263 104,263,263 23.52
Victor discretionary (Note b)
BB trusts D)
MEREEXHEA
CHA Mou Daid Beneficiary of — — — 105,783,769 105,783,769 23.87
Johnson discretionary (Note b)
ERE trusts (Bfi3ED)
BEEEXRA
WONG CHA May  Beneficiary of — — — 105,667,195 105,667,195 23.84
Lung Madeline discretionary (Note b)
TE%E trusts (F3EDb)
BEETEREA
Ronald Joseph Beneficiary of a 47,162 — — — 47,162 0.01
ARCULLI trust
B GEREZHEA
CHUNG Sam Tin Beneficial owner 52,745 — — — 52,745 0.01
Abraham ERBEBA
&0H
HO Pak Ching Beneficial owner 10,628 — — — 10,628 0.002
Loretta ExBEEA
fHa
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Notes:

(a) The shares were held by Accomplished Investments Limited,
a corporation 100% owned by Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson.

(b) The shares belonged to certain but not identical
discretionary trusts and were held directly and/or indirectly
by corporate trustees namely, CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited
and LBJ Regents Limited, of which the relevant directors
were among the members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries.

Save as disclosed above and for certain directors holding non-
beneficial interests in the share capital of some of the subsidiaries
of the Company as nominee shareholders, as at 31 March 2009,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2009, the following persons (other than a director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in

the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Company’s shares of HK$0.25 each

FERR

REZZZNF=RA=1+—0 REAQFR

B H 1501 B 336155 E

AIFEZE MR

B TIAL(EFHARFZEHITHEA
BERIN RARB 2By KRR P S

ZREmIBORRANT

AR TG RENEO.25/E T2 (7.2 4 B

Approximate
Percentage of
Issued Share

Number of Capital
Name of Shareholder Capacity Ordinary Shares HEBITRA
RRERB g4 ZERHAE ZEBEBDL
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Trustee and interests of 594,733,375 44.05
(Note a) a controlled corporation (Note a)
(Ftzxa) (Note b) (Ftzta)
ZEARZEEE RS
(Bt 7ED)
CDW Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 72,405,057 5.36
(Note b) Em#EAA (Note b)
(Fft3EDb) (Ft3EDb)
LBJ Regents Limited Trustee 86,573,432 6.41
(Note ¢) ZEEA (Note c)
(Bt zEc) (Bt zEc)
Invesco Hong Kong Limited Investment manager/ 69,147,185 5.12
SIEREEEBAERA advisor of various (Note d)
accounts (Bt zEd)
REKE ZEKP
2 AR
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Notes:

(a) The 594,733,375 shares in which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited
was interested or deemed to be interested (including the
72,405,057 shares held indirectly through its 52.24% owned
subsidiary namely, CDW Holdings Limited) were shares held by it
as corporate trustee of certain discretionary trusts of which members
of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr
CHA Chi Ming’s issue.

(b) CDW Holdings Limited is 52.24% owned by CCM Trust (Cayman)
Limited. By virtue of the SFO, CDW Holdings Limited is a controlled
corporation of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited and the 72,405,057
shares held by CDW Holdings Limited therefore formed part of the
594,733,375 shares in which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited was
interested or deemed to be interested.

(c) The 86,573,432 shares were held by LBJ Regents Limited as
corporate trustee for certain discretionary trusts, of which members
of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr
CHA Chi Ming's issue.

(d) The long position interest in 69,147,185 shares was held by Invesco
Hong Kong Limited as investment manager and/or advisor of various
accounts.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, no other interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s existing share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”)
was adopted on 3 January 2002 and came into effect on 18 January
2002. Particulars of the 2002 Scheme as required to be disclosed
under the Listing Rules are set out below:

(1) SUMMARY OF THE 2002 SCHEME

()

Purpose

The purpose is to provide the participants who have
been granted options under the 2002 Scheme to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company and to encourage the participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Participants

All directors (including independent non-executive
directors), full-time employees and consultants of the
Company, its subsidiaries and/or its associated
companies are eligible to participate in the 2002
Scheme.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

A maximum number of 115,737,802 shares of the
Company may be issued upon exercise of all options
granted or to be granted under the 2002 Scheme.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares in the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each participant (including both exercised and
unexercised options) under the 2002 Scheme or any
other share option scheme (if any) adopted by the
Company in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue unless
otherwise approved by the shareholders of the
Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules), would result in the
shares in the Company issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted to such person in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of the grant:

(i representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares in the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant in
excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of option shall be subject to prior approval
of the shareholders of the Company who are not
connected persons of the Company as defined in the
Listing Rules.

Period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the
date on which it is granted or such shorter period as
the Board (or the relevant committee thereof) may
specify at the time of grant.
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Minimum period, if any, for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board (or
the relevant committee thereof) must specify the
minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and
amount payable upon acceptance

The offer of the grant of an option (of which the date
of grant must be a Stock Exchange business day) must
be accepted within 14 days from the date on which
the offer letter is delivered to the participant and a
consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid upon
acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of
an option

The subscription price of an option shall be no less
than the higher of:

(i the closing price of the shares in the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares in the
Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five Stock Exchange business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) ~ the nominal value of a share in the Company
on the date of grant.

Remaining life

The 2002 Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire
on 3 January 2012 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the 2002 Scheme.
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(2) DETAILS OF OPTIONS GRANTED AND
AVAILABLE FOR GRANT

No option was granted under the 2002 Scheme since its
inception. The total number of shares in the Company
available for grant of options under the 2002 Scheme is
115,737,802 shares which represents 8.57% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the date of this annual report
(i.e. 22 July 2009).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 26 April 2005, the Company issued zero coupon convertible
bonds due 2010 in the aggregate principal amount of HK$1,410.0
million (the “Bonds”). Each Bond may, at the option of the holder,
be converted into fully paid ordinary shares of the Company with a
par value of HK$0.25 each at an initial conversion price of HK$6.50
per share (subject to adjustment). The conversion price was
previously adjusted to HK$6.43 effective on the date of issue of
new shares under the rights issue on 25 January 2006 and further
adjusted to HK$6.35, HK$6.20 and HK$6.11 upon approval of
payment of excess final dividends at the Company’s annual general
meetings held on 24 August 2006, 23 August 2007 and 5 August
2008 respectively. There was no conversion of Bonds during the
period from the date of issue of the Bonds to 31 March 2009.

On 26 April 2008, the Company partially redeemed and cancelled
the Bonds in the principal amount of HK$434.0 million pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the Bonds. During the year, the Company
further repurchased and cancelled part of the Bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$329.0 million. As at 31 March
20009, the principal amount of the Bonds outstanding was HK$647.0
million which will be due on 26 April 2010 and are subject to any
possible early redemption and/or repurchases by the Company
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Bonds. The Bonds are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

78 HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

2 PERERITHIRHZBRETF
&
ZETCFATEBEBAR - WER
HEERE - BRIBE-TT —F518
Tﬁ&m%k%wﬁﬁﬁikﬁ@ﬁ
A&115,737 SOZHX C FHERARQF]
REFRT|EEE B (ED:TTJLEJ:H
T+ ZH)BEETRAZ857% °

R ES

RZZBEZERFMNA=—1+NH - ARFIETH

R-IE—EFIPASPEELE]1 410068
BLZERBUBRES([EH]) - BFFA

AMEEBBESFEN HIRATREEO.25
BILZARBIHMELRR  IZHRESR
6.508 7T (A] FHE) - HBREERZ-ZZTEX
i—ﬂ:+£5@%%%%?ﬁkf%5%
BE6.43BTT - HEDREARRB ZTE XN

FNAZ+IH ~:§Et¢)\ﬂ +=H

FZEENFNARBRITRERAFRS
FHOEREBERBREEADRARA
6.35/57C * 6.208 T X6.11B 7T - BEFHH
THHE-TETAF=A=+—HFLHH
I S s S o

RZZEZENFEMA=1+A  ARRIREE
FERERRGEHER RAHEBOAELES
434 0BFBETMNES - RAFEA - XA
AERL RAHBOHAELEA39.08EH
T2fESF - BE_TEENF=A=1+—8"
R _ZE—EFMNA -t NBERmAED

BAEZARSEARCATOEESTT - HEARAT]
ARBEF GG IR EE R K/ B RE

%_‘ ff%_fb_/\ wxﬁﬁi?ﬁ °©



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
L& 3 85

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the Directors in businesses which

competed or were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,

with the businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed

pursuant to the Listing Rules were set out as follows:

(1)

(2)

(3)

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI is an independent
non-executive director of Hang Lung Properties Limited
(“Hang Lung”) and also the non-executive director of
Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited (“Hutchison”), Sino Hotels
(Holdings) Limited (“Sino Hotels”), Sino Land Company
Limited (“Sino Land”) and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited
(“TST"). The businesses of Hang Lung, Hutchison, Sino
Hotels, Sino Land and TST involve at least some if not all of
property investment, property development, property
management, treasury investment and hotel management
and ownership. Hang Lung, Hutchison, Sino Hotels, Sino
Land and TST are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson is the non-executive chairman of
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”), an
associated corporation of the Company. He is also an
independent non-executive director of New World
Development Company Limited (“New World”), and Eagle
Asset Management (CP) Limited (“Eagle Asset”), manager
of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (“Champion”).
The businesses of Hanison, New World, Eagle Asset and
Champion involve at least some if not all of property
investment, property development, property management,
treasury investment and hotel management and ownership.
Hanison, New World and Champion are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor is an independent non-executive
director of SOHO China Limited (“SOHQO”) and the alternate
to Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, an independent non-executive
director of New World. The businesses of SOHO and New
World involve at least some if not all of property investment,
property development, property management and hotel
management and ownership. SOHO and New World are listed
on the Stock Exchange.
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(4)  Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson is a non-executive director of
Hanison whose group’s businesses consist of property

property development and property

management. Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange.

investment,

(5) Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline is the director of Chinney
Investments, Limited (“Chinney”) and Hon Kwok Land
Investment Company, Limited (“Hon Kwok”) whose groups’
businesses consist of property development and property
investment. Chinney and Hon Kwok are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Save for the Independent Non-executive Directors and save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in any
business apart from the Group’s businesses which competed or
was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has adopted the 2002 Scheme on 3 January 2002,
which was effected on 18 January 2002, under which options may
be granted, inter alia, to Directors. Details of the 2002 Scheme are
set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” above
and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

There was no grant to, and no exercise by, the Directors of any
options under the 2002 Scheme during the year.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group entered into the
following transactions which constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(1) NEW PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the limited liability company agreement of BC
Investment LLC (“BC Investment”), a company incorporated
in Anguilla with limited liability, dated 7 February 2007 (the
“New Participation Agreement”), entered into between Broad
Base International Limited (“Broad Base”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Cagen Holdings Limited
(“Cagen”), for a term of 3 years effective on 1 April 2007,
Cagen was appointed as manager of the funds contributed
to BC Investment by Broad Base including the retained
portfolio of a fund in the original amount of US$100.0 million
placed by Broad Base with Cagen in 1994 (hereinafter
referred to as the “Broad Base Fund”) and shall receive for
each semi-annual period carried interest and for each annual
period incentive carried interest.

Substantial beneficial interests in both the Company and
Cagen are under certain discretionary trusts of which the
issue of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late chairman of the Company
including four directors of the Company are, amongst others,
their discretionary beneficiaries. As a result, Cagen
constitutes a connected person of the Company (as defined
in the Listing Rules) and the transactions contemplated under
the New Participation Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The New Participation Agreement, the terms thereof, the
transactions contemplated thereunder and the caps on the
amounts payable to Cagen were approved by an ordinary
resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 21 March 2007.
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The carried interests and incentive carried interests payable
under the New Participation Agreement are as follows:

(a) “carried interest” per semi-annual period equal to
0.5% of the value of the Broad Base Fund and
aggregate connected party funds, subject to
adjustments for contributions or withdrawals made
during each preceding 6-month period; and

(b) “incentive carried interest” per annum equal to 10%
of the increase in the value of the Broad Base Fund
or any connected party funds under management of
Cagen, provided that such payment will be made only
if such increase exceeds an amount equal to the value
of the Broad Base Fund or any connected party funds
multiplied by the last-quoted 180 day US Treasury
Bill rate plus 1% per annum.

Fees payable to Cagen attributable to the Broad Base Fund
are capped at US$5.0 million per annum throughout the
term of the New Participation Agreement, subject to increases
if the funds under management exceed various amounts over
a 12-month period. On the expiration of the term of the New
Participation Agreement, payments to Cagen are also subject
to a “claw back” in favour of Broad Base if the gross income
derived by Broad Base out of its contributions does not
exceed a benchmark rate of growth equal to the 180 day US
Treasury Bill rate plus 1% per annum.

For the year from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009, the
aggregate carried interest paid and payable by Broad Base
to Cagen under the New Participation Agreement amounted
to HK$9.0 million. No incentive carried interest was payable
to Cagen during the year.
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For the year from 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008, the
aggregate carried interest paid and payable by Broad Base
to Cagen under the New Participation Agreement amounted
to HK$12.4 million. No incentive carried interest was payable
to Cagen during the year from 1 April 2007 to 31 March
2008.

In June 2008, Broad Base served a notice to Cagen for full
redemption and liquidation of all the investments in the Broad
Base Fund. It is anticipated that the remaining assets under
the Broad Base Fund will be monetarised in an orderly
manner and the New Participation Agreement will terminate
upon its expiry on 31 March 2010. Details of the securities
assets of the Broad Base Fund as at 31 March 2009 is set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONSTRUCTION AND RENOVATION SERVICES
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Company and Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
(“Hanison”) entered into the Construction and Renovation
Services Framework Agreement dated 30 January 2007 (the
“Agreement”) which governs the outline terms upon which
members of the Group and Hanison and its subsidiaries (the
“Hanison Group”) propose to engage in the various
construction projects (the “Construction Transactions”) and
various interior and renovation projects (the “Renovation
Transactions”) during the three financial years ending 31
March 2010.

By virtue of the issue of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late chairman
of the Company, including four directors of the Company
being discretionary beneficiaries of certain discretionary
trusts of which the trustees are the substantial shareholders
of both the Company and Hanison, Hanison constitutes a
connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company, and the Construction Transactions and Renovation
Transactions conducted between members of the Hanison
Group and the Group constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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The Agreement, the terms thereof, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the annual caps on the total
values of Construction Transactions and Renovation
Transactions (as set out below) were approved by an ordinary
resolution passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 21 March 2007.

Annual caps:

the total value of the Construction Transactions shall
not exceed the following:

1 April 2007 — 31 March 2008 HK$450 million
1 April 2008 — 31 March 2009 HK$450 million
1 April 2009 — 31 March 2010 HK$450 million

the total value of the Renovation Transactions shall
not exceed the following:

1 April 2007 — 31 March 2008 HK$20 million
1 April 2008 — 31 March 2009 HK$20 million
1 April 2009 — 31 March 2010 HK$20 million

For the year from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009, the
aggregate transaction value in respect of each of the
Construction Transactions and the Renovation Transactions
under the Agreement amounted to HK$230.7 million and
HK$0.6 million respectively.

For the year from 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008, the
aggregate transaction value in respect of each of the
Construction Transactions and the Renovation Transactions
under the Agreement amounted to HK$136.6 million and
HK$0.5 million respectively.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

alphag - B - BRI HRETTZR
5 UWRBEZXHREEXHHEEE
ZEE LR (T XHAE) GERAR
AE_ZTLF=A-+—HETZ
IRERFFRIA® LA EBRETE A&
S -

FELER :

BERX S ZBETBBEB T
&IF

“ZZt¥MA-AE
ZEE\FZA=+-A 40BEETL
“ZF)\ENR-BE
“2ENFZA=T-R  450BEER
“ETNFMA-AE
ZE-2F=A=+-A 40FEATL

>

)

>

)

>

)

BIER 57 BIETEBE TS
&IF
“FRLERA-RE
“FRN\FZA=t-8 20EEER
“FE\FRA-RE
“EENFZAZT-R 20BEER
“FENFRA-RE
“T-FE-AZt-B 0BEET

m:zé\imﬁ—aﬁfﬁﬁng

A=+ ALEE  SREXS

REXHUEZHZEE N 2R %%@@
R A230.78 & BT N0.6AEEBTT ©

“ETLFWUA— Eli_gg)\i
7ﬂ:+ HIEFE  SREXS

REXFHEZMREA N 2R %%@@n
A B136.6AHBTROSEEET

H //>
| M



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
L& 3 85

In accordance with rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the
Directors (including the independent non-executive directors
of the Company (other than Dr QIN Xiao who has just been
appointed with effect from the conclusion of the board
meeting held on 22 July 2009) have reviewed and approved
the continuing connected transactions described in (1) and
(2) above (collectively the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) and confirmed that the Continuing Connected
Transactions were carried out in accordance with the
following principles:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or terms no less
favourable than terms available to (or from)
independent third parties;

(c) in accordance with the terms of the relevant
agreements governing the Continuing Connected
Transactions; and

(d) on a fair and reasonable basis and in the interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

In accordance with rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the
Board engaged the independent auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions. The independent auditor
of the Company has reported the factual findings on those
procedures to the Board that:

(a) the Continuing Connected Transactions have received
the approval of the Board;

(b)  the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried
out in accordance with the terms of the relevant
agreements governing the Continuing Connected
Transactions;
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(c)  for the year ended 31 March 2009, the aggregate
carried interest and incentive carried interest paid and
payable by Broad Base to Cagen did not exceed the
annual cap of US$5.0 million;

(d)  for the year ended 31 March 2009, the aggregate
amount paid and payable by the Group in respect of
the Construction Transactions did not exceed the
annual cap of HK$450.0 million; and

(e) for the year ended 31 March 2009, the aggregate
amount paid and payable by the Group in respect of
the Renovation Transactions did not exceed the
annual cap of HK$20.0 million.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 11 December 2008, Broad Base, as vendor, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with Cagen, as purchaser, in relation to
the sale by the vendor to the purchaser of shares in Taconic
Opportunity Offshore Fund Ltd. (“Taconic”), being one of the assets
comprised within the Broad Base Fund, for a consideration of
US$2,998,800 by reference to the net asset value of the relevant
underlying assets on 30 November 2008 as estimated by the hedge
fund manager of Taconic when the sale and purchase agreement
was made. The consideration is subject to adjustment, on a dollar
for dollar basis, as per the final valuation of the underlying assets
as of 30 November 2008. The consideration, after adjustment, is
HK$23.4 million.

The Directors considered that in the ordinary course, the Company
would not be able to realise cash in respect of its underlying
investment in Taconic until December 2009 in light of the ‘lock-up’
applicable to Broad Base’s interest in Taconic. However, with Cagen
willing to assist the Group by purchasing Broad Base’s interest in
Taconic, the Group is able to monetise the investment approximately
12 months early. Moreover, with the Group wishing to source capital
for its core business activities and given the continuing volatility in
the securities markets, the Directors are of the view that the sale of
the Taconic interest is timely and in the best interests of the
Company.
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Cagen is a company that is ultimately under the control of trustees
of certain discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of
discretionary beneficiaries are, among others, directors of the
Company and members of the Cha Family which, in turn, collectively
hold a total equity interest of 50.83% in the Company, Cagen is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules and
therefore the sale of certain share classes in the Taconic hedge
fund under the Broad Base Fund by Broad Base to Cagen
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under the
Listing Rules. As each of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined
under Rule 14A.10 of the Listing Rules) is less than 2.5%, the sale
is subject to reporting and announcement requirements under Rules
14A.45 to 14A.47 of the Listing Rules, and is exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement. An
announcement containing details of the connected transaction was
published by the Company on 12 December 2008 in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CagenBXa THBEFL 2 X FEARKZIEH]
AT ZERNBEACHBEZEAR H
REE) ARANEFRERREKE @ ME
KERGKREGHRFEARRRAERBRE
50.83% ° 1R#E_EM#EAI - CagenBARFZ
B A+ o FHIt  Broad BaselflCagent &
Broad Base Fund& T ZTaconic¥f i E & 2
ETROERBR AR EIE ETRBIFTE 2
—IHBERS  #HNSERBE L E(E
EH EMRAF14A100) 5L R25% &
B EEET EMRAIE 14A 455 14A 4715
ZBRMRAMGIRE - EERRETE KRR
HEZRE - AR ERZZEZENFE+A
+Z AT LR AT QS R IEREE
R HH)FFEIE »

ESRNERGHNzESR

B EXRBEESI  NABREERHEAF
BEITVEENEPERSAREREAR
3 M R4 B S AR R R R A LR
ZIEAEREH -

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £F % 87



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
L& 3 85

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.21
OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING
RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligation set out in rule 13.21
of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of
the loan agreement with covenants relating to specific performance
on the controlling shareholders of the Company as at 31 March
2009 pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists no reporting
obligation by the Company under rules 13.17 and 13.19 of the
Listing Rules accordingly.

The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into on
18 September 2007 (the “Loan Agreement”) for a transferable
revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$2,500.0 million with final maturity date falling five years after
the date of the Loan Agreement.

The Loan Agreement provides that the individual shareholder of
the Company holding the single largest shareholding (direct or
indirect) in the Company on the date of the Loan Agreement together
with his associate(s) shall be the Company’s single largest beneficial
shareholder at any time until the final maturity date and/or so long
as the loan remains outstanding.

As at the date of the Loan Agreement, CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited,
LBJ Regents Limited and CDW Holdings Limited (all being
substantial shareholders of the Company within the meaning of the
SFO), Mingly Asia Capital Limited (not being a substantial
shareholder within the meaning of the SFO) and Mr CHA Mou Sing
Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson and
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline (all being Directors) together
had an aggregate interest in 686,284,267 shares in the Company,
representing approximately 50.83% of the issued share capital of
the Company and collectively treated as a single controlling
shareholder of the Company under the term “Cha Family”.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.22
OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING
RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rule 13.22 of Chapter 13 of

the Listing Rules, the following are the details of financial assistance

and guarantees given for facilities granted to affiliated companies

of the Company as at 31 March 2009 pursuant to rule 13.16 thereof.

(D

As at 31 March 2009, the Group advanced to Tung Chung
Station Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL”) an
aggregate amount of HK$1,263.3 million.

TCSDCL is engaged in the development of Tung Chung
Station Package Il Project in Lantau Island, Hong Kong in
which the Group has 31% interest. The advances were
provided by the Group in the form of subordinated
shareholders’ loans in proportion to the Group’s shareholding
interest in TCSDCL, for the purpose of funding the working
capital requirements of TCSDCL. The advances are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of
repayments.

As at 31 March 2009, the Group advanced to Dazhongli
Properties Limited and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli Group”),
an aggregate amount of HK$3,932.2 million.

Dazhongli Group is engaged in the development of certain
properties in Jingan District, Shanghai, the PRC in which
the Group has 50% interest. The advances were provided
by the Group in the form of shareholder’s capital and
shareholder’s loans in proportion to the Group’s shareholding
interest in Dazhongli Group, for the purpose of financing the
development expenditure of Dazhongli Group. The advances
are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms
of repayments.
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(3)  As at 31 March 2009, the Group also advanced to several
affiliated companies at an aggregate amount of HK$10.5
million.

As at 31 March 2009, the aggregate amount of advances provided
to and guarantees given for these affiliated companies by the Group
amounted to HK$5,206.0 million and represented 53.7% of the
consolidated net tangible assets of the Group of HK$9,689.2 million
as at 31 March 2009.

A combined balance sheet of these affiliated companies and the
Group’s attributable interests in these affiliated companies as at 31
March 2009 are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of any business of the Company was entered
into or existed during the year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the above section “Convertible Bonds”, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 115 and 116.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in
the Group’s five largest customers.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the investment properties and property, plant
and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in notes 14
and 15 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER
DEVELOPMENT, SALE AND
INVESTMENT PURPOSES

Details of changes in properties held for/under development
purposes of the Group during the year are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A summary of major properties held for/under development, sale
and investment purposes is set out on pages 226 to 230.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$6.9 million (2008: approximately
HK$3.6 million).

TEEFRHER

AEBRAARBFARZEEBHAEEE
BEE D I30% o

AEBLAHERE X ZRBRAARER
R IN30% e

ARRIEE  RETABBALHARFR
R (T)?ié%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁzl&A A2 BITIARE %A
FE)BERARNEERRE P EA EAI#

N
s o
I

REYFREY =
i

AEBZREMEEYE - BB MRERA
FERZBEFHED BN A M EREMN
14K MFELS ©

FERR BRT - HER
RERBZYWR

I 55 B 3%

AEBFHEREBRT ZMENKRFE
N2z BEFBEN A M BRERME24 -

FIERR/BRD  HEMRERABZTIE
MEMEBEHNE226H F5E2308 °

B
AERR - REEZHEREMBRA
6IBEBT(ZTENF : NA36EEH
) o

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £F % 91



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
L& 3 85

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2009, the total number of employees of the Group
in Hong Kong and overseas was 3,417 (2008: 3,365). The Group
has always regarded human resources as one of the most important
assets. We aim to provide a quality work environment that attracts,
retains and develops the right people and build a talented workforce
with capabilities and commitment to support our business growth.
For key initiatives during the year, please refer to pages 52 to 55.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the percentage
of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public
exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 94 to 104.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 225. This
summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2009 has
been reviewed by the audit committee established in compliance
with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the relevant provisions of
the CG Code.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the AGM of the Company to re-
appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, being eligible and offering
themselves for re-appointment, as the independent auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

Hong Kong, 22 July 2009
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or the
“Directors”) is pleased to present its corporate governance report
for the year ended 31 March 2009.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices as a core element towards success and it
has been the Company’s policy to manage the affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) in accordance with
appropriate regulatory standards and practices on good corporate
governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has applied the principles
and complied with the code provisions of the Code of Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the year ended 31 March 2009, save for the
deviations with considered reasons stated in the following relevant
paragraphs.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (including amendments as effected from
time to time) as its own code of conduct to regulate securities
transactions by directors of the Company (the “Model Code”). All
Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the
Company, that they have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code during the year from 1 April 2008 to 31
March 2009 (both days inclusive).

The Model Code has been extended to and has become equally
applicable to dealings in the securities of the Company by members
of senior management and relevant employees who are likely in
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation
to the Company.

A revised Model Code has been adopted by the Company to comply

with the new requirements set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules effective from 1 January 2009.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BOARD COMPOSITION

Save as disclosed below, the Company has at all time during the
year ended 31 March 2009 maintained a balanced board with strong
independent element. The Board currently comprises thirteen
directors with eight non-executive directors, three of them are
independent. The members of the Board during the year ended 31
March 2009 and up to the date of this report were set out on pages
b6 and 57 of the directors’ report. Each Director possesses skills
and experience appropriate to the business of the Group and
particulars of the Directors and Senior Management are duly set
out in the paragraph headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” in the directors’ report on pages 60 to 68.

On 10 April 2008, Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta was re-designated
from executive director to non-executive director (“NED”) of the
Company upon expiry of her employment contract with the
Company.

On 4 December 2008, Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus (“Mr
CHEUNG”) was re-designated from independent non-executive
director (“INED”) to NED of the Company. Subsequent to the re-
designation of Mr CHEUNG, the Company had not been able to
comply with the requirements of rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules, code provision B.1.1 of CG Code and the respective terms
of reference of the audit committee and remuneration committee
of the Company as it had only two INEDs namely, Dr CHENG Kar
Shun Henry and Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
and the composition of both the audit committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company was rendered below the
requirement of the majority of the members of each committee
should be INEDs.
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On 3 March 2009, the Company made an announcement pursuant
to the disclosure requirement under rule 3.11 of the Listing Rules
in respect of the continuing failure in appointing the minimum
number of INEDs. On 22 July 2009, the Company appointed
Dr QIN Xiao as an INED, member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company and had complied with
the requirements of rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
code provision B.1.1 of CG Code and the respective terms of
reference of the two committees. An announcement for reporting
the appointment of Dr QIN Xiao was published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange on 22 July 2009.

Save as disclosed above, the Company meets the requirement of
rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules with at least one of the INEDs
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Each of the INEDs has provided to the Company an annual/initial
confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considers that each of them continue to
be independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines set
out in the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules. Prior to 31
March 2009, all directors of the Company who were appointed
before 1 January 2009 and who continue to hold office have duly
executed and submitted to the Stock Exchange a new undertaking
in pursuance of the requirement under rule 3.20A of the Listing
Rules.

Save for Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, Mr
CHA Mou Daid Johnson and Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
who are family members, all other Directors have no relationship
with each other.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND
ATTENDANCES

During the year under review, four board meetings were held, one
set of written resolutions was passed by all directors and nine sets
of written resolutions were passed by certain board committees.
The audit committee of the Company held two meetings while the
remuneration committee of the Company held three meetings and
exchanged four rounds of electronic communication during the year.
The agenda and accompanying board papers were sent to all
Directors or committee members at least 3 days (or such other
period as agreed) before the intended dates of the meetings.
Directors’ attendance in the board meetings, audit committee
meetings and remuneration committee meetings are set out below:
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The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI * EEEZE" 3/4 212 —
Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson ERELE 44 — —
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor # ERL L 4/4 — 7/7¢
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson ERELE 44 — —
Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry * # BRAELT 3/4 212 4/70
Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin * * RERBL 3/4 212 717°
Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming REPEE 4/4 — —
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus * # ROKART A 3/4 212 717°
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Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta AMERT 4/4 — —
Mr TANG Moon Wah HimErst 4/4 — —
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline ITEXERL 3/4 — —

* member of audit committee
#* member of remuneration committee
@ comprising 3 meetings and 4 rounds of circulated communication
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of chairman, deputy chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company were exercised by two different individuals who
are brothers. Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson is the chairman and Mr
CHA Mou Zing Victor is the deputy chairman and managing director
of the Company.

There is no written responsibilities setting up for the chairman and
chief executive officer, the division of responsibilities of the two
roles of chairman and chief executive officer is established as a
norm by the Board with core duty of the roles duly set out in the
Company’s articles of association (“Articles”). The Board may
consider to divide the responsibilities in much detail and set out in
writing the roles and duties of chairman and chief executive officer
in the future if there is a need.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has set out level of authority and express terms of
reference of the relevant board committees and reserves the rights
to oversee all other matters not delegated, in particular, major
acquisitions or disposals and connected transactions for its decision.

The Board also delegates certain management and administration
functions to management as it considers appropriate from time to
time, with directions as to the powers of management including
circumstances where management shall report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board. The Board may revisit such
delegations as from time to time to ensure clear directions and
powers are given and proper reporting procedures are followed.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company, which
includes formulating business strategies and directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Executive directors are in charge
of different businesses and functional divisions in accordance with
their respective areas of expertise.

Upon appointment, every Director is given comprehensive
documentations of the business operation of the Group and
regulatory and statutory requirements as director together with
briefing meetings with senior executives and department heads of
the Group.

Directors are provided with continuous updates on the latest
changes or material development in statues, the Listing Rules,
corporate governance practices relating to the duties and
responsibilities of directors and are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development seminars to update their
knowledge for discharging directors’ responsibilities.
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NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not set up a nomination committee and the Board
as a whole is responsible for the appointment of new directors.
During the year, the Board has delegated power to Mr CHA Mou
Sing Payson and Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor to look for a suitable
candidate to fill up the vacancy occurred subsequent to the re-
designation of Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus as NED on 4 December
2008. On 22 July 2009, Dr QIN Xiao was nominated and appointed
as an INED of the Company. Pursuant to article 99 of the Articles,
Dr QIN Xiao is required to retire and has offered for re-election.

The Articles also provide rotation and re-election for all Directors.
As required by the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM"), one-third of the Directors for the time being, or
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and any Director appointed
by the Directors shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or
until the next following AGM (in the case of an addition to the Board)
and eligible to offer for re-election. Accordingly, five Directors,
namely Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry, Mr
CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus, Dr QIN Xiao and Ms WONG CHA May
Lung Madeline shall retire and stand for re-election at the
forthcoming 2009 AGM.

All NEDs and INEDs of the Company were not appointed with
specific term, but are subject to the aforesaid rotation clause in the
Articles.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are subject to
shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is determined with reference
to market terms, their respective duties and responsibilities in the Group
and the Group’s remuneration policy. Under the terms of reference of
the remuneration committee, the remuneration committee should make
recommendation to the Board on the policy and it has the delegated
responsibilities to determine the specific remuneration package of the
executive directors and the senior management. Details of the Directors’
remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2009 are disclosed in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The managing director recommends proposals of the remuneration
of other executive directors for due consideration and approval by
the remuneration committee. The managing director of the Company
abstains from voting when his remuneration is considered by the
remuneration committee. His remuneration is recommended by the
chairman and reviewed and determined by the remuneration
committee. No director will participate in the discussion and review
of his own remuneration.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up the remuneration committee, audit committee
and other executive committees and all of them have duly adopted
respective clear terms of reference. The Board will from time to
time review the terms of reference of such committees and reform
and renovate some of them to align with better corporate governance
standard. The composition of each board committee will also be
reviewed and updated upon changes of personnel. Each of the board
committees is entitled to seek independent professional advice, at
the Company’s expenses, if it considers necessary in order to
perform its duties. The Board will from time to time on need basis
pass resolutions to set up special executive committees with clear
terms of reference to deal with the business of the Company. During
the year, the Board has revised the terms of reference of the audit
committee to align with the revised role of the committee caused
by the amendments to the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established on 2
December 2004 and is regulated by the terms of reference approved
by the Board. The full text of the terms of reference of the
remuneration committee is available for viewing at the Company’s
website.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee require, inter
alia, the composition of the members of the remuneration committee
to comprise the managing director and three INEDs of the Company
with majority of the committee members being INEDs. However,
during the period from 4 December 2008 to 22 July 2009,
composition of the remuneration committee is below the
requirement of the majority of the members should be INEDs, as
required by the terms of reference of the remuneration committee
and code provision B.1.1 of CG Code. Immediately after the
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appointment of Dr QIN Xiao as an additional member to the
remuneration committee with effect from 22 July 2009, code
provision B.1.1 of CG Code is fully complied with. The current
members of the remuneration committee are Mr CHA Mou Zing
Victor, Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry, Dr The Honourable CHEUNG
Kin Tung Marvin, Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus and Dr QIN Xiao
with Dr CHENG takes a lead role as chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the remuneration committee is
to exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management members, including salaries, bonuses, benefits in
kind, share options and other plans. Such factors as remuneration
paid for comparable positions, time commitment and responsibilities
of the executive directors and senior management members as well
as the Company’s remuneration policy will be considered.

During the year under review, the remuneration committee held
three meetings and exchanged four rounds of electronic
communication to review and approve proposals in respect of (a)
the 2008 salary increase for executive directors and senior
management; (b) the 2008/2009 bonus for executive directors and
senior management; (c) the extension of employment contracts for
executive directors; and (d) the recommendation for increase in
director’s fee for NEDs of the Company for approval by the
shareholders of the Company. The attendance records of the
remuneration committee meetings held during the year are set out
in the above section headed “Board and Committee Meetings and
Attendances”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company was established on 17 July
1998 and is regulated by the terms of reference approved by the
Board. According to a new code provision of the CG Code effective
from 1 January 2009, the terms of reference of the audit committee
had been revised during the year to require the audit committee an
overall role to oversee the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function and to review and report to the Board on adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget. The full text of the revised terms of
reference of the audit committee is available for viewing at the
Company’s website.
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The terms of reference of the audit committee require, inter alia,
the composition of the members of the audit committee to comprise
NEDs with a majority (including the chairman) being INEDs of the
Company. However, during the period from 4 December 2008 to
22 July 2009, composition of the audit committee is below the
requirement of the majority of the members should be INEDs, as
required by the terms of reference of the audit committee and rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules. Immediately after the appointment of Dr
QIN Xiao as an additional member to the audit committee with effect
from 22 July 2009, rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules is fully complied
with. The current members of the audit committee are The
Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI, Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry,
Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin, Mr CHEUNG Wing
Lam Linus and Dr QIN Xiao with Dr CHENG takes a lead role as
chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the audit committee is to assist
the Board in meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an effective
system of internal controls and compliance, and in meeting its
external financial reporting objectives.

During the year, the audit committee held two meetings together
with senior management and independent auditor and had
considered the independent auditor’s projected audit and non-audit
services fees, their independence and the nature and scope of the
audit, reviewed and discussed the continuing connected
transactions and internal controls, the interim and final financial
statements together with the management’s findings and responses
and the independent auditor’s reviews and reports before
submission to the Board for approval. The attendance records of
the audit committee meetings held during the year are set out in
the above section headed “Board and Committee Meetings and
Attendances”

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is the independent auditor of the
Company. The remuneration for audit services provided by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu to the Group for the year under review was
estimated at HK$5.6 million (2008 (actual): HK$5.4 million). In
addition to the audit fee, the Company had appointed Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu for other non-audit services including tax
compliance and the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions in respect of the construction and renovation
transactions with Hanison Group and the Broad Base Fund, for
around HK$2.6 million (2008 (actual): HK$2.4 million) in the year
under review.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal controls, which includes financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions. The
Company has an internal audit department which is responsible
for performing independent reviews on the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls and reports audit findings to
the audit committee and the Board regularly.

During the year, the internal audit department carried out reviews
on (a) the property development in Tung Chung and Discovery Bay,
(b) manufacturing industry in the PRC, (c) dental service group in
Beijing, (d) leasing and maintenance of residential properties in
Discovery Bay and Tung Chung, (e) leasing activities of commercial
properties in Discovery Park and Discovery Bay, (f) the Discovery
Bay ferry service system and (g) other business units with audit
follow-up. With the implementation of follow-up measures after the
reviews, the effectiveness in areas with irregularities gradually
improves. Findings on the reviews and the relevant
recommendations were presented to the audit committee in
November 2008 and July 2009. The audit committee agreed that
the internal auditor’s reports are acceptable. To strengthen the
internal control system, an internal audit charter to formulate the
processes and procedures of the internal audit function was adopted
in June 2008.

The Board, through the work of the audit committee and the internal
audit department, has conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Company and
its subsidiaries and considers that the Group’s internal control
system for the year ended 31 March 2009 was effective and
adequate.

REASONS FOR DEVIATIONS FROM CG
CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
code provisions of the CG Code except for certain deviations from
the code provisions A.2.1 (division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer be clearly established and set
out in writing), A.3 (minimum of three INEDs as per rule 3.10 of
Listing Rules), A.4.1 (NEDs be appointed for a specific term), B.1.1
(majority members of remuneration committee should be INEDs),
E.1.1 (for each substantially separate issue at a general meeting, a
separate resolution should be proposed by the chairman of the
meeting) and E.1.2 (chairman to attend annual general meeting).
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Apart from the considered reasons given above for deviations from
code provisions A.2.1, A.3, A.4.1, B.1.1, the Company had deviated
from code provision E.1.1 since during the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 5 August 2008 (“2008 AGM"), the chairman
of the meeting had proposed and the shareholders had passed
without any objection vote a resolution to vote the re-elections of
the four retiring directors in a single resolution to save the processing
time involved. The re-election of all the four retiring directors were
then approved and confirmed in a single resolution.

The Company deviated from code provision E.1.2 since Mr CHA
Mou Sing Payson, the Chairman of the Board of the Company and
Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry, the chairman of the audit committee
and remuneration committee of the Company were unable to attend
the 2008 AGM. However, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, the Deputy
Chairman of the Board and Managing Director of the Company,
took the chair of that meeting and two members of both the audit
committee and remuneration committee were present thereat to
be available to answer any question.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the results and cash flows of the Group. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2009, the Directors have (i) selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently; (ii) made judgements and estimates
that are prudent and reasonable; and (iii) prepared accounts on
the going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2009 is contained in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 110 and 111.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

bk 5 1t 22

2009 2008
—EENE —EENF
For year ended 31 March BZ=A=1+—HLEFE HK$’'M HK$'M
Results E¥ BHEBT BEATT
Turnover EER 2,593.7 3,429.7
(Loss) profit attributable to A% R G (B18) & 7
shareholders (224.1) 924.8
Dividends paid 2R E 121.5 351.0
(Loss) earnings per share (HK cent) &A% (B18) 25| (B1l) (17) 68
At 31 March R=ZA=+—8H
Financial Position B AR R
Total assets wBEE 17,848.9 18,412.1
Total liabilities FEN=R 7,095.8 7,186.5
Net asset value BEFE 9,698.4 10,154.9
Net asset value per share (HK$) SREEFEGET) 7.2 75
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HK$)
BREEZFE (BT
8
6
4
2
0
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
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SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

As at 31 March 2009, the shareholders’ funds of the Group reduced
by HK$456.5 million to HK$9,698.4 million (2008: HK$10,154.9
million). The reduction was mainly due to decrease of fair value of
investment properties and a net loss in investment in securities.
The overall gross profit margin for the Group was 34.7% (2008:
41.4%).

MAJOR CASH FLOWS TO/FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

During the financial year, the Group continued to capitalise one of
its major development projects located in Jingan, Shanghai, in which
the Group holds 50% equity interest, for HK$1,696.8 million.

In addition, the sale of property units of Le Bleu Deux in Tung Chung
by Tung Chung Station Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL"),
in which the Group has 31% interest, was satisfactory. TCSDCL
has repaid HK$682.0 million shareholders’ loan to the Group during
the financial year.

MAJOR CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The sale of residential properties located in Discovery Bay, Hong
Kong, Nassim Road, Singapore and The Sukhothai Residences,
Bangkok contributed approximately HK$587.4 million, HK$589.9
million and HK$198.3 million cash respectively to the Group during
the financial year.

The Group has disposed certain investment properties located in
Discovery Bay and other areas of Hong Kong that contributed
HK$309.5 million cash to the Group.

Investment properties of the Group generated approximately
HK$259.2 million operating cash during the financial year.
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MAJOR CASH FLOWS TO FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

On 26 April 2008, the Group partially redeemed its zero coupon
convertible bonds due 2010 (the “Bonds”) in the principal amount
of HK$434.0 million for an early redemption price of HK$505.6
million as a result of the exercise of put option by certain
bondholders.

During October 2008 to February 2009, the Group repurchased a
total principal amount of HK$329.0 million of the Bonds for a gross
consideration of HK$360.5 million.

FINANCIAL LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had total cash and securities
investment of HK$2,889.7 million (2008: HK$3,572.4 million) whilst
total bank borrowings were HK$3,382.1 million (2008: HK$2,357.6
million). The major changes in liquid assets and bank borrowings
were reflected in the capitalisation of certain development projects
and acquisition located in Hong Kong, Shanghai, Thailand,
Singapore and Japan.

GEARING

The Group’s gearing ratio stood at a reasonable level of 22.3%
(2008: 22.9%) as calculated by the Group’s consolidated net
borrowings to the shareholders’ funds.

BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had adequate internal cash and
banking facilities, both secured and unsecured, to finance its
development projects and operations. As at 31 March 2009, the
unutilised credit facilities amounted to HK$2,438.8 million (2008:
HK$4,263.3 million).

The maturity profile of bank borrowings were 30.2% (2008: 25%)
falling within one year, 0.1% (2008: 3%) falling between one to two
years, and 69.7% (2008: 72%) falling between two to five years as
at 31 March 2009.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
445 I M

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions for the management
of funding requirements, interest rate and currency risk exposure.
With majority of assets and liabilities denominated in HK dollars
and US dollars, the Group has limited exposure to foreign currencies.
For hedging of foreign currency exposure in certain overseas
operation, currency swap arrangements were made. The Group’s
banking facilities are principally on floating rate basis and interest
rate swaps will be employed to manage interest rate risk for its
short to medium term borrowings when appropriate and necessary.

It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial derivatives
for speculative purpose.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had pledged an investment property
with a carrying value of HK$646.4 million (2008: HK$729.0 million),
property, plant and equipment of HK$9.4 million (2008: HK$9.9
million), a property under development of HK$95.3 million (2008:
HK$512.1 million) and bank deposits of HK$58.9 million (2008:
HK$79.6 million) to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

Royston Investment Limited, HKR Properties Limited, HKR Asia-
Pacific Pte Ltd and National Asset Limited, the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiaries, subordinated the inter-company debts due from
one of their subsidiaries respectively in amount of HK$31.8 million
(2008: nil), nil (2008: HK$29.0 million), nil (2008: HK$401.0
million) and HK$26.8 million (2008: HK$35.6 million) to secure
certain general banking facilities granted to the particular
subsidiaries.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
445 I M

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group’s contingent liabilities in respect of corporate guarantees
and undertaking given, to the extent of the Group’s proportionate
share, in respect of banking and other facilities (or secured
indebtedness, if appropriate) granted, increased slightly by HK$1.2
million to HK$161.6 million (2008: HK$160.4 million) due to
exchange translation.

Saved as aforesaid disclosure, the Group did not have other
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2009.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

188 A 4 Vi

Deloitte.
EE)

TO THE MEMBERS OF HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
EREXEREEERLTF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of HKR
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to
224, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March
2009, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T S il 3

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 July 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

A W A %

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z = EZFNF=H=+—HIFE

2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
NOTES HK$’'M HK$'M
B 5 BEERT BEBTT
Turnover EER 5 2,593.7 3,429.7
Cost of sales & A (1,692.5) (2,010.2)
Gross profit E A 901.2 1,419.5
Other operating income H e A 6 149.9 80.5
Administrative expenses THAX (422.7) (469.2)
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE 9 (146.4) (36.6)
Net losses from financial CMEE/BE
assets/liabilities FEE 9 (273.0) (4.3)
Change in fair value of investment WEMERNFEES
properties (462.7) 586.8
Finance costs % E A 7 (171.2) (193.2)
Share of results of associates DAEBE D 8 179.0 300.2
Share of result of jointly controlled 3 i £ [ 2 )
entity (0.3) (34.0)
(Loss) profit before taxation BrEi AT (B518) %= A 9 (246.2) 1,649.7
Taxation I8 10 8.6 (383.3)
(Loss) profit for the year REE (EE) = A (237.6) 1,266.4
Attributable to: T FE(GRERS
Equity holders of the Company RARIRERFEA (224.1) 924.8
Minority interests DEIR R (13.5) 341.6
(237.6) 1,266.4
Dividends paid 2R & 12 121.5 351.0
Dividend proposed I s 12 — 121.5
(Loss) earnings per share Bk (B518) BT 13
— basic (HK cent) — ER (B (17) 68
— diluted (HK cent) —BEH O N/A FiE A 65

112  HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 7 i 0 2 B[ & [ 45 /R 2 7)



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

b A R R

At 31 March 2009 R = ZEZENF=A=+—H

2009 2008
—EZhEF ZEENF
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M
B 5 BEBT BEBT
Non-current assets JEMENEE
Investment properties A 14 5,367.3 5,873.7
Property, plant and equipment W - WEREE 15 2,488.5 2,413.2
Prepaid lease payments TENEEMNR 16 143.1 197.1
Goodwill SRS 17 9.2 9.2
Interests in associates /NS ol s 18 311.0 347.2
Interest in jointly controlled entity HT FIER 2w 19 4,120.4 2,349.5
Held-to-maturity investments T‘J’:I:J:JHE?X/\ 20 21.8 23.3
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESREE 20 108.8 174.0
Other assets ﬁﬁﬂﬁ? 21 94.0 127.4
Deferred tax assets BREBIRE & 27 2.7 3.2
12,666.8 11,517.8
Current assets BN E E
Inventories FE 22 145.1 152.2
Properties held for sale BIELEmE 121.3 79.8
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR3K 23 286.3 674.0
Sale proceeds held by stakeholders REAFTIFHEE
FTi5 I8 25 — 1.7
Deposits, prepayments and other e BN REREM
financial assets EHEE 25 213.2 201.4
Properties held for/under development — #FZE /3¢ f&EP S 24 1,173.3 1,496.9
Amounts due from associates FELBZE%% EWNGIE @ 18, 25 476.4 949.9
Amount due from jointly controlled JE U S [R] 2 %llﬁﬁf
entity IR 25 25.9 13.6
Taxation recoverable A 3R [B1 7% 3K 12.8 4.3
Held-to-maturity investments BFEIHRE 20 23.7 —
Financial assets at fair value through A FEFF AR
profit or loss L EeRMEE 20 741.7 1,759.7
Pledged bank deposits B IFIRI TN 25 58.9 79.6
Bank balances and cash IRTTERKIRES 25, 37 1,903.5 1,481.2
5,182.1 6,894.3
Current liabilities BB E
Trade payables, provision and FENEZER  BHER
accrued charges EETER 26 849.0 890.6
Deposits received and other Bt e REHMW
financial liabilities EEBE 32 548.6 702.1
Amounts due to associates JE& < BSe & X R 5RIB 32 2.2 14.5
Taxation payable FET B IR 103.9 101.3
Bank loans due within one year —FRE B ZIRITER 29 1,021.5 596.3
Other liabilities due within one year —FRIPCEMEE 30 18.9 23.7
Convertible bonds AR ES
— liability component —RBEBD 31 — 488.0
2,544.1 2,816.5
Net current assets MEEEFE 2,638.0 4,077.8
Total assets less current liabilities MEERREARE 15,304.8 15,595.6
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

BAREARE
At 31 March 2009 K= FEHF=A=+—H

2009 2008
—ZEZTNE —EENF
NOTES HK$’'M HK$'M
B 5 BEBT BEBT
Non-current liabilities FEmBAEE
Bank loans due after one year —FR B ZIRITER 29 2,360.6 1,761.3
Convertible bonds AR ES
— liability component — BEHD 31 777.3 1,097.4
Other liabilities due after one year —FRINPrEMEE 30 945.4 937.0
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 27 468.4 574.3
4,551.7 4.370.0
10,753.1 11,225.6
Capital and reserves BARKFHE
Share capital IR 33 337.5 3375
Reserves e 9,360.9 9.817.4
Equity attributable to equity holders AKARREREA
of the Company FEAG Rz 1 9,698.4 10,154.9
Minority interests DY IR ER 1,054.7 1,070.7
10,753.1 11,225.6

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 224 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
22 July 2009 and are signed on its behalf by:

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director
BT JEFHEFLHELTE
E=3:.959
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
EQUITY
AW B W E

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # %=

— ==

NF=A=1+—HIFFE
Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

ARARBEEARE
Convertible
Asset  Investment honds Capital
Share  Accumulated General Share  revaluation  revaluation equity Distributable  Exchange  redemption Minority
capital profits reserve - premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total interests Total
EEEf, REER THERER  TRAK 48R HHRR
B&  gitEd  BERE  RBEE EL BE  BERE i EiRE i &3t 3 &3t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEET  RERT  ABET  BEAR  FEAn  EBEA RERn BEET  RERT  AEAT BEERT BERT BEER
(note a) (note b) (note c)
(Hi3ka) (Kiskb) (Kzkc)
At 1 April 2007 RZZ5+ERA-A 3375 6,4313 783 15379 1294 43 751 450.7 2042 31 92518 738 9975.6
Fair value changes on THLESREE
avallbleforsale financial assets A FEEE - - - - - (12) - - - - (12) - (12)
Deferred tax liability arising from ~~~ THEELBEED
fair value changes on TEEYFELY
avalable-for-sale financial assets ~ EREHAAE - - - - - (16) - - - - (L6) - (16)
Eichange differences arising from B E BB EH
iranslation of operations outside EEERZE
Hong Kong - - - - - - - - 1724 - 1724 - 1724
Share of reserves of jointly AEEREHERRE
controlled entiy (note d) (Hzxd) - - - - - - - - 1637 - 1637 - 1637
Minority shareholders' share of YERERE
changes in resenves GEgy - - - - - (01 - - (39) - (40) 40 -
Net income recognised directly in equity EERREER 2 RAFE - - - - - (29) - - 322 - 393 40 333
Profit for the year TERER - 9248 - - - - - - - - 9248 316 12664
Total recognised income and expense £ ME BN
for the year gE - 948 - - — (29) - - 3322 - 1.254.1 3456 1,59.7
Dividends paid E2RRE - (351.0) - - - - - - - - (351.0) - (351.0)
Acquisiton of additional interestin ~ EEMEBAER
a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (2.0) 2.0)
Capital contrbution by minorty YERRLE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - 33 33
At 31 March 2008 RZBEN\EZf=t-8 3375 70051 783 15379 1294 14 751 450.7 5364 31 10,1549 1,070.7 11,256
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

&5 A B 2R 5 W R
For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

RAARBEEARE
Convertible
Asset  Investment honds Capital
Share  Accumulated General Share  revaluation  revaluation equity Distributable  Exchange  redemption Minority
capital profits reserve  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total interests Total
BEEf, REER TERES  TRAK 48R HHRR
R&  ZiteA  ZERE  RMEE E1 B RERE fE  EXGE B Eh Es &t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKSM HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKSM
BEAT RERT ABET  BEAT  FEEAT  BEAT  AERT  BEET  RERT  AEAT  BEAT  BERT  BEER
(note a) (note b) (note ¢)
(Kiik) (Hizkb) (Hic)
At 1 April 2008 R-EZ\¥RA-A 315 7,005.1 783 1,5379 1294 14 751 450.7 536.4 31 10,1549 1,070.7 11,225.6
Fair value changes on THLECREE
avalableforsale financial assets ~ AFEEE - - - - - 519 - - - - 519 = 519
Deferred tax iabiity arising from AR HELBEED
fair value changes on TERYFEL,
avalableforsale financial assets ~ ERREEE - - - - - 08 - - - - 08 - 08
Exchange differences arising from BB EBENEH
iranslation of operations outside EEERZE
Hong Kong - - - - - = = = (2289) = (2289) = (2289)
Share of reserves of jointly AELRBHERRE
controlled entity (note d) (Hztd) - = = = - - - - 744 - 744 = 744
Minority shareholders' share of DURRA G
changes In reserves Hhey - - - = = 01 = = 59 = 60 (6.0) -
Net expense recognised directlyin -~ ERARIEER
equity b Tt - - - - - 528 - - (1486) = (9.8) (60)  (1018)
Impairment loss on avalableforsale  REpA KBRER
financlal assets recognised in JUEHESR
consolidated income statement LERESE - - - = = 31 = = = = 31 = 31
Loss for the year rEEER - (224.1) - - - - - - - - (224.1) (135) (23756)
Total recognised income and EREEINR
expense for the year 4% - (224.1) - - - %9 - - (148.6) - (316.8) (19.5) (33%6.3)
Dividends paid ERRE = (121.5) — = = = = = — — (121.5) = (121.5)
Acquisiton of additional interestin M BAEE
a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 03 03
Capital contribution by minorty HERELE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - 32 32
Redemption and repurchase of EORBETRRES
convertible bonds - 24 - - - - (40.6) — - - (182) - (182)

At 31 March 2009 RZESNEZA=t-A 3315 6,681.9 783 15379 1294 513 345 450.7 378 31 96984 1,054.7 10,753.1

Notes: B &E:

(@)  General reserve mainly represents reserve created by way of capital (a) TRBEEIZREASEERER—NLNANF
reduction in a scheme of arrangement of the Group under its former BIT 7 RRFRIAG BB IFRRER -
listed vehicle namely HKR Properties Limited pursuant to special NEHRAI LT EEREEHE (W) ERARF]
resolution passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting (the 2 aEETHEE ([HEE]) @ B8
“Scheme of Arrangement”) in 1988. AR A B T T 5% 2 i -

(b) Distributable reserve was arisen from the cancellation of the share (b) Al D REEIR BB ERZETER — L\
capital and the share premium account of HKR Properties Limited S NANEFAEESEE (ME) BRA
in the year of 1989/1990 under the Scheme of Arrangement. AR LR D EEER

(c) Capital redemption reserve is the amount equivalent to the nominal (c) EARE R FEERERBEARRFRMDE
value of the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s s BRMAESRE  AESEEREER
shares which was transferred from accumulated profits. The reserve A o ARFARBEEARMARLRHES
may be applied by the Company in paying up its unissued shares BERAEHAZERE  UHRERE
to be allotted to members of the Company as fully paid bonus shares 1T, - WEABRAFRGEE T AR
in accordance with the articles of association of the Company and AIARER o
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

(d)  Share of reserves of jointly controlled entity during the year included (d) FR - oEEEEHEEFRERERRE
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an amount of HK$3.2 million (2008: HK$9.3 million) arising from
translation of interest in jointly controlled entity and an amount of
HK$71.2 million (2008: HK$154.4 million) of exchange gain arising
from loans that form part of net investment in foreign operations.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

i Bl Al ik

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z = EZFNF=H=+—HIFE

2009 2008
—EEBNEF —ZTENF
NOTE HK$’'M HK$'M
Bt 5 BEBT BEETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEX
(Loss) profit before taxation BrEiAT (E518) = A (246.2) 1,649.7
Adjusting items, net FEIZE T (a) 942.1 (504.5)
Operating cash flows before Rt AEEBESEHA
movements in working capital CIEERERE 695.9 1,145.2
Increase in inventories FEE N (3.1) (8.5)
Decrease in properties held for sale BIELEMER D 564.5 652.1
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables FEURE 5 BR ks 4> (36 40) 370.9 (446.4)
Decrease in sale proceeds held by REAFTREE TG RIER L
stakeholders 1.7 34.9
(Increase) decrease in deposits, e FBRRIEREM
prepayments and SREE (G R
other financial assets (11.5) 211.8
Increase in properties under R YEL N
development (336.3) (153.3)
Decrease in amounts due from JrE W Bt 2 X B SRIE R
associates 3.3 4.8
Increase in amount due from JE UK HE (R 4% ) B B8 SR IE G AN
jointly controlled entity (12.3) (13.6)
Decrease (increase) in financial assets A F{ET AEBZ 2 & @l
at fair value through profit or loss BERAD (8m) 738.7 (287.0)
(Decrease) increase in trade payables, JEHE ZIRFN - B & KL EST
provision and accrued charges B OBL)Em (41.6) 10.8
(Decrease) increase in deposits Bl REMEFHEE
received and other financial liabilities (g 4>) &40 (146.2) 405.7
Decrease in amounts due to associates J& - B & /A &) 7K I8 &, 2 (12.3) (0.6)
Decrease in mortgage instalment JE Wi 18 7 B4 ORI
receivables 11.8 33.7
Decrease in derivative financial PTESR T AR
instruments (0.4) (15.7)
Cash generated from operations BEMERE 1,823.1 1,573.9
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREBNEH (81.7) (203.7)
Overseas tax paid 2ATEINRIR (17.1) (13.9)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM BEXBFEREER
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,724.3 1,356.3
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
HERBEWRE
For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
NOTE HK$'M HK$'M
B 5 BEBT BEBT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREFEK
Repayment of loans from an associate B4 R &)E 678.9 434.0
Proceeds on disposal of investment HEREMEZ
properties FTiS3k38 309.5 8.9
Redemption of held-to-maturity B () 45 25 5 4R
investments 30.2 —
Decrease in long term deposits RIRTT 2 REIFE SO A
with a bank 23.3 234
Decrease (increase) in pledged BIEFIRITER
bank deposits R (35 0) 20.7 (4.0)
Interest received B UF B 19.2 38.2
Dividends received from associates 2 UHE = R R E 6.5 8.6
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWE - ﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ
plant and equipment Z FT1S3E 8.3 4.0
Option fee refunded B iR [l 7 2 20 B 0.1 0.2
Loans to jointly controlled entity ER T RZESIE S (1,696.8) (1,176.8)
Additions of property, plant and J‘E%% = M %
equipment (561.9) (274.4)
Additions of held-to-maturity investments A& 1% & 2| HIR & (60.1) —
Additions of investment properties NEREME (4.2) (213.6)
Acquisition of additional interests in HENEB QR #Em
subsidiaries (2.3) (4.1)
Increase in other assets Hth & =38 0 (1.6) (4.0)
Additions of prepaid lease payments R E FAH & 5K (0.4) (0.4)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBFAREFHE
ACTIVITIES (1,230.6) (1,160.0)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES e
New bank borrowings raised MIEIRITEE 2,695.7 2,106.8
Capital contribution from minority DERETE
shareholders 3.2 3.3
Club debentures issued NEgMES 2.5 24.8
Advances from (repayment to) minority 838 (B F)
shareholders DHIE 2.1 (295.6)
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBRITIEE (1,656.2) (1,041.1)
Redemption and repurchase of fEE MO iR ES
convertible bonds (866.1) —
Dividends paid 2R E (121.5) (351.0)
Interest paid SRS (85.2) (76.7)
Repayment of obligations under BEREMEEAE
finance leases (0.6) (2.6)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED B & %7 (F7 ) Fi {8
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B4 P (26.1) 367.9
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH B&FKBREZEEER
EQUIVALENTS ZIEFEEE 467.6 564.2
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FENzERERES
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR Z@EEAR 1,481.2 904.3
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXSHEE
RATE CHANGES (45.3) 12.7
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FR2ESRES
AT END OF THE YEAR £{EEH 37 1,903.5 1,481.2
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
ERBERERE
For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

2009 2008
—EZThE —EENF
NOTE HK$’'M HK$'M
Mo aE HEBTT BEETT
Note: B EE -
(a) Analysis of adjusting items, net (a) FEEEFEZOW
Share of results of associates Bak(a) NS (179.0) (300.2)
Share of result of jointly controlled il FL [ 2
entity ERESA 0.3 34.0
Release of prepaid lease payments FERHERN R 2.3 2.2
Depreciation of property, plant and W BE &
equipment R E 151.5 148.2
Interest income FEUWA (19.2) (39.3)
Interest expense B 162.5 183.1
Allowance for doubtful debts AR 7.3 6.3
Gain on repurchase of fE o MR ES
convertible bonds 2 W E (31.1) —
Net losses from financial CREE&AE
assets/liabilities FER 9 273.0 43
Change in fair value of KEMERATFEESD
investment properties 462.7 (586.8)
(Gain) loss on disposal of HEDE  BE R
property, plant and equipment Bz (W) Eia (2.5) 7.8
Gain on disposal of investment HEREME 2 W
properties (32.1) (0.7)
Impairment loss recognised BERBEEE 9 146.4 36.6
942.1 (504.5)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z = EZFNF=H=+—HIFE

1.

120

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the Corporate Information on pages 231 and 232.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency
of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the development,
management and provision of essential and recreational
services for residential housing and leisure projects in
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island, other property development,
property investment, hotel operation, manufacturing,
securities investments and provision of healthcare services.

The Group’s associates and jointly controlled entity are
principally engaged in property development, property
investment, construction and provision of healthcare
services.

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS”s)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments of Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”)
and interpretations (“INT”s) (hereinafter collectively referred
to as “new HKFRS”s) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are or have
become effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S 05 o Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of financial
(Amendments) assets

HK(IFRIC)* — INT 12 Service concession arrangements

HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding
requirements and their

interaction

*

IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee.

While some of these HKFRSs are not applicable to the Group,
the adoption of the other new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting years have been prepared and presented.
Accordingly, no prior year adjustment has been made.

The Group has not early applied those new, revised and
amended standards or interpretations that have been issued
but are not yet effective. The adoption of HKFRS 3 (revised)
may affect the Group’s accounting for business combination
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of
the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 April
2010. HKAS 27 (revised) will affect the accounting treatment
for changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control, which will be accounted
for as equity transactions. HK(IFRIC) — INT 18 applies to
agreements in which an entity receives cash from a customer
when that amount of cash must be used only to construct or
acquire an item of property, plant and equipment and the
entity must then use the item of property, plant and
equipment either to connect the customer to a network or to
provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of
goods or services, or to do both. This may affect the
accounting treatment for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and revenue recognition for which the transfer
of cash is received on or after 1 July 2009. The directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of the other new,
revised or amended standards and interpretations will have
no material impact on the results and the financial position
of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain properties and
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporated the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from their effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective
dates of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist of the
amount of those interests at the date of the original business
combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity
since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the
minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s
equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except
to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and
is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

BUSINESS COMBINATION

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost
of the business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

For business combination involves more than one exchange
transaction through successive share purchases. Each
exchange transaction are treated separately. The acquisition
of additional interests in subsidiaries is recorded at historical
cost and the excess of the cost of acquisition over the carrying
amounts of net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.
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GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business for which
the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005 represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest
in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the relevant business at the date of
acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on acquisition of a business is
presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition of a subsidiary is allocated to each of the
relevant cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then
to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S 05 o Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in
joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the
associate, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
unrealised profits or losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the associate.

JOINT VENTURES
Jointly controlled assets

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint
venture arrangements directly, constituted as jointly
controlled assets, the Group’s share of the jointly controlled
assets and share of any liabilities incurred jointly with other
ventures are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements and classified according to their nature. Liabilities
and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly
controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis.

Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output
of the jointly controlled assets, together with its share of any
expenses incurred, are recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the transaction will
flow to/from the Group.
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Jointly controlled entity

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment
of a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over
the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entity.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entity
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investment in jointly controlled entity is carried in
the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of
the jointly controlled entity, less any identified impairment
loss. When the Group’s share of losses of a jointly controlled
entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled
entity (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. An additional share of losses is
provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amount receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when all of the following criteria are

met:

° the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to buyers;

o neither continuing managerial involvement to the

degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the properties are retained;
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o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Income from sales of completed properties are recognised
on the execution of legally binding, unconditional and
irrevocable contracts.

When a development property is sold in advance of
completion, profit is only recognised upon completion of the
development. Deposits and instalments received from
purchasers prior to this stage are included in current
liabilities.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and
title has passed.

Service income is recognised as services are rendered.

Hotel operation income is recognised upon the provision of
services and the utilisation by guests of the hotel facilities.

Dividend income from investments excluding financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss is recognised when the
Group’s right to receive payments has been established.

Interest income from a financial asset excluding financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes other than construction in
progress are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress, over their estimated useful lives from the date on
which they are ready for intended use and after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, using the straight
line method.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of the related lease.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes as well as self-constructed
investment property. Construction in progress is carried at
cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Property that is being constructed or developed for future
use as an investment property is classified as property, plant
and equipment and carried at cost less recognised
impairment loss until construction or development is
complete, at which time it is reclassified to and subsequently
accounted for as investment property. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at that date and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item
is derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes,
the leasehold land component is classified as a prepaid lease
payment and amortised over a straight line basis over the
lease term. During the construction period, the amortisation
charge provided for the leasehold land is included as part of
costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings commences
when they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management).

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TANGIBLE ASSETS
(OTHER THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES IN RESPECT OF
GOODWILL ABOVE))

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another standard, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under
that standard.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use or no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the consolidated income statement in the year in which
the item is derecognised.
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INVENTORIES
Properties held for/under development

Property held for/under development is stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Costs relating to the
development of the properties include land cost, construction
cost, borrowing costs and other direct development
expenditure.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are
classified under current assets. They are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.

Other

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable,
direct labour costs and those overheads that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rate that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.
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Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised base on the tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred
tax is charged or credited to the consolidated income
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt
with in equity.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in jointly controlled entity, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included
in the consolidated balance sheet as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight line basis.

LEASEHOLD LAND AND BUILDING

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, in which
case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment. To the
extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for as
operating leases except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model.
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
its functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period except for exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains and losses are recognised directly in equity, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly
in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of
equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.
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BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the consolidated balance sheet when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.
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Interest income from debt instruments and interest expense
is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
four categories, including financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL comprises financial assets held
for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

U it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial assets.
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Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade
receivables, other financial assets, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, amounts due from associates and
amount due from jointly controlled entity) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. At each balance sheet
date subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity
investments are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at
FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the
financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and recognised
in profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss
on financial assets below).
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For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
instruments, they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at each balance sheet date subsequent
to initial recognition (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables and other financial assets, assets that are
assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the average credit period, observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables and other financial assets,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable or other financial asset is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is
recognised directly in equity. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed
if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition
of the impairment loss.
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Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities other than derivatives (including bank and
other borrowings, trade payables, other financial liabilities,
amounts due to associates and deposits received) are
subsequently measured at amortised costs, using the
effective interest method.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified
as an equity instrument. Derivatives embedded in non-
derivative host contracts are not separated from the relevant
host contracts when the economic characteristics and risks
of the embedded derivatives are closely related to those of
the host contracts. On initial recognition, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts. The
difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability
component, representing the embedded call option for the
holder to convert the bonds into equity, is included in
convertible bonds equity reserve.
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In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible bonds equity reserve until the embedded option
is exercised, in which case the balance stated in convertible
bonds equity reserve will be transferred to share premium.
Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date,
the balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will
be transferred to the accumulated profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of
the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion
and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using
the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge relationship.
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Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions
are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance
sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the
effect is material.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
are charged as expenses when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Management had made the following estimations that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements and a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated balance
sheet at 31 March 2009 at their fair value of HK$5,367.3
million (2008: HK$5,873.7 million). The fair value was based
on valuation on these properties conducted by independent
firms of professional valuers using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
consolidated income statement.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER
DEVELOPMENT

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s
properties held for/under development amounted to
HK$1,173.3 million (2008: HK$1,496.9 million) with
reference to current market environment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets may exceed its net realisable value.
Appropriate write-down for estimated irrecoverable amounts
is recognised in profit and loss when there is objective
evidence that the net realisable value is below cost. The
estimates of net realisable value are based on the evidence
available at the time the estimates are made of the amount
the properties held for/under development that are expected
to realise. These estimates take into consideration
fluctuations of price or cost after the end of the year. Actual
realised amount may differ from estimates, resulting in a
decrease in the net realisable value of these properties held
for/under development and additional write-down may be
required.

4.
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PROJECT INVESTMENT UNDERTAKEN BY
JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

The Group has a 50% equity interest in a jointly controlled
entity, Dazhongli Properties Limited (“Dazhongli”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which is
engaged in the development of certain properties in
Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). In
considering the recoverability of the Group’s loans to
Dazhongli, management takes into consideration the
recoverable amount of the underlying assets of Dazhongli
which is determined by reference to the costs to be incurred
to complete the development of the properties and the future
rental income to be generated therefrom. In this regard,
management considered that no impairment is necessary in
respect of the loans to Dazhongli.

IMPAIRMENT OF AMOUNTS DUE FROM
ASSOCIATES

Included in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 March 2009
is amount due from an associate of HK$1,228.3 million
(2008: HK$1,910.3 million), Tung Chung Station
Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL"), engaging
principally in property development activities (see note 18).
In determining whether an allowance for amounts due from
associates is required, the management takes into
consideration the recoverable amount of the underlying
assets regarding the amount due from an associate and the
likelihood of collection. Specific allowance is only made for
the amount that is unlikely to be collected from the associate.
The carrying value of the amount due from an associate in
excess of the present value of estimated future cash flows of
the recoverable amount is recognised as impairment loss.
Estimated future cash flows are determined based on the
net realisable value of the underlying developed properties
and properties under development, which in turn involves,
inter-alia, considerable analyses of current market price of
properties of a comparable quality and location, construction
costs to be incurred to complete the development and a
forecast of future sales are taken into account by
management in the assessment of the receivable amount.
In this regard, the management is satisfied that no
impairment is considered necessary in respect of the amount
due from an associate at 31 March 2009.
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets through the consolidated income statement
of the Group are valued at HK$741.7 million (2008:
HK$1,759.7 million) at the balance sheet date. These
included unlisted managed investment funds with a value
of HK$344.5 million (2008: HK$1,536.8 million)
representing interests in hedge funds which have been
measured using valuation techniques in which significant
inputs are not based on observable market data. The fair
value of the funds’ net assets attributable to the Group’s
interest in the funds, has been arrived at based on
information supplied by the relevant investment managers
on the financial position of the underlying funds at the latest
available date. Included in these investments are holdings
in certain hedge funds for which redemption has been
suspended by the fund managers indefinitely at the balance
sheet date. These investments are valued at the indicative
net asset values without any adjustment on the receipt of
professional advice by management that such suspension
is common practice adopted by fund managers to manage
substantial redemption so as not to exhaust the liquidity of
the fund and to maintain orderly transactions and
accordingly, such suspensions did not constitute significant
inputs to the determination of the fair value of these
investments at balance sheet date.

DEFERRED TAXATION

As at 31 March 2009, no deferred tax asset was recognised
in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet in relation to the
estimated unused tax losses of HK$442.3 million (2008:
HK$283.9 million) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future taxable profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future taxable profits generated differs
significantly from the expected, a material recognition or
reversal of deferred tax asset may arise, which would be
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the
period in which such recognition takes place.
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Turnover represents the aggregate of the amount of sale
proceeds attributable to the Group derived from property
development, net amounts received and receivable in respect
of sales of goods and services rendered to outside customers,

EXRBERDBESR

LEBREFALAEEREMERRZ
PIiStHENRE - MIMAEPIHEER
KRR 2 U K e MR IR R
BFRERARLEYDEESUA -

securities investment income and rental income from AREBZEEBOTMOT:
property letting during the year. An analysis of the Group’s
turnover is as follows:
2009 2008
—EENE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT HEETT
Sales of properties HEYZE 948.0 1,767.7
Sales of goods HEEm 199.2 217.8
Services rendered TR AR 1,074.2 1,071.8
Rental income Ha A 372.3 369.5
Investment income & A — 2.9
2,593.7 3,429.7
BUSINESS SEGMENTS EF il

The Group’s turnover and results from operations analysed
by principal activity and sales revenue and segment assets
analysed by geographical location are as follows:

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised
into property development, property investment, services
provided, hotel operation, securities investment, healthcare
and manufacturing segments. These divisions are the basis
on which the Group reports its primary segment information.
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Segment information about these operation divisions for the HE_ZEZNF=-A=1+—HILFE
year ended 31 March 2009 is presented below: REXEBDE 2D HERZINMT ¢
Property Property Services Hotel ~ Securities
development  investment provided operation investment  Healthcare Manufacturing ~Eliminations  Consolidated
WERR  MERE  RHBE  EEEE  E3RE BERR gt Eaf Ga
HKS'M HK$'M. HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M
EEAT ABAT  HEAT  EEAR AEAT  EEBT BEER AEAT BEMR
For the year ended 31 March 2009  BZ-EFhE
ZAZtT-RLEE
TURNOVER EXE
External sales HoMEE 948.0 3723 396.7 325.5 - 352.0 199.2 - 2,593.7
Inter-segment sales* HHmEzEE - 56.8 56.8 13 - - - (114.9) -
Total it 948.0 429.1 453.5 326.8 - 352.0 199.2 (114.9) 2,593.7
RESULTS £ |
Segment results** DEES R 390.8 (181.5) 183 339 (403.0) (29.0) (67.3) (237.8)
Unallocated interest income FAEFIEY 18
(Gain on repurchase of BEATAR H@(Z
convertible bonds e 311
Unallocated corporate expenses AARDWER (48.8)
Finance costs HHRER (171.2)
Share of results of associates AMBERAER 179.0 - - - - - - - 179.0
Share of result of AMEHREHEE
jointly controlled entity 5 (0.3) - - - - - - - (03)
Loss before taxation BHnER (246.2)
Taxation A 8.6
Loss for the year EREE (231.6)
* Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the * DEEZHETREREEZ TR
relevant agreements, if any, governing those transactions 5266 GiE (B ET X5
in which the pricing was with reference to prevailing market BRI BETTIES ERESE
price or actual cost incurred, as appropriate. KA (RREAIERME)ETE -
o Segment results have incorporated the non-cash expenses o DERBEEFAZB S EAME

as set out in Other Information of business segments.
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At 31 March 2009 R-BEAEZA=1-H

ASSETS EE

Segment assets NHEE

Interests in and amounts due from B R A2 B3
associates REWEEARE

Interest in and amount due from ~ EFEHEE 2 EX
jointly controlled entity RENARZHEEHE

Total allocated assets BAREESH

Taxation recoverable TRERE

Deferred tax assets ERHAEE

Unallocated corporate assets APRDAEE

Consolidated total assets GEBAE

LIABILITIES gf

Segment liablities HHaE

Taxation payable FERTE

Deferred tax liabilities EEHARE

Unallocated corporate liabiltes ~ AARATER

Consolidated total liablities FeBaE

OTHER INFORMATION EfyEs

Allowance for doubtful debts REERH

Capital additions BREN

Depreciation ik

Release of prepaid lease payments BT E[ &

Loss on change in fair value of RENELNTEZDER
investment properties

Impairment loss recognised in g RERZEED
respect of property, plant and ZRBEE

equipment

Impairment loss recognised in SEEINLERT
respect of held-fo-maturity LHEEE
investments

Impairment loss recognised in FUMHERERT
respect of available-for-sale ZRBEE
investments

Impairment loss recognised in SEERALAAEE
respect of goodwil

Net losses from financial assets ~ RATF(E ARH
at fair value through profitor loss 22 REEZ 358
Net gains from derivative financial T4 4RI &2 0%
instruments
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Property Property Services
development  investment provided
NERE  NRRE  RHERH
HKS'M HKS'M HK$M
BEET  REET  EEET

Hotel Securities
operation  investment
EREE  RERE

HKSM HKS'M
BEAT  REAT

Healthcare Manufacturing  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
ERRE Hi b &8
HKS'M HK$M HKS'M HKS'M
BEFT  BEEL  BEET  BEER

For the year ended 31 March 2008~ BE-FZN\%

ZAZt-ALER
TURNOVER EXE
External sales HoMEE 1,767.7 369.5 3744 380.7 29 316.7 2178 — 3429.7
Inter-segment sales* HHEzEE — 724 2.2 15 — - - (101.1) —
Total a3 1,767.7 4419 4016 382.2 29 316.7 2178 (101.1) 3429.7
RESULTS L |
Segment results** PHEE 7854 829.9 (220) 55.6 49 (208) (128 1,620.2
Unallocated interest income E WY ON 47
Unallocated corporate expenses FARLAER (48.2)
Finance costs B%ER (1932)
Share of results of associates HMBENAEE 3002 - - - - - - 300.2
Share of result of jointly controlled entity 2/ ZEEHIEELE (34.0) — - - - - - (34.0)
Profit before taxation B aRR 16497
Taxation B (3833)
Profit for the year FREF 1,266.4

Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the
relevant agreements, if any, governing those transactions
in which the pricing was with reference to prevailing market
price or actual cost incurred, as appropriate.

** Segment results have incorporated the non-cash expenses
as set out in Other Information of business segments.

* ok

DEEZHEETREREZEFR
SZEBGEME)ET X5
BRI 2RETTIEREREL
KA (REAIBERTE) EFE °

DERBEAARESHAME
BB IR »
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Property Property Services Hotel  Securities
development  investment provided operation investment  Healthcare Manufacturing  Consolidated
WEBE  WERE  REBRE  EEER  BERE BERE HE &8
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BERT  RERT  BEET  BEMT  BEAT  BEAT  REAR BEER
At 31 March 2008 RZZENEZA=1-H
ASSETS EE
Segment assets PHEE 30142 6,478.0 6475 1,732.5 22387 186.5 340.4 146378
Interests in and amounts due fom ~ BEE R Z#E%
associates RESBENRTE 1,288.6 38 — - — 47 - 1297.1
Interest in and amount due from AR EHEEZER
jointly controlled entity REGRAREHEERE 2363.1 - - - - - - 2363.1
Total allocated asses EAREESH 6,665.9 64818 6475 17325 20387 1912 3404 18,298.0
Taxation recoverable TREHE 43
Deferred tax assets ERHEEE 32
Unallocated corporate assets AAEDAEE 106.6
Consolidated total assets LRBiE 184121
LIABILITIES g
Segment liabiliies ABaE 1,201.2 2343 958.4 528 199 436 319 25021
Taxation payable EIHE 101.3
Deferred tax liabilities ERHEEE 5743
Unallocated corporate liabilities KPRATEE 396838
Consolidated total liabiltties GRBaE 7,1865
OTHER INFORMATION EfyEs
Allowance for doubtful debts REERH 0.6 - - - - 53 04 6.3
Capital additions EREN 1227 2236 300 68.8 — 25 47 492.3
Depreciation il 73 128 511 41 — 209 11.0 1482
Release of prepaid lease payments ~ BREERFEL 08 30 05 03 — - 05 5.1
Gain on change in fair value of FENELTERDNE
investment properties — 586.8 — — — — - 586.8
Impairment loss recognised in g RERZEED
respect of property, plant and JRESE
equipment — — 350 — — 0.7 - 357
Impairment loss recognised in AEERA NESE
respect of goodwill — — — — — — 09 09
Net gains from financial assets BATEHAER
at fair value through profitor loss 22 BAE 2 FU - - - - 43 - - 43
Net losses from derivative fTESRIAZFER
financial instruments — — — 8.6 — — — 8.6
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GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

For each of the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008, the
Group’s operations or its underlying operating assets are
located in Hong Kong, South East Asia, North America, PRC
and Australia.

The property development, property investment, services
provided, healthcare and manufacturing activities are carried
out principally in Hong Kong, South East Asia and PRC. Hotel
operation is carried out in South East Asia. The segment
assets of securities investment segment are principally
located in North America.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue by geographical location of customers, irrespective
of the origin of the goods/services:

i & 23 &P

HE _ZTZNFR-_ZTENF=ZAZ=
T—BIEMEFE  AEBEEX
B ERBEEEEMRES R
o~ JdEEM - PBIRIRM o

okt

MEZR  WFEEE - RHRS - 8
BREREXHIENESL  RE
ERPEET  EEEBNREEE
1T EFREDMzOREEETEM
FRIESM -

TREHRAKEZEFMAEMEUE
Eln 2 Wz i BERABEEE

&/ RIS 2 IR -
Revenue by
geographical location
R BUEE Dz W
2009 2008
—EEhF —ZEENF
HK$’'M HK$'M

BEET BEABTT

Hong Kong BE 973.7 2,672.0
South East Asia HEan 1,389.5 490.9
North America =M 39.6 58.7
PRC i 45.1 70.4
Australia SEM 145.8 137.7

2,593.7 3,429.7
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The following table is an analysis of the carrying amount of
segment assets and additions to property, plant and
equipment and investment properties, analysed by the

geographical location in which the assets are located:

Carrying amount of
segment assets

TRIREEMEMBENEE D25
MEEREEMRYE - BFERRER
BREMERNE Z DM

Additions to property,
plant, and equipment and
investment properties

M BERRER

PTHEERTE REMERE
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZhEF —EENF —EZhE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEAETT BEBT BEATT
Hong Kong BB 8,503.5 8,851.0 503.3 358.2
South East Asia REo 2,597.3 2,922.4 48.4 124.8
North America b ZEM 566.2 1,796.1 — 0.3
PRC h 895.9 993.9 14.1 7.2
Australia B 66.0 74.4 0.3 1.8
12,628.9 14,637.8 566.1 492.3
6. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 6. Hf&ZEIWA
2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
HK$’'M HKS$'M
BEBT BEAETT
Other operating income includes H A a2 W A

the followings: BETYEZE
Bank and other interest income R1T R E A A B UL A 19.2 39.3
Gain on repurchase of convertible bonds BBl A A% &5 ~ Wk 31.1 —
Gain on disposal of investment properties HEREYE 2 W 32.1 0.7

Forfeited deposits received for sale of B E WS WER
properties 2B WIE S 23.0 —
Other income H A A 44.5 40.5
149.9 80.5
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MBKEHR
2009 2008
—EZhE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEEBT BEAETT
Interest on T3 @ &EEE 2 F 8
Bank loans wholly repayable HARRAFABEEE
within five years ZIRITER 38.8 30.9
Bank loans wholly repayable HARRAFRBEEEE
over five years ZIRITER 52.8 54.0
Other borrowings wholly repayable HARRAFANBEEE
within five years ZHMEER 6.6 18.8
Convertible bonds — liability component  A[# & EH — AR AFR
wholly repayable within five years THEECBEL 70.9 101.6
169.1 205.3
Less: Amounts included in the cost of W ETARERBRERY
properties held for/under YRR 2 25
development (6.6) (22.2)
162.5 183.1
Bank loans arrangement fees RITERZHER 8.7 10.1
171.2 193.2
8. SHARE OF RESULTS OF 8. ZDIEHMENTEE
ASSOCIATES
The share of the results of associates is analysed as follows: DIEBE AR FEESITWET
2009 2008
—EZhF —EENF
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEER BEBTT
TCSDCL TCSDCL 211.6 2b5.5
Others Hith (32.6) 44.7
179.0 300.2
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9. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. KRBial (B1R) &F
2009 2008
—EZhE —EENF
HK$’'M HK$’|\/|
BEER BEBTT
(Loss) profit before taxation has been B AT (B18) & 7
arrived at after charging (crediting): Bk (Rt A) TFI&FIA
Auditor’s remuneration ZERT B & 5.6 5.4
Cost of inventories and properties GFERMERAERASER
recognised as an expense 815.2 1,031.2
Operating lease rentals in respect of THREFIKELHERS
land and buildings \ 42.5 39.2
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant  HEWME - H= N&E
and equipment Z (Wzs) 1R (2.5) 7.8
Net exchange loss B 54 85 18 % B8 10.7 32.7
Allowance for doubtful debts (note 23) R AR (MT5£23) 7.3 6.3
Staff costs (including directors’ BEIXA (BRESHS)
remuneration) 457.4 443.8
Release of prepaid lease payments FENEEMNRE D 5.0 5.1
Less: Amounts capitalised and included & : AL Rt AZ RS
in properties under development LIk (2.7) (2.9)
2.3 2.2
Depreciation wE
Owned assets BEEEE ) 150.4 147.2
Assets under finance leases BMEBETZEE 1.1 1.0
151.5 148.2
Net rental income under operating KEME 2 HS WA TR
leases on
Investment properties wWEYE (364.9) (361.6)
Other properties HAtn ) 2 (7.4) (7.9)
Less: Outgoings - 20.9 18.1
(351.4) (351.4)
Impairment loss recognised ERRREERE
Property, plant and equipment (note 15)  #1% - W= M a& & (izE15) 16.7 35.7
Goodwill (note 17) e (HE17) 2.6 0.9
Held-to-maturity investments (note 20) 728338 & (f7E20) 7.7 —
Available-for-sale investments (note 20) Al LB &R E (K :E20) 119.4 —
146.4 36.6
Net losses from financial assets/liabilities & B & ZE B EFEE
Net realised losses on financial assets b Q/NSC @.ﬁ‘)\?@ 2 R
at fair value through profit or loss BEECER 2 FER 145.4 —
Net unrealised losses (gains) on financial & A ﬁﬁ)\?ﬁ A
assets at fair value through BERERF
profit or loss B 18 () 133.9 (4.3)
279.3 (4.3)
Net (gains) losses on derivative ?ﬁi@ mIA
financial instruments 2F (a) A (6.3) 8.6
273.0 4.3
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10. TAXATION 10. BB
2009 2008
—EZhE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEEBT BEATT
The credit (charge) comprises: EH () B
Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at RF b at FERB s PR %
16.5% (2008: 17.5%) on the estimated ~ 16.5% (—ZZ /\4F : 17.5%)
assessable profit for the year AR CBEBREH (24.2) (158.7)
Overseas tax calculated at rates prevailing 1% 74 B8 51057 & & /A
in respective jurisdictions ZREEE 2 BINHIA (73.3) (21.3)
(97.5) (180.0)
Deferred taxation (note 27) EEFIE (H5E27)
Current year KEE 87.2 (203.3)
Attributable to a change in tax rate HEEB) RN 18.9 —
106.1 (203.3)
8.6 (383.3)
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been calculated at 16.5% (2008: BBENESH RN FE M ERE R
17.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. MZHEIG 5% (ZEENF

Pursuant to the provisions of the Revenue Bills 2008 enacted
on 26 June 2008, the corporate profits tax rate was reduced
by 1% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment 2008/
2009. The effect of such decrease has been reflected in
measuring the current and deferred tax for the year ended
31 March 2009.

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“New Law"), the tax rate was changed from 33% to 25%
from 1 January 2008. Accordingly, the deferred tax balance
had been calculated using the applicable rate of 25% to
reflect the change in tax rate.

175%) 518 - BRE_ZTTENF A=
+75 B 84 2 (20084 W A IEHI E 22
B3 REMNEREG T\ =
TEENFBRFEREBETHALIYZE

165% - HE - TETZNF=Z/=+—
HILFE 7 B RRERTA - B R
ERABMETHAZTE -

REMBERBES 2 HRIBE AR
AR ZBITREGE -

BEFEEBEEMESH AR (F
A  BEEAEZZEENF—HA—
HAEM33%A25% - At - UJR’
HEEHERBERATE25%E

VA fz B 750 =<
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Under the New Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. No deferred taxation has been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements as PRC
subsidiaries suffer net loss from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The tax credit (charge) for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss) profit before taxation per the consolidated income

statement as follows:

REBEFBEFTL - B

EIRFER - B
AR AER TR A

—ZEENF—A
—H - BETRENE R B FTHREUE
FlZ B BZABANTESNT - A BT
BRARIBZZEZENF—H—HEHSE

AR e B ISR I R

AERRAR R () BiFa KSR
AR AT (B18) m A 2 Rk T

2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
HK$’'M HKS$'M
BEET BEATT
(Loss) profit before taxation B AT (B 18) & 7 (246.2) 1,649.7
Less: Share of results of associates W DI E R RIEE (179.0) (300.2)
Share of result of jointly controlled DEHFIEHERES
entity 0.3 34.0
(Loss) profit before taxation attributable 22 &) K2 £ /& A &)
to the Company and its subsidiaries FE(RFRBLAT (B518) ‘= FI (424.9) 1,383.5
Tax credit (charge) at the domestic BARMFTS & 16.5%
income tax rate of 16.5% (ZZEENF : 17.5%)
(2008: 17.5%) FFECRIBHE R (iﬂ:’,) 70.1 (242.1)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEARMBAZ BB E
tax purpose 24.3 10.1
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for 7N A F171 B 3% 2 i 765 5 £
tax purpose (114.7) (64.5)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERREEBRETE (28.4) (13.4)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FRBERER 2 HIBFHE
recognised 2.1 14.4
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries RN H fth AR R & 48 2
operating in other jurisdictions WEA TEHETHZ?Q% 13.6 (19.1)
Effect of change in tax rate MEEE 25 18.9 —
Tax effect of deductible temporary KRIER A0 TR FFEREZ
differences not recognised MBTE (7.2) (1.3)
Tax effect of land appreciation tax of R EEE s, —FfE A A
a subsidiary operating in PRC L THIRER 2 B8 32.7 (66.6)
Others HAb (2.8) (0.8)
Taxation attributable to the Company ARRIREHBRARFR
and its subsidiaries for the year JE(E IR 8.6 (383.3)
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

1. EEMEREBEREFH

BEZHM<

() DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ () ESHMESHBUT
REMUNERATION ARE AS FOLLOWS:
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve ENZENT=Z& (ZFEEN
(2008: twelve) directors were as follows: F:+ZREESAZHE
mF
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE-EEhF=A=1+—H
IHEE
Cha Cha  Cheung Chung Ho Pak Tang Cha  Wong Cha Ronald Cheng  Cheung  Cheung
Mou Sing ~ Mou Zing Tseung  Sam Tin Ching Moon  MouDaid  May Lung Joseph  KarShun  KinTung ~ Wing Lam
Payson Victor Ming ~ Abraham  Loretta Wah  Johnson  Madeline Arcull Henry Marvin Linus Total
BHR  ZER  RE®  EUR  MRA  BRE  ERE IEEE  ERE  BRA RER RAR it
HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKS'M  HKS'M  HKS'M HKS™M HKS™M HKSM HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKS'M
BE%T EBE®T FRE®n GE®T  FE®n  FERn  FERx  FEBRr AEMr EERT  BERT  BEER  REER
Fees He - 03 - - 0.1 - 0.1 01 0.2 03 03 03 17
Other emoluments Efbie
Salaries and other benefis EeRAMEN 41 45 20 19 0.5 3.2 — — = = = = 162
Performance related incentiie ~ EHE ()
payment (note) 1.0 25 03 0.2 6.0 14 - - - - - - 114
Retirement benefts schemes B /kiB I3t &l
contribution 3 - 0.2 0.2 0.1 - 0.1 - - - - - - 0.6
Total emoluments Hetg 5.1 15 25 2.2 6.6 4.7 0.1 0.1 0.2 03 03 03 29.9
For the year ended 31 March 2008 HE-_ZTT)\F=ZA=+—H
IEFE
(ha Cha  Cheung Chung Ho Pak Tang Cha ~ Wong Cha Ronald Cheng  Cheung  Cheung
MouSing ~ Mou Zing Tseung  SamTin Ching Moon  MouDaid ~ May Lung Joseph ~ KarShun ~ KinTung ~ Wing Lam
Payson Victor Ming  Abraham Loretta Wah  Johnson  Madeline Arcull Henry Marvin Linus Total
e B 2R EOR R YRE  EmE  TERE BHE  gx4 %ER AR &5
HKSM HKS'M HKSM HKSM HKS'M HKSM HKSM HKSM HKS'M HKSM HKSM HKS'M HKSM
EEAT BEAT REAT BERT RERN REER  RERR  REET RBET RBAT BEAT REATL  REAR
Fees [k - 03 - - - - 01 01 02 03 03 03 16
Other emoluments Afthe
Salaries and other benefits EEREMER 34 44 20 19 32 30 - - - - - - 179
Performance related incentive 73 (&)
payment (note) 25 50 09 06 14 20 - - - - - - 124
Retirement benefifs schemes B A5t
contribution ft3 01 02 0.2 01 02 0.2 - - - - - - 10
Total emoluments Hesg 6.0 99 31 26 48 52 01 01 02 03 03 03 29

Note: The performance related incentive payment is
determined with reference to the operating results,
individual performance and comparable market

statistics during the year.
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() EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION ()

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the five highest
paid individuals of the Group included four (2008:
four) executive directors, whose emoluments are AL
disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining
one (2008: one) employee are as follows:

BEMS
BE_TZT

SNF=ZA=1+—H
EFE - AEET R &S
CHEFmOB(ZTEEN
FOR)RBRTES  KE
ZHER EXEE - 5T —%

(ZZENF : —RB)EEZH
o NN
2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
HK$'M HKS$'M
BEBT BEBTT
Salaries and other benefits e REHMEF 2.5 2.4
Performance related incentive 1A R R
payments 1.0 2.0
Retirement benefits schemes RRRE M ET B 5R
contributions 0.1 0.1
3.6 4.5
12. DIVIDENDS 12. K&
2009 2008
—EEAF ZEENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEART BEAT
Final dividend paid for 2008 of HK9 cents  —ZZ/\F 2 IRAKEIK &
(2008: Final dividend paid for 2007 — BRIBI (ZEZN\F
of HK10 cents) per share M_EZLFERRBBE
— ZIR103EL) 121.5 135.0
No special dividend paid for 2008 ZET N\ FWEREFRIRE
(2008: Special dividend paid for 2007 ZEENF  RZETLHF
of HK10 cents per share) EIRFEFRIRE — SR 107(L) — 135.0
No interim dividend paid for 2009 “EENFUEIR B ERE
(2008: Interim dividend paid for 2008 ZEENF  RZEENF
of HK6 cents per share) IR HRE — BR6EL) — 81.0
121.5 351.0
No final dividend was proposed for 2009 ZETNFWEIRNRERE
(2008: HK9 cents per share) (ZZZENF - FRIB) — 121.5
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13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per
share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the

B (&) B2F

ARAEBEBAERE ARG SRE
AR EE (B 18) BN HRE T 58U

13.

Company is based on the following data:

X Pavad
== -
Al > -

2009 2008
—EZhE —ETNF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT BEET
(Loss) earnings (E518) B3
(Loss) earnings for the purpose of STEERER
calculating basic (loss) earnings (B8 &xz
per share (E518) &7 (224.1) 924.8
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BEEESETE
shares: T
Interest on convertible bonds AR ES 2 5B 101.6
Earnings for the purpose of calculating FESREESAT
diluted earnings per share 2 B 7 1,026.4
2009 2008
—EZhEF ZEENF
Number of shares iz &

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating
the basic (loss) earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
relating to convertible bonds

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings per share

No diluted loss per share is presented for 2009 since the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding convertible bonds will B

result in a decrease in loss per share.

sHE SR EA (B8
Bz K

INFEF I8 1,350,274,367  1,350,274,367
ARRESABAEE
BErEZEBR 225,314,665

SHE SRS R T
Z BRI TF R

TERH BT

— ==

1,575,589,032

NF2BREEE
FRRRBITEARREHITZ A

BREFHEHERERED
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REY X
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEBET

FAIR VALUE AFE
At beginning of the year F 1) 5,873.7 5,032.6
Currency realignment B (5.9) 48.9
Additions = 4.2 213.6
Transferred from property, plant and EEBYE  BE
equipment L] 187.4 —
Transferred from prepaid lease payments & B AN HEE K 48.0 —
Disposals & (277.4) (8.2)
Change in fair value recognised in RirE W R R
consolidated income statement 2N EE (462.7) 586.8
At end of the year F U 5,367.3 5,873.7
An analysis of the investment properties of the Group held REZER NEERBEZREMHED
at the balance sheet date is as follows: M
2009 2008
—EEhEF ZTEENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEET
Freehold outside Hong Kong LR BB AN & 2 K A S 190.1 219.0
Long leases outside Hong Kong R EBUIIMbE 2 REFEL 646.4 729.0
Long leases in Hong Kong TR EB 2 REHELD 278.1 524.0
Medium term leases in Hong Kong (note) A& 2 HAFE L) (F15E) 4,252.7 4,401.7

5,367.3 5,873.7
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The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 March 2009 and 2008 has been arrived at on the basis
of valuation carried out by the following independent firms
of qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group
who have appropriate qualifications and recent experiences
in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence
of transaction prices for similar properties and by reference
to net rental income allowing for reversionary income potential
using the applicable market yields for the respective locations
and types of properties as the discount rates.

Location of

Name of valuer investment properties

DTZ Debenham Hong Kong, PRC and
Tie Leung Limited Japan

N&A Appraisal Thailand
Company Limited

The net movement gave rise to a fair value loss of
approximately HK$462.7 million (2008: a fair value gain of
approximately HK$586.8 million) and has been recognised
to the consolidated income statement for the year.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

Note: At 31 March 2009, included in the medium term leases in
Hong Kong is an amount of HK$868.6 million (2008:
HK$898.7 million), representing a jointly controlled asset
which the Group had 50% equity interest.

AEER-_ZEZNFR-_ZTZTN\F=
A=+—HZEEWMEQAFETIIRIA
T@$%l1ﬁﬁ@2ﬁi BgE
EMEMITETHEZEEFE - I
REBE 2 B EGEHATBAE
BEER RSO - ZIGETIF
Bt ERBI RIEE 2 BATS
WatERBIRE - 2FHUMERR
BrzM5EBERSEFHESBARE
FER BB AR 2 T EHETT

REY=
4 {E A & 78 BEZihE
BB RT HE - RE
BRAA PY=E:N
N&A Appraisal B

Company Limited

RSB F RN T EEFERLY
42788 BT (ZTEN\F  AFE
W #E41586. 8B EATT)  CRFARZ
e W RHER

AEBABKEHEEIR MR ERERE
SHIEERTHER G 2 M EERITR
ARFERAGE - Ao BRARD
EIREYE -

Mt RZZETAF=ZA=+—8B &
B2 HIRA T EE868.6H &8
T(ZEEN\F :898.7A8%
7T BRAREEHEES0%MAKE
2 FAFEGIEE
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

162

15. Y% - BMERRE

EQUIPMENT
Furniture, Plant, Ferries,
Commercial fitures  machinery  launches
Freehold  Landand Construction  and leisure  Leasehold and and  and motor
Hotel land  buildings infacilities improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles
properties XA THE  progress BRE  HENE BREE RE-BE BB AW Total
BENE  REiw BF ERIE  RERE #4 e e RAE &3t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BE®T BEMnT  REEEnT  EEBAn  BEEn  BEAT  BEMn  FEAR BEAT BEEER
(note a) (note c)
(Rita) (Biz¥c)
cosT R
At 1 April 2007 e gid
mA—-A 1,178.2 3268 450.1 2489 6117 1400 215.0 432 494.7 3,908.6
Currency realignment EREE 80.4 81 142 37 — 20 79 125 17 1305
Additions AE 517 - 28 124.8 14 334 491 18 137 278.7
Disposals e (12.4) — - - (21.2) (38) (20.3) - 99 (73.6)
At 31 March 2008 RZZTN\E
ZA=t-H 1,2979 3349 467.1 3774 585.9 1716 017 2575 500.2 42442
Currency realignment LT (141.2) (40.6) 33 (3.0) - (25) (96) 26 (1) (1928)
Additions AE 345 — — 395.5 260 376 581 2.0 8.2 561.9
Disposals e (37.6) - (3.6) - - 4.2) (5.7) (03) (9.5) (609)
Transfer Eo 6.0 - 140 (207.5) - - 0.1 — - (187.4)
At 31 March 2009 R-2ENE
ZA=1-H 1,159.6 294.3 480.8 562.4 611.9 202.5 294.6 261.8 497.1 4,365.0
DEPRECIATION AND TERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2007 RZERLE
LA-H 460.2 - 140.2 — 2949 98.2 141.0 2024 3232 1,660.1
Currency realignment LS 217 — 57 - — 06 6.7 109 12 188
Provided for the year TERERE 421 — 16.0 - 16.1 162 305 12 %.1 148.2
Eliminated on disposals HERHH (119 - - - (20.8) 37 (16.2) - 9.2) (61.8)
Impairment loss recognised R FESE
(note b) (Hzb) - - - - - 07 - - 3.0 37
At 31 March 2008 RZZTN\E
ZA=t-H 5141 - 161.9 — 290.2 1120 162.0 2145 3763 1,831.0
Currency realignment EREE (60.2) - 20 - - (18) 8.1) 17 (12) (67.6)
Provided for the year KEERE 411 — 168 - 15.5 4.7 299 1.1 224 1515
Eliminated on disposals HERLH (36.8) - (12) - - (4.0 (4.0) - (9.1) (55.1)
Impairment loss recognised BB EBIE
(note b) (W3kn) - - - - - - - 167 - 167
At 31 March 2009 RZZENE
=A=t—H 458.2 - 179.5 - 305.7 130.9 179.8 234.0 388.4 1,876.5
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 March 2009 RZZENE
=A=t—H 701.4 2943 3013 562.4 306.2 71.6 1148 21.8 108.7 2,488.5
At 31 March 2008 RZZTN\E
Zf=t-H 7838 3349 305.2 3774 29.7 5.6 89.7 430 1239 24132
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Notes:

(a) Owner-occupied leasehold land is included in property, plant
and equipment as the allocations between the land and
buildings elements cannot be made reliably.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2009, the directors
conducted a review of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and determined that certain of its plant,
machinery and equipment were impaired. Impairment loss
of HK$16.7 million (see note 9) was recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The impairment was due
to operating losses in manufacturing operation. The
recoverable amount of the plant, machinery and equipment
was determined based on a value-in-use calculation. For
impairment test purpose, the calculation uses cash flow
projections for manufacturing operation based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering a five-year
period at a discount rate of 7.31%.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the directors
conducted a review of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and determined that the ferries and certain
leasehold improvements were impaired. Impairment loss
of HK$35.0 million and HK$0.7 million (see note 9) was
recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect
of ferries and leasehold improvements of medical clinic
centres respectively. The impairment was due to operating
losses in ferries operation and closure of medical clinic
centres. The recoverable amount of the ferries was
determined based on a value-in-use calculation. For
impairment test purpose, the calculation uses cash flow
projections for ferry operation based on financial budgets
approved by the management covering a five-year period
at a discount rate of 7.25%.

(c) The carrying amounts of the Group’s plant, machinery and
equipment includes an amount of HK$2.3 million (2008:
HK$3.2 million) in respect of assets held under finance
leases.

ltems of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on
a straight line basis, over their estimated useful lives as

follows:
Freehold land No amortisation
Hotel properties 30 — 86 years
Land and building, commercial and

leisure facilities 10 — 40 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 — b years
Plant, machinery and equipment 5 — 15 years
Ferries, launches and motor vehicles 5 — 20 years
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16.

164

The carrying value of properties shown above comprises: EamEZEEERRE
Hotel properties Freehold land Land and buildings
BENE KAEELH THRETF
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
“EENE CZZET\E ZBEAFE —TT)\&  ZBEAfE  CTT)\HE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET REAT BEE#ET BEAT BEET BEATL

Freehold outside Hong Kong  AZFA & 78 bA9Mt &

LKAERE 176.6 197.7 294.3 3349 — —
Long leases outside AR EEA ML E

Hong Kong &3tk 524.8 586.1 = — = —
Medium term leases outside {iZFd & 7 A Mt &

Hong Kong L ERA - - - — 67.3 748
Long leases in Hong Kong IR EE 2 REEY) — - - — 110.0 112.0
Medium term leasesin ~ fURA B 2 Ef 4

Hong Kong — — — — 104.9 %.9
Short leases in Hong Kong IR & 2 12 A 4) — - - — 19.1 215

701.4 783.8 294.3 3349 301.3 305.2

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:

16. ARHHEENARK
ARE Y BAAEMRDE -

2009 2008
—EENE —EE)NF
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBTT BEETT
Leasehold land in Hong Kong NREBZHEELH

Medium term leases fh HRFE 49 109.1 160.6
Short leases k2 HAFE 49 2.5 2.9

Leasehold land outside Hong Kong MRBEBAIIMbE 2 HHE T
Long leases REIEA 15.3 17.3
Medium term leases FRERFE 49 16.2 16.3
143.1 197.1
Leasehold interest in land is released over the terms of the Rtz HERSERABRUEG EE

leases on a straight line basis.

H oo
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17. GOODWILL 17. BE
HK$'M
BEET
COST RE
At 1 April 2007 R_EBEZLFIOMA—H 219
Arising on acquisition of additional HENB AR ESES
interests in subsidiaries 2.1
At 31 March 2008 RIEBZENF=A=+—H 24.0
Arising on acquisition of additional EEWNBARERTEL
interests in a subsidiary 2.6
At 31 March 2009 R-ZZEZARF=RA=+—H 26.6
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 April 2007 R-EBEZLFIOMA—H 13.9
Impairment loss recognised for the year — FEWER 7 MEEE 0.9
At 31 March 2008 RZZEENF=RA=+—H 14.8
Impairment loss recognised for the year — FEWER 7 MEEE 2.6
At 31 March 2009 R-EEARF=ZA=+—H 17.4
CARRYING VALUE IREIE
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEFEAEFE=HA=+—H 9.2
At 31 March 2008 RZBEZENF=A=+—H 9.2

HRBRETNS  BERE_TTAN
FZA=+—HZKHEEI.2AEE

For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying amount
of goodwill as at 31 March 2009 of HK$9.2 million (2008:

HK$9.2 million) has been allocated to the cash generating T(ZEZEN\F 92B8AT)EH
units of a group of companies (“CGU”) of healthcare business EERREEBSBEEAR 2R
segment. SEABM -

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are
disclosed as follows:

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation. For impairment test
purpose, the calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by the management covering
a five-year period and discount rate of 7.00% (2008: 7.25%).
No growth rate is assumed in the calculation. Another key
assumption for the value-in-use calculation is the budgeted
gross margin, which is determined based on the unit’s past
performance and management’s expectation for the market
development.

B BEBLE B RIRUE 2 FHIE R T 3R

=

ReErBEU LS hRER
EBEFEDEETE - SURERAM
5 RIEIENRARSRERA
3 %2 V2 & Pt /R 2 L B 2 B
BIREREEIRET.00% (ZETN\F :
7.25%) 51 & o S E P IU BRERAL( L
RX - m—EEREBEFETEAZE
REERRBEEEN - DHREMZEE
LREEBHMGERZAHETE -
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18.

166

During the year ended 31 March 2009, management of the
Group determines that there is an impairment loss of HK$2.6
million (2008: HK$0.9 million) (see note 9) in respect of
goodwill relating to a subsidiary in manufacturing segment,
recognised in the consolidated income statement. The
impairment is based on the financial status of the subsidiary
as at 31 March 2009.

BE_ZTTNF=A=+—HILF
B AEEERERRE —JABNE

/\ _LB

L=IN

|:|

AIEE 2 REEE

2OEBEIL(ZEZNF  096EB

) (RBEE9) -

=IAN
\IZ‘TD

g &3 2% N AR

R BRABENDREZMNERRN
ETNF=ZA=T—RZHBRRAM

ETE -
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/ 18. & N El 2w, I
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES & N B FOE
2009 2008
—EEBhEF —EBEENE
HK$’'M HK$'M
BHEAT BEBIT
Cost of investment in associates REE R RIEE 2 KA
Listed in Hong Kong REBLE™ 160.2 160.2
Unlisted JEET 24.3 243
Share of post-acquisition profits, FEEWEER S A -
net of dividends received kB USRS B 126.2 162.4
Share of reserves JEAL & 0.3 0.3
311.0 347.2
Amounts due from associates (note 25) & Y B2 N &) 7R IE (M 3525) 1,273.8 1,958.9
Binding obligation to cover its share of JEREEZE A EEETEZ
losses in an associate (note) #IRMEFFE (BT (797.4) (1,009.0)
476.4 949.9
Fair value of a listed investment —HEHEmMEKE AV E 76.0 223.7

Note: The Group is obliged to make good the net deficit of TCSDCL

Bzt : AEEAEDETCSDCLZ FEE

in the proportion to its interest in TCSDCL. At the balance

sheet date, the Group’s obligation in this connection
amounted to HK$797.4 million (2008: HK$1,009.0 million)
and accordingly, the same amount has been offset against

the Group’s advances to TCSDCL.

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March

2009 are set out in note 43.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

LB A E A TCSDCLY HERSE 4
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The summarised financial information in respect of the EEAREEHRE AR L MBERBME
Group’s associates is set out below: AT
2009 2008
—EZhEF ZEENF
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT
Trade and other receivable from B 5 R EAMFER
shareholders f&% R I8 — 13.9
Other assets Hin & E 3,642.2 5,292.7
Total assets BEMRAE 3,642.2 5,306.6
Other payables to shareholders H b FE AR R 3K IE (4.1) (0.3)
Loans from shareholders fE R E (4,204.9) (6,405.5)
Other liabilities EmaE (1,278.6) (1,416.5)
Total liabilities BfERE (5,487.6) (7,822.3)
Net liabilities BEFHE (1,845.4) (2,515.7)
Group’s share of net assets of associates ~ANEBE(LEEE QR EEFE 322.9 356.5
Group’s share of net liabilities of associates 75 B fE (G Bt & N R B (& F 5 (800.0) (1,009.0)
(477.1) (652.5)
Unrealised profits REIR m (9.3) (9.3)
(486.4) (661.8)
Turnover - 3,731.3 2,155.0
Profit for the year NF [ E 623.4 917.7
Group’s share of results of associates REFEERBEARRNFE
for the year (net of unrealised profit of FE (MBRARERER
HK$2.9 million 2OEEBEB T (ZEENF ¢
(2008: HK$1.5 million)) 1.5B8%ET)) 179.0 300.2
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19. INTEREST IN JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITY

168

The Group had 50% equity interest in Dazhongli. Dazhongli

and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli Group”) are engaged in the

development of certain properties in Jingan District,

19.

HEZEHER 2 #ES

AREBR AT BHEAL0% AL
RPBEREMBRAR (TAHEEE])
REHRUNTE LEFLE AT

Shanghai, PRC. 7/
2009 2008
—EBNEF —EENF
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEBT BEATT

Cost of investment in equity shares of G 3E_E T R E A

unlisted jointly controlled entity ERER ZIRERAR 0.1 0.1
Share of reserves (note a) FEAE R (M Ea) 260.0 185.6
Share of post acquisition losses FEAE W B 1% E5 18 (46.0) (45.7)
214.1 140.0
Loans to jointly controlled entity BERTHRZEHIE S 3,906.3 2,209.5
4,120.4 2,349.5

The summarised financial information in respect of Dazhongli

Group is set out below:

AP BEEEZHZMBERMT

2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT
Non-current assets EMENEE
Properties under development ERPYE 6,063.3 3,339.1
Other non-current assets HEm3ERBEE 3.1 35
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 6,066.4 3,342.6
Current assets MBEE
Bank balances and cash RITHESHR RIS 2,371.7 984.3
Other current assets Hi s & E 747.7 549.8
3,119.4 1,534.1
Current liabilities mEAE (945.0) (177.7)
Net current assets FREEE 2,174.4 1,356.4
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTE ARG 8,240.8 4,699.0
Non-current liability EREBAE
Loans from shareholders fERE K (7,812.6) (4,419.0)
Net assets (note b) FEE (7EDb) 428.2 280.0
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For the year
ended 31 March
BE=BA=+—HLFE

2009 2008
—EEAF —EENF
HK$’'M HK$'M

BEET BEBET

Income WA 70.4 9.8
Expenses g (71.0) (77.8)
Loss for the year (note b) RFEEE (fi5Eb) (0.6) (68.0)

Notes: (a) The increase in share of reserves represents
exchange gains on translation during the year.

(b) The Group has 50% equity interest in Dazhongli
Group, where the Group’s share of net assets and
share of losses for the year which are accounted for
using the equity method are HK$214.1 million
(2008: HK$140.0 million) and HK$0.3 million
(2008: HK$34.0 million) respectively.

Further advances of HK$1,696.8 million (2008: HK$1,176.8
million) were made by the Group to the jointly controlled
entity to finance its share of development expenditure.

The loans to jointly controlled entity are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayments. The
Group has no intention to exercise its right to demand
repayment of its loans to Dazhongli Group within the next
twelve months from the balance sheet date. The directors
believe the settlement of the loans to Dazhongli Group is not
likely to occur in the foreseeable future as they are, in
substance, a part of the Group’s net investment in Dazhongli
Group as the proceeds of the loans have been substantially
used by Dazhongli to inject as registered capital into its PRC
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-
current asset and included in the Group’s interest in jointly
controlled entity.

The Group’s share of the estimated capital expenditure based
on the current plans for development is included under the
amount of capital commitments as disclosed in note 40.

MiEE : (a) EEFEEEMEEFANE
THEZE R W -

(b)) AEEEBEATFEEBEZ
50% M ARERS - Mk
FETEAREEAEEETF
BERDEFEEEEB A
21418 8BB L (ZEZEN
F : 140.08 &%) %0.3
HEABIL(ZEZ )N\ F
34.0HEET) °

AREBRMAERZEHEREE PR
1,696.8B BB T (ZEZFN\F :
1,176.8B 8%  EAE MG 2%
EBRESZcES -

fﬁfk HAZEHERIEEARR
Tﬁliﬁ#\ﬁﬁ REBRGER
Elt.ﬂ‘ﬂi??(‘f‘ 8 A AT
Mo BRKRKPBEEEE ﬁ{ﬁ%zé
Ao BRARFEEBHERFAF IR
EAERENE R ﬂ1¢ﬁﬁ£ﬂﬁ§$ :
EEREATEEERBTERAIRR
REBETZENR  WZEREAR
SERRPEEEEHHIREFE -
Hit - BEARIBES RIERBEEL
AREERNHRAZEHER 2 s -

REBZRRBRITERTEDMGE 2
STEARFE B AN TA0FTIETEZE
AAEER o
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20.

170

INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND

20. EHRBRABHFZRE

EQUITY SECURITIES
2009 2008
—EZ2hE ZTEENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT BEATT
Held-to-maturity investments BEIHEE
Unlisted debt securities (note a) ELEMEBZS (Mista)
Current T ED 23.7 —
Non-current FEED 21.8 23.3
45.5 23.3
Available-for-sale financial assets AP ESREE
Equity securities &N
Listed, at fair value (note b) W AT E (M) 107.3 162.5
Unlisted, at fair value (note c) JEET - BAFE BisEc) 1.5 11.5
108.8 174.0
Financial assets at fair value through BAFER AR (BE
profit or loss (held for trading) BE)ZERMEE
Equity securities: RAES
Listed equity securities (note b) ERAES (ko)
— issued by banks and other — BRITREAL
financial institutions B ISR 31T — 0.3
— issued by corporate entities — HAEERERET 0.2 1.8
Unlisted managed investment funds FLEMERKERES
(note d) (M sEd) 344.5 1,536.8
344.7 1,538.9
Debt securities and managed bond BEREHENERES
portfolios: wEREG
Unlisted managed bond portfolios FLEMERBERKE
(note e) Ha (MiTe) 397.0 220.8
Total financial assets at fair value through XA FEzF AEBFZ
profit or loss TREEBE 741.7 1,759.7
Market value of listed equity securities: EFRAEScTE :
Listed in Hong Kong REELT 103.4 157.0
Listed overseas g ETH 4.1 7.6
107.5 164.6
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Notes:

NFZA=+—HILFE

Held-to-maturity debt securities are measured at amortised
cost less any impairment losses. The weighted average
effective interest rate is 5.7% (2008: 7.9%) per annum.

CEX

SEBHEREFIREHEK AR
WA AR EE BT = - N1
EBRFNEES 7% (ZEE)\F :
7.9%) °

Details of the maturity of held-to-maturity debt securities at REER  BEREBEBESHZ
the balance sheet date are as follows: BIEAFFEMT
2009 2008
—EENE —EE)NF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBT
Mature in: NN B
2009 —ZEZTNF 9.6 —
2010 —E-ZF 14.1 —
2013 —E—=F 15.6 —
2014 T -4 — 7.7%
2018 —N\FE 6.2 15.6**
45.5 23.3
* During the year ended 31 March 2009, the issuer * HE_ZTZAF=A=+
of a long-term note due in 2014 defaulted in its —RHIFE —/mHR=F

**

interest payments. An impairment loss of HK$7.7
million (2008: nil) was recognised in the
consolidated income statement in this connection
(see note 9).

During the year ended 31 March 2009, a long-term
note due in 2018 was redeemed prior to maturity
on the exercise of the early redemption right by the
issuer. The Group’s holding of this note brought
forward from prior years in the amount of HK$15.6
million was thus realised at par during the year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 4 &
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—N\FRHzRHAEER
BT ATTREIERERER
MR B H A ERER - K&
BN AEFEAEE Z 1D
REFRAEISARET
RENZEEZE -

171



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S 05 o Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

172

The fair values of all listed securities are determined by
reference to the quoted market bid price available on the
relevant exchanges. During the year ended 31 March 2009,
the market price of the equity securities classified under
available-for-sale financial assets declined significantly and
the management considered an impairment was required.
An impairment loss of HK$110.2 million (2008: nil) (see
note 9) was recognised in the consolidated income
statement, representing an amount of HK$3.1 million (2008:
nil) recycled from the equity into the consolidated income
statement and an amount of HK$107.1 million (2008: nil)
arising during the year.

The movement in the listed equity securities included under
available-for-sale financial assets during the year ended 31

B LtMESZAFEHLER
MRS FETRAEER 2 TH S
BET BHEZE_ZTEZThF=A=
+—HRLEFE  DEATHLEE
CREEZRATSF ZTEKNR
T EERERETIERBE -
REAKRERCERRBRESIE
1102E 8B T (ZETN\F « &)
(RH5E9) mb?ﬁé%ﬁﬁfﬁﬁéi,m
AR RZEFEIIFE BT (=
TNF ﬁ)&ﬁm%lﬂzgaﬁ
107.188B T (ZEEN\F -
) o

AP ESREEANZ ETERA
BEREE-_ZTAEFE=A=7

March 2009 are as follows: —BIEFE2EESHNT -
HK$'M
BEBTT
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZZEENFNA—HE 162.5
Change in fair value recognised in equity  FRAIEER
during the year 2R EEE 51.9
Impairment loss recognised REZEWERERZ
in consolidated income statement BB 1R (107.1)
Balance at 31 March 2009 RZZEENF=A=+—H&H 107.3
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(c)

Unlisted equity securities include two investments in private
equities are as follows:

0]

(ii)

A direct investment in preferred shares of a private
company at nil (2008:HK$9.2 million) which have
been measured using valuation technigques in which
any significant input is not based on observable
market data. An impairment loss of HK$9.2 million
(2008: nil) (see note 9) is recognised during the
year ended 31 March 2009 having regard to the
financial position of the relevant company.

An investment in a venture capital fund at HK$1.5
million (2008: HK$2.3 million) which have been
measured using valuation techniques in which all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly based on
observable market data.

These investments represent funds placed in prior years
with a fund manager, who is a related party (see note 44),
for the purpose of making investments primarily on a joint
basis with funds of the fund manager in a number of hedge

funds.

During the year, the Group served notice to the fund
manager to liquidate the Group’s share of the investment
portfolio in accordance with the terms of the fund
management agreement and the terms of the underlying
hedge funds. The balance at 31 March 2009 represents
investments which have not been realised at that date.

(c)

FELEMBRAESBRETIMER
FABRAKZZE

(M —HERMARREERZ
EERETAT(ZETN
F:9288BT) 0 TIE
RfEERMETHE - ZAX
lih 2 EXB A2 B
REBFABERMSEEME
EoHEZZTNFZ=R
=tT-BLEFER 25
GElE NI B 3 VR
BIEEIE.2ERA T (=
ZTENF E) (B
9) °

(i —HRAREREEZE
BE15A8AT(ZEEN
Fr238AT) c JHE
RfEEXRMEHE - ZIBAK
MA2ERBAZHAE
EARERBEAERTS
BURMETE -

LEREBENETFEFRA — %
EeREBEZES  BRA—HHE
AT (RKfFE44)  TZEMEH
E2KERSZEHHESIERR
BE -

FR - AEEAZBESLIEX
EEA NEBESEERH
IER R BRRERES 2GR
REARKREHAEZNERR -
RN—ETZNFE=ZA=+—B 2%
BIEZAMKRER LA -
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174

The movement in the portfolio in the year ended 31 March
2009 are as follows:

ERBE_ZEZENF=R=+

—Etifz AEHENTS ¢

HK$'M
BEBT
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZZEZN\FMNA—B#H&H 1,536.8
Additions during the year FRIEN 39.0
Proceeds from disposals & TS KT (959.8)
Realised losses recognised FARERE 1451 SRR
in the consolidated income ZE“EE}%TE
statement during the year (145.0)
Unrealised losses recognised FARGZERERER
in the consolidated income < KRB EE
statement during the year (126.5)
Balance at 31 March 2009 RZEZNF=ZA=+—H&H#% 344.5

Due to the nature of the investment, the fair values of the
investments in the portfolio at 31 March 2009 have been
determined using valuation techniques in which significant
inputs are not based on observable market data.

Details of investments which have not been realised at

Sﬂﬁﬁxﬁ\&%@ﬁi AR
R-ZBZNF=A=+—HZA
11571@?@15@%‘21’[1.#% ° %R
Biirh 2 EXW A2 IFRIE

ABEMSRIENEE

o

R-ZEZAFE=A=+—HHxK

31 March 2009 represent the followings: IR IWEFIBNT
HK$'M
BEET
— Investment expected to be — BEBER+ZEARZERZKE
realised within twelve months 176.4
— Investment expected to be — BNt ZEARERZWE"
realised after twelve months* 83.4
— Investment for which redemption — RESHEAESKE
has been suspended indefinitely E?ﬂiﬁ HE=ER R E
at the balance sheet date by the
underlying fund managers** 84.7
344.5
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Up to 17 July 2009, being the latest practical date prior to
the adoption of these financial statements by the Board of
Directors, the status of realisation of these investments was

BEE_ZTTAFELAT LR FIEEER
ML ER BRI ZRRERTITA
H)  ZEREZER/MRRWT :

as follows:
Fair value at
Fair value at 31 March 2009
31 March 2009 of items
of items not yet
redeemed up to redeemed at
17 July 2009 Realised 17 July 2009
BE-EENE gain (loss) | R-ZEZRE
Fair value at tA+tR subsequently tAttH
31 March 2009 EEEER recognised | EREEEE
R-EENE R-BENE Proceeds on HERRz | R-ZERE
=h=1-AH =h=1-H redemption BERWE | =ZA=1-H
2DV 2OV BEFERE (&8) ZAYE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEAT BEBT BEAT BB
Investment expected to be BERT-EAR
realised within twelve months BRIRE 176.4 106.0 108.4 24 70.4
Investment for which redemption ~ REEBEEESERE
has been suspended indefinitely BERBEEER RE
at the balance sheet date by
the underlying fund managers** 84.7 475 47.1 (0.4) 37.2
Subtotal N 261.1 1535 155.5 2.0 107.6
Investment expected to be BHERNZEA%R
realised after twelve months BRIRE 83.4 834
Total 5t 3445 191.0
* The amount includes investments in hedge funds * ZeHBEREREHEe 2
which have lock up periods till May 2010 to March RE BEEEHEE-F
2012. During the year, the Group served notice to —ZEFRAE-ZT—=F
the fund manager to liquidate the Group’s =R -FRA  AEERE
investment portfolio. SRBERBMERAE
B EHE -
o The amount includes hedge funds which were o ZeRBERZZETNF
suspended for redemption (commonly known as ZA=+—HEEFEL
“gated funds”) as at 31 March 2009 and segregated ZHHES ([BRREL])
illiquid assets in which certain underlying fund METHBESSERE
managers have set aside from the main asset pool EEEMLEEB BT
of the funds (common known as “side pocket mBEEE CEEREAA
funds”) as at 31 March 2009 of approximately RE®])DRHE.1EE
HK$69.1 million and HK$15.6 million respectively. BT R15.6BEBIT o 1
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, an aggregate HEBHE ZERETE
amount of the gated funds of HK$66.3 million has ©R66.3EEBLERE
been resumed for redemption and an amount of A TR B B B e A S
HK$6.1 million of the side pocket funds was ®2Z61BERBTT °
redeemed.
(e) Unlisted managed bond portfolios comprise two liquidity (e) FEETMEBGEHESBIEATH

funds and a bond fund as follows:

(i)

The two liquidity funds are managed by global
financial institutions investing in time deposits,
repurchase agreements, commercial papers, notes
or bonds issued by foreign governments, quasi-
government bodies and corporations, and
certificates of deposits with financial institutions. The
underlying financial assets are valued at quoted
market prices in the open market and/or the
observable prices of comparable investments.
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(ii) The discretionary bond portfolio is managed by a
licensed financial advisor and administered by an
international financial institution. The fund invests
in short to medium term notes or bonds issued by
financial institutions and foreign corporations. Fair
values of the investments are ascertained from
quoted market prices over-the-counter.

21. OTHER ASSETS

(i)  HEZREFAES BFFHE
MBEEERERBEES
BBBATITRER - Z
EeREASBBEBEMI
BOAEHRTZEEPHER
BHES  BFRAREZA
FAEHE S N T 5 3R (B R
I'_E o

21. Hh&E=E

2009 2008

—EEhF —ZEENF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEERT BEATT

Mortgage instalment receivables (note a)  FEURIZIB 7 BA4E =% (Pt 7%a) 26.9 38.7

Long term deposits with banks (note b) R1T 2 REAGF K (M EED) 31.3 54.6

Option fee receivable (note c) JEWREERES (Fiskc) 7.5 7.4
Unlisted membership debentures and FLEmMEEEFREMEE -

other assets, net of impairment loss HNEBRREESE 28.3 26.7

94.0 127.4

Notes:

The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing
provided to buyers of development properties of the Group.
The amounts bear interest at prime rate minus 1% and are
receivable by instalments over a period of not more than
20 years from the sale of the relevant flats. The receivables
are secured by a second mortgage over the properties. The
portion of mortgage instalment receivables due within one
year of HK$1.7 million (2008: HK$2.5 million) is included
as trade receivables in current assets.

At 31 March 2009, the long term deposits of HK$7.9 million
(2008: 31.2 million) carry fixed interest at 2.3% (2008:
2.6%) per annum subjected to the term and conditions of
deposit contracts and will mature in 2011 (2008: 2013).
The remaining long term deposits of HK$23.4 million (2008:
HK$23.4 million) carry variable interest at 6.3% (2008:
3.6%) per annum subjected to the terms and conditions of
deposit contracts and will mature in 2015 (2008: 2015).
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BEET(CETN\F 25088
T ERAERBEEZEKE S

R_ZEENF=ZA=+—8" E
HER79OB8AT (ST NF
31.2BEBIL) H23% (ZEEN
F:2.6%) FHEFAERETEFE
WARZTFRE N 2GR RAGHEFT
BREEBR-ZZ——F (ZZFZN
F:ZF—=F) 5 - HBRKH
BFHR23ABEBT(ZTTNEF -
23.4EBEIT) 126.3% (ZFEN
F :3.6%) FMEFEZEBNE
WASZTFRE N NG RAGHEFR
HERBER-_ZE—HE(ZEEN
F T —hHF)RE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S 05 o Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

22,

(c) This represents an option fee of HK$14.0 million paid by
the Group to a related party, Castro Valley Properties, Inc.
(“CVPI") in 1996 pursuant to a proposed property project
which was subsequently not proceeded with.

Under the terms of the termination agreement entered into
in 1997, the amount is repayable by CVPI to the Group in
instalments, the amount of each instalment being based
on the gross income of CVPI each year with interest accruing
at 1% per annum on the outstanding balance. Based on
information provided by CVPI, the amount is expected to
be fully repaid by 2031.

The balance outstanding at 31 March 2009 represents (a)
the fair value of the amount receivable determined using
the discount rate applicable at the date of inception of
4.51% per annum (‘the adjusted outstanding principal”)
and (b) less repayments received attributable to the
settlement of the adjusted outstanding principal since that
date.

Amounts received from CVPI are recognised as interest
income based on the discount rate of 4.51% per annum on
the outstanding adjusted principal and the balance is
attributable to settlement of the adjusted outstanding
principal.

CVPI is a related party of a trust, the discretionary objects
of which include the issue of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late
Chairman of the Company and some of them are directors
of the Company.

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s
mortgage instalment receivables, long term deposits with
bank and option fee receivable at the balance sheet date
approximates their corresponding fair values.

WIBEAEER —NLNLANFERIE
—HEEMEEE MR —AEE
A Castro Valley Properties, Inc.
(TCVPI) ZH14.0B8E BT 2R
BHEEZ ZEBEEGTEEE
T o

BIER—NAEFET L2 &I
BV CVPIED B AEE
EERE BSHESBERECYPIE
FRWAGTELHAEE ZRA
BEFHE1%FE - RIBECVPHRH
2B EHZEFEER_Z
= —FEEEE -

RZZFENF=A=+—HHAK
a;&z LeR B (a)E AR A HE
RN REELBI%EETF 2 FEW
CHAANFE(KAREKEER
1) (B EBZEHRERMNK
FAREREEASTEENZB W

ECVPIR AN 2 & B IR B R EE L
RBERSEEIRTFA51 %R K
RBFEWA - MBBESENE
HEREERSE -

CVPIR—H({Ert2REAL  H
HEHRBEEARRCHEIRE
BRELHRZE  RELD/E
NGRS

EERR REER KRB zZEK
m\ o - RT Eﬁﬂﬁ K% e R ﬁ
BEZREEREERATERS

INVENTORIES 22. 78
2009 2008
—EZhE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAR BEBIT
Consumables 2 53.5 50.8
Raw materials JR 10.2 10.9
Work in progress F 2K 3.2 3.3
Finished goods 2K o 78.2 87.2
145.1 152.2
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23.

178

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit period allowed by the Group to its customers is
dependent on the general practice in the industry concerned.
For property sales, sales terms vary for each property project
and are determined with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. Sale of properties are normally completed upon
the execution of legally binding, unconditional and
irrevocable contracts and the sale prices are usually fully
paid when the properties are assigned to the purchasers.
Deferred payment terms are sometimes offered to purchasers
at a premium. Property rentals are receivable in advance.
Payments for healthcare, clubs and hotel services are
receivable on demand. The general credit terms allowed for
customers of manufactured goods range from 30 to 90 days.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at the
balance sheet date:

B E 5 iR K

REEA %EI%)E'ZGTHH%E%E%W
—RIEDIEE - StEHEM S -
1%%‘@#1%%@ BEmME  WiREE
RMAETE - MEHEE—MNELA
ERNRS - BEGRAAEEESR
B EEAAENMEEETE
FREEHEN - ERAELER K
HEREXNERE  WEHRSEAHNT L
BERERE gFRBEERB2E
AR BREFRNRF T - SRl
BTEPH—REEHHI0EI0OXRT

=

REEE - ERESERZ BRI
m

2009 2008

—EZ2hE —ETNF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEERT BEET

Not yet due NHAREIH 219.0 592.6
Overdue: EHR

0 — 60 days 0—60XK 56.5 64.5

61 — 90 days 61—90K 3.5 8.4

Over 90 days B EI0K 7.3 8.5

286.3 674.0

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are
receivables with aggregate carrying amount of HK$67.3
million (2008: HK$81.4 million) which are past due at the
reporting date for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7
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The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue
beyond 120 days because historical experience is such that
receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are generally
not recoverable. Management closely monitors the credit
quality of trade and other receivables and considers the trade
and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
to be of a good credit quality.

AEBEHAHEE 120K 2 UK
TEREEE BB RNREBEL
B ZERHEE120K 2 BIKRIE
—RETARE - EREEERE
WE SRR EMERFIRZEEE
W B 5 BN B R OB R R A
ZIEEEX -

MOVEMENT IN THE ALLOWANCE FOR REIRE B &
DOUBTFUL DEBTS
2009 2008
—EEhF —ZEENF
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEERT BEBT
Balance at beginning of the year FH) 2 5k 15.2 8.9
Impairment loss recognised on receivables FEU ZRIBRER 2 BB E B
(note 9) (FI5E9) 7.3 6.3
Amounts recovered during the year F AW E 2 FIB (0.7) 0.7
Amounts written off as uncollectible 1 85 /& R Bl 2 RIE (0.9) —
Currency realignment Bk AR (1.1) 0.7
Balance at end of the year FIR 2 19.8 15.2

The fair values of the Group’s trade and other receivables at
31 March 2009 approximate the corresponding carrying
amounts due to relatively short-term maturity.
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24.

25.

180

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER
DEVELOPMENT

24.

TREBRETYE

2009 2008
—EEhEF —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBTT BEBIT
Discovery Bay development project MREERIER 811.2 760.5
Other properties held for/under EBBINEMEFERE
development outside Hong Kong BERPYE 362.1 736.4
1,173.3 1,496.9
The carrying value of properties shown ENIRZMERBERE
above comprise:
Freehold KA KM 362.1 736.4
Medium term leases F ERAE A 811.2 760.5
1,173.3 1,496.9

At the balance sheet date, total borrowing costs capitalised
in the properties held for/under development were HK$133.4
million (2008: HK$148.8 million).

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s
sale proceeds held by stakeholders, deposits, other financial
assets, amount due from jointly controlled entity and pledged
bank deposits to secure short-term bank loans at the balance
sheet date approximate their corresponding fair value due
to relatively short-term maturity.

Included in other financial assets is an amount of HK$0.3
million (2008: nil) which relates to derivative financial
instruments. Details of the derivative financial instruments
are set out in note 28.

The pledged bank deposits and bank deposits carry interest
at market rates.

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and have no fixed repayment terms. The directors
expected the amounts will be settled within twelve months from
the balance sheet date and the carrying values approximate
their fair values due to relatively short-term maturity.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISIONAND 26. ENEZERH  BER

ACCRUED CHARGES et & M
Included in trade payables, provision and accrued charges ENESENR BENREFERATE
are trade payables of HK$120.9 million (2008: HK$117.0 REENEZESEREKI2096EBT(ZZ
million), an aged analysis of which is as follows: TN\F 117088871 F HERRS

T

2009 2008
—ZEEhEF ZTENF
HK$'M HK$'M

BHEBT BEBT

Not yet due HAREIH 84.7 75.4
Overdue: EHR
0 — 60 days 0— 60X 27.2 30.8
61 — 90 days 61 — 90K 2.0 0.8
Over 90 days B EI0K 7.0 10.0
120.9 117.0
The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. KEEm FHEEBARIOK -
The directors consider the carrying amount of trade payables BEERA NEER  ARENES
at the balance sheet date approximate their corresponding BRR B HREEERE - HE 2 RE
fair value due to relatively short-term maturity. EEEMEEAFERS
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The trade payables, provision and accrued charges has
included provisions for certain construction obligations of
HK$310.0 million (2008: HK$322.9 million). In the course
of the property development activities, the Group is obliged
to construct certain common or public facilities within the
development projects in accordance with the development
plans approved by the relevant authorities. Provision for such
construction costs has been made when a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of this obligation and the details
of the movement of the provision are set out below.

RENEZER  BELEERERE
shE TREAEMERHE310.088
BIE(ZTFN\F 32298878
TT) c AEBEETHERBRRAS 2B
B ARBEBE Rk BRT
g RNERFEEAREZETAHIA
R o Bt AEREER AT IR
AEZ RBIER A SEGERR - HRE
AR R - LLRRR 2B
FEEIMT o

HK$'M

HEETT

Balance at 1 April 2007 RZZEE+FOA—B &8 318.4
Additions NE 23.8
Utilised during the year FAEHA (19.3)
Balance at 31 March 2008 RIBEZENF=ZA=FT—HBH &% 322.9
Utilised during the year FREA (12.9)
Balance at 31 March 2009 R-SBEENFE=ZRA=+T—HZ&& 310.0
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27. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets

recognised and movements thereon during the current and

27.

i 3E B 1]

BT EEERE (B ) AENR
HERBITRBERREE 2 BHM

prior reporting years: ™
Fair value
change of
Accelerated investment Others
tax  properties Tax Hit
depreciation RENE losses (note a) Total
MEHERE LTELD REFE (Fiika) @t
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEATL BEATL BEAT BEAT

At 1 April 2007 e e g (155.4) (242.1) 283 15.2 (354.0)

Currency realignment AEEE (4.3) (8.4) 05 — (12.2)

(Charge) credit to consolidated NE)FAREE

income statement for the year GalaR

(note b) (fizEb) (31.2) (169.2) 0.7 (3.6) (203.3)
Charge o investment revaluation ~ MEREEMfHE

reserve — — — (1.6) (1.6)

At 31 March 2008 RZEENF=A=1+—H (190.9) (419.7) 29.5 10.0 (571.1)

Currency realignment ERAE 31 (4.6) - — (15)

Effect on change in tax rate REEHop2 94 117 (16) (0.6) 189

(Charge) credit to consolidated (1B AXER

income statement for the year RAlaE

(note b) (fizEb) (20.7) 116.0 9.8) 1.7 87.2
Credit to investment revaluation it ARZ B GE

reserve — — — 0.8 0.8

At 31 March 2009 RZBEAFE=A=1-H (199.1) (296.6) 18.1 11.9 (465.7)

Notes: Mz -

(@)  These mainly represent net deferred tax assets recognised (a) HEERTETYHEERIEBEE
in relation to unrealised profit of certain property REBENERZBELEFIEE
development projects. EEVFEE o

(b)  The (charge) credit in consolidated income statement for (b) EEMELNFESEHEEZ (0

the year arising from fair value change of investment
properties comprises amounts relating to investment
properties located in Hong Kong of 2009: HK$58.7 million
(2008: HK$48.9 million) and outside Hong Kong of 2009:
HK$57.3 million (2008: HK$120.3 million) respectively.
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184

For the purposes of balance sheet presentation, certain
deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The following

MEREEREBERME S TELH
BREENBBECRAREEZ @5 HE
HiH o NN SRR BB ELTH

is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for RS (KB DT -
financial reporting purposes:

2009 2008
—SENE —TINF
HK$’'M HK$'M
BHEBT BBET
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAR (468.4) (574.3)
Deferred tax assets BEEFRIIEEE 2.7 3.2
(465.7) (571.1)

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$552.0 million (2008: HK$452.5 million) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$109.7 million
(2008: HK$168.6 million) of such losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$442.3 million (2008: HK$283.9 million) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2009 are losses of
approximately HK$47.1 million (2008: HK$8.3 million) that
will expire in 2013. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$51.0 million (2008: HK$7.4
million). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

REER AEERFATEEBEAR
552 0B BB (ZEZENF 1 4525
BEBL)  TAREKERIEF
AREEDHEFRHI09.78EET (=
TTNF : 168.6BBEL) BEER
EEFIBEE - W HEBLEAEEA42.3
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%E;EIJ%EX/MIJX/J?% c BRFAZEZT AN
FZA=T+—HAERBIESE 2E
BAEBR-_ZE—=F3HEBEY
47.1B8ABT(ZZTEEN\F : 8388
HIT) o EAhESE T &R 4

REER  AEEZAINRERESE
R5LOBEAT(ZEZENF : 748
BB c WENZSINMRERZE
EHREERIBEEE REARELRE
JERB R M AT AR AT R E R =
B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S 05 o Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

28. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 28. fTE€®M I A
INSTRUMENTS
2009 2008
“EENE —TINF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
&E 2 BE =0
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEBET BEBET BEETL BEET

Foreign currency swap and FREE NV

forward contracts in net BEREHAYD

settlement (notes 25 and 32)  (PEE25%32) 0.3 0.1 — 7.4
Major terms of the foreign currency swap and forward INERBREREN 2 EEHERN
contracts are as follows: Nk
Notional amount Maturity date Exchange rates
H{E ZE A fE=x

31 March 2009
—EZEhE=HA=+—H
Exchange of SGD2,915,825 into

USD1,934,340.59 20 January 2010 USD1 to SGD1.5074
A2,915,825% 7T i{,1,934,340.593€ 7T —E-TF—-HF_-+H 15T 5, 1.50743% 7T

Exchange of THB143,600,000 into

USD4,000,000 29 January 2010 USD1 to THB35.90
A 143,600,000 # .4,000,000% 7T —E-—FTF—F -+ NH 13 7T %.35.90%F £k

31 March 2008
—EENF=ZA=+—H
Exchange of THB262,860,000 into

UsD7,800,000 31 July 2008 USD1 to THB33.70
A 262,860,000%= # },7,800,000% 7T —EENFtLtRA=+—H 1370 H.33. 70k %

Exchange of THB143,600,000 into

USD4,000,000 29 January 2010 USD1 to THB35.90
LA 143,600,000% &k i%.4,000,000% 7T —E-ZEF—A=-+NH 1370 7.35.90% &k
The above derivatives were measured at fair value at each FTETEEBREARPERRE
balance sheet date by using quoted forward exchange rates N EHBA LR B MR 2 FERE
and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching FISMZEthiy  RNEEERZRATF
maturities of the contracts. BEfE -
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29.

186

BANK LOANS 29. SRITER
2009 2008
—EZhE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEEBT BEBT
Bank loans RITER 3,382.1 2,357.6
Less: Amount due within one year B ETARBBEZ —FA
included under current liabilities FHeRE (1,021.5) (596.3)
Amount due after one year —FB e 2,360.6 1,761.3
Bank loans are repayable: RITEFART 2
On demand or within one year BERKY—FRA 1,021.5 596.3
Between one to two years —FREMFNA 0.6 63.1
Between two to five years MEBRERAFNA 2,360.0 1,698.2
3,382.1 2,357.6
Secured I 150.5 257.4
Unsecured EiS L 3,231.6 2,100.2
3,382.1 2,357.6

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s bank borrowings of HK$22.7
million (2008: HK$12.4 million) carry fixed interest at 5.3%
(2008: 8.1%) per annum. The Group’s remaining bank
borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which carry interest
at an average margin of 0.35% (2008: 0.38%) plus Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") or other relevant
interbank offer rates.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7
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In respect of a bank loan with a carrying amount of HK$870.0
million as at 31 March 2009, the Group was unable to meet
the interest coverage ratio as required by the lender. On
discovery of the breach, the directors of the Company
informed the lender and obtained a confirmation on its
willingness to consider a renegotiation of the interest cover.
Until the renegotiation is completed and the lender gives a
waiver on the said covenant, the loan is classified as current
liability in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2009 in accordance with HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements.

The directors of the Company believe that alternative sources
of finance are available and sufficient for the continuing
operations of the Group in case the lender demands for an
immediate repayment of the loan.

Up to the date when the consolidated financial statements
are issued, the directors of the Company are confident that
the negotiations with the lender will come to a successful
close.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings
denominated in foreign currencies, other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities, is as follows:

RN _ZEENF=A=+—HEKAE
B870.0EB BT RITERME -
REEREFAERTEEZFEE
EbE o ERMBRETHE - AQF
EERANBERFREEBREEE R
BVERNEEEZE AT - HRBREE
SEHEABIR M BHRER L] -
ZERRZEENF=A=+—H1It
FEZREVMBRENFEARDE
& BEEEKEFNERALL MEXK
FEHTLRARHE R -

ARBESRIE - WERD ERAE
EEABENR  SUESEMETRE
ZRERRENAER 2 FELE -

BEETEGEUBRRZBHAL -
ARRIEFHEREMREFTTTER
MBLEEER -

AEBERITEEZREELFFESE
ERZEEEHER2INESEN

-

2009 2008
—BENEF —ET)NF

Singapore dollar (million) ¥ (B&T)

— 36.7

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s
bank borrowings at the balance sheet date approximates their
corresponding fair value.

EERS NEER  AEBIRTE
EREEEERREAFERS -
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30. OTHER LIABILITIES 30. HeE&E
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEBET

Advances from minority shareholders DEIRER 2 B

(note) (B 5E) 101.8 99.7
Club debentures BESH 860.2 857.7
Obligations under finance leases B A E AR 2.3 3.3
964.3 960.7

Less: Amount due within one year B ETARBAREEL —FA
included under current liabilities EIHIFRIR (18.9) (23.7)
Amount due after one year —F 1% B BRFKIB 945.4 937.0
Note: The amounts represent advances from minority it : ZERBEAEETHERAR ZLH

shareholders of certain subsidiaries to finance operations
of those subsidiaries. Advances from minority shareholders
as at the balance sheet date are amounts aggregating
HK$101.8 million (2008: HK$95.2 million) which bear
interest at a fixed rate of 7% (2008: 7%) per annum and
the amount is unsecured and is not repayable within one
year. The remaining balance is non-interest bearing,
unsecured and repayable on demand.

Club debentures are redeemable:

PR AR B R - AIAR 2 &
MEBAREEMRS -NEER
PHBRRAEHIBRESER
101.8EEATL (ZFFNEF :
95.2AEETT) + BIRE EFHE
7% (ZZZENF 7% R Z=E
RAREERNBER —FAE
B -HRTHEBRU/RE - EBEM
REREREHER -

SAMESF AR TN HEED

2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’'M HK$'M

BEET BEBTT

Within 1 year —F A 17.8 18.2
Over 1 year but within 5 years —FLEBERFUA 58.9 32.0
Over 5 years and before 2047 AFLAER ZFMAEFa] 2.7 29.5
In 2047 R_ZT -+ 5F 780.8 778.0

860.2 857.7
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FEHFGRRELEER jié’”éﬁ
TTIIBAEEEEEMNEER -

These debentures are non-interest bearing, unsecured and
are issued to members of the following clubs operated by

the Group:
2009 2008
—ZEEhEF ZTENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEBTT
Discovery Bay Golf Club Iﬁ%/gmﬁﬁ%ffg 650.2 649.1

Discovery Bay Marina Club Al = ?ﬂi"\ 67.5 67.5
Discovery Bay Residents Club B 2 B 4L 142.5 141.1

860.2 857.7

R E A

Obligations under finance leases:

Present value of

Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments

BREHEANT BERENRZEE
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE “EENF ZEEhE “EENF
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
HEET BEBT HEBT BEETL
Amounts payable under RERMEEE
finance leases: JERf &5
Within one year —FR 1.2 1.1 1.1 1.0
In the second to fifth years REZZERFR
inclusive 1.4 2.6 1.2 2.3
2.6 3.7 2.3 3.3
Less: Future finance charges i : BRI K ER (0.3) (0.4)
Present value of lease MEAECHE
obligations 2.3 3.3
Less: Amount due for W —FRNEHEEZ
settlement within A (FIlfE
one year (shown under nEEE)
current liabilities) (1.1) (1.0
Amount due for settlement —FRIBEEZHE
after one year 1.2 2.3
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31.

190

The Group leases certain of its fixtures and equipment under
finance leases. The average lease term is 5 to 7 years. For
the year ended 31 March 2009, the average effective
borrowing rate was ranged from 2% to 5% (2008: 2% to
5%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the contract date.
All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no
arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental
payments.

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s
other liabilities at the balance sheet date approximates their
corresponding fair values.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

In April 2005, the Company issued zero coupon convertible
bonds (the “Bonds”) at par in a principal amount of
HK$1,410.0 million maturing on 26 April 2010. Unless
previously redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled,
the Bonds will be redeemed at 128.948 per cent of their
principal amount on the maturity date representing a gross
yield of 5.15 per cent per annum calculated on a semi-annual
basis.

The Bonds are convertible on or after 6 June 2005 up to
and including 27 March 2010 into fully paid ordinary shares
with a par value of HK$0.25 each of the Company at the
initial conversion price of HK$6.50 per share. The conversion
price was adjusted in accordance with the terms of the
offering circular dated 22 April 2005 to HK$6.35, HK$6.20
and HK$6.11 per share in August 2006, August 2007 and
August 2008, respectively.

The holder has the right to require the Company to redeem
the Bonds on 26 April 2008 and the Company may redeem
the Bonds on or at any time after 26 April 2008 but not less
than seven business days prior to the maturity date of the
Bonds.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

31.

AEBREREMNVEER S TRE

R FHEEHRRAELF -1
BE_TTNF=-_A=+T—HL#F
B FHEREEFHNENF2EE
SE(ZZZN\F : 2EE5E) - fX
EAHNBHETE - FAEHEESNEE
BRSEE WEIIVA@SAES
Z LB

%%nu \‘ g
B REERERN

et
=
Ean

B AEEEME
fENFEER

R ES

RZZFETRFWA » AR EIREESE
TAREE14100 AEB T2 —_T—
ZEA[ -+ NHEHZ SR KE
% ([MfEF])) - BRIELRFICALED - &
BMEEEETY - SAES KR EE
AIREAR4E 5 2 128.948% & [@ - 18
ERERYFEEFEZBFREEA
5.15% o

BEEHEANR_ZEZETRFNANAHZ
% BEE-_ZT-TF=A=-++tAH
(BiE%B) b2 B - P HRE
BR6.50BTE R AN AR FRAEE
0.5 TR LBk - HIREDK
Vaﬁﬁfggﬂimﬂ +=B2Z

BB ZER - DRIRZEERF
)\ﬂ ZEEEFNARZEENGE
A AEEIR6.35/8 T « 6.20/8 7T
K6.118TT -

BEANBRERARGNRZZZTNF
MAZ+/BERES - MAARR]
MRZEENEMA -+ B4k
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At initial recognition, the nominal value of the Bonds was
split between the liability component and the equity
component, which represents the fair value of the embedded
option to convert the liability into equity of the Company,
amounting to HK$1,334.9 million and HK$75.1 million
respectively. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 6.73% per annum.

The movement of the liabilities component of the bonds for
the year is as follows:

EA’W}’RTJE.% - EFcEED /ARG

D REHER S - BRI S EEERE
$A AR 2 IR A BRE Z A F
B 25lA&1,33498 8B L7518
BAT - AERBIZERFMNEXS
6.73F

FREFAERD 2EBAOT :

HK$'M

BEATT

Liability component at 31 March 2007 RZZEE+F=RA=+—HZEBEHS 1,483.8
Imputed interest expense for the year FAFFAFERAZ 101.6
Liability component at 31 March 2008 RZZBEENF=ZA=+—HZBEHS 1,585.4

Liability component redeemed and FABRLERZBEHLH

repurchased during the year (879.0)
Imputed interest expense for the year FAFTAFBRAEZ 70.9
Liability component at 31 March 2009 R=-ZZEHAE=A=+—Hz2E8EH5 777.3
2009 2008

—EEhE —ETNF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEERT BEET

Current e — 488.0
Non-current JEmED 777.3 1,097.4
777.3 1,585.4

At 31 March 2009, the principal amount of the Bonds with a RZZEZNF=A=+—H " A

maturity date on 26 April 2010 amounted to HK$647.0
million (2008: HK$1,410.0 million) remained outstanding.

AB-E—FFNA -+ NHZ2ALE
B6A7TO0BBAET(ZTET/)\F
1,410.08 8B ) E5NAKER -
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During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company
redeemed upon the exercise of early redemption options by
the Bond holders and repurchased from the market,
convertible bonds of total principal amount of HK$763.0
million for a total consideration of HK$866.1 million, pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the Bonds. Details of the
redemption and repurchase are as follows:

HE-_ZTTAF=A=+—HItHF
B RRRIRBES ZIER RGN
EEFFEATEREERET - I
EMIHARNRESE.1EE BT 5
B MBOASHAE763.08 8B T
Z ARk (E S o FEE Mg 2 FF B
™~

HK$'M
BEBT
Carrying value attributable to: AT IBREEREE
Liability component of the Bonds EERKBEES
redeemed and repurchased ZBEHD 879.0
Equity component embedded B &R & iEEES
in the bonds redeemed ZERAR R EE S
and repurchased 40.6
919.6
Consideration paid attributable to: NTHIBREEENSKE :
Liability component of the Bonds ElELDRERGES
redeemed and repurchased ZBEEY 847.9
Equity component embedded ElELDRERGES
in the Bonds redeemed 2 RN AR
and repurchased 18.2
866.1
53.5
Represented by: RE|UATEIE -
Gain on repurchase of BREES 2 W=
Bonds (see note 6) (RF5E6) 31.1
Balance of equity component of EEREZE R
Bonds redeemed and 2 BHER NERES
repurchase transferred 2 BB o AR
to accumulated profits 22.4
3.5
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32.

The directors estimate the fair value of the liability component
of the Bonds at 31 March 2009 to be approximately
HK$776.4 million (2008: HK$1,638.4 million). The fair value
has been calculated by discounting the future cash flows at
the Group’s market borrowing rate of 6.83%.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The directors consider that the carrying amount of the
Group’s deposits received and other financial liabilities at
the balance sheet date approximate their corresponding fair
value due to the relatively short-term maturity.

Included in other financial liabilities is an amount of HK$0.1
million (2008: HK$7.4 million) represents derivative financial
instruments. Details of the derivative financial instruments
are set out in note 28.

The amounts due to associates are unsecured and non-
interest bearing and have no fixed repayment terms. The
directors consider the carrying values approximate their fair
values.

32.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 4 &

EEHRZEENAF=A=1+—H
EHzBEDBD 2 AFELNT76.48
BELT(ZZEZT)\F : 1,6384EEH
T0) c EAFENIEAEBMSEER
*£6.83% IEAKRRESHRETE -

HitemEaE

EERR AIRAEEzERIZER
HtemBE s HRAAEERE - &
REER  ZERRZREERRLR
JERFEMES -

HiteMABEHE—F018EET

—EENF74RABETT)ZE
B DETAESRIA - TAESRT
B2 BENHE28 -

RSB 2 R R IR T IR Ko e B 2A
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33.

34.

35.

194

SHARE CAPITAL

33.

LN

2009 & 2008
“EBAFEN_ZTTNF
Number
HK$'M
BEAET

of shares

g4

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

FIE(E0.258 T2 BB

Authorised: VETERA 2,000,000,000 500.0
Issued and fully paid: EEBITREARRA
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and R-ZZEZtFMA—A
31 March 2009 —ZEZZENF=HA=+—H
r—ZEZhE=A=+—H 1,350,274,367 337.5

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company currently has a share option scheme adopted
on 3 January 2002 which permits the directors of the
Company to grant options to all directors (including
independent non-executive directors), full-time employees
and consultants of the Company, its subsidiaries and/or its
associated companies to subscribe for shares in the
Company. No option has yet been granted under this scheme.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes long-term bank loans, short-term bank loans and
other borrowings as disclosed in notes 29 and 30, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
reserves and accumulated profits.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

34.

35.
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36.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodic basis. As part of this review, the directors have
considered the cost of capital and the risks associates with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and
share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

ARRIBEFEHRAEARRE - FR
B z—8n  EFCEBEEHA
MBREARZHRARR - REESZ
2 AREMERRNRE - %7
FR - BB IA KR BT BB E
EIIREEE ZFAFHEREAR
& o

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. €@ T A
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS eI AZER
2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
HK$’'M HKS$'M
BEBT BEBTT
Financial assets EHEE
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) & A {EFF ABz%=
Held for trading BHIEEE 741.7 1,759.7
Held-to-maturity investments BRI E 45.5 23.3
Derivative financial instruments TTESmITA 0.3 —
Loans and receivables (including cash BER & EWFHIAE (BT
and cash equivalents) BehIBELEMEER) 3,007.0 3,424.1
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESREE 108.8 174.0
Financial liabilities EHBE
Derivative financial instruments MTESBMT A 0.1 7.4
Amortised cost BIHR A 5,440.1 5,313.3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include held-to-
maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade
receivables, other financial assets, amounts due from
associates, amount due from jointly controlled entity, sale
proceeds held by stakeholders, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade payables, deposits received, other
financial liabilities, amounts due to associates, bank loans,
other liabilities and convertible bonds (liability component).
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk, currency
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group and the Company do not have significant exposure
to foreign currency risk as majority of the Group’s sales and
purchases are denominated in currency which is the functional
currency of the respective group entities except for certain bank
balances, held-to-maturity investments and bank borrowings
which are denominated in foreign currency, other than the
functional currency of the respective group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are
as follows:

TREREREEERBE

AEBTESRTABRSEDHK
B At ESREE  HAFER
ANBmzREE - BWEZIRN
HthemEE  RUH 2 A ARFR
M AR H ERRFUR - IRE APT
FAKBEHEMSRIE - DIEMRTT
TR RITEHNRS  BNESKR
R eRE  HtbemaE - B
g NAIFIE - SRITER - HWAE
KABBES (RERD) - ZFE/
TAFBHENXBEBWNE - ZFE/RT
HEERERAREET SRR (XA
% BERERMEMERER) 3
SRBANREE SRR - AR
HZERBRZBERHN I - EEEE
BRERZERER - NHEREERE
WIHEITHE I ©

E¥ER

BrE TIRITHER  HEDHRE LR
TREXFAREERGEERIE
Sh > MAKEABY EEHYAEEE
B2EEHBIE  HAKEREAR
B AR B ASNEE R -

REBRURE BHUIMNESE 2 &
BENEKABZERENT

Liabilities Assets

BE
2008 2009 2008
“ZENF —TEN\F “EENE —EIN\F
Currency HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
% BEER BEBT BEER BEET
US Dollar = — 725.5 522.0
Singapore Dollar BT 207.7 4.7 0.1
Others Hit — 4.7 46
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Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of US dollar
and Singapore dollar.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in the functional currency of the
respective group entities against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnels and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency

HRE DA

REBEEARERTRBITEE 25N
HIE R -

TERFHVAEASEHRARSREER
B2IREE WL ARRINEER TR
5% 2 BREE © 5%7%|”1E3“§£$)\
8 P RRIE RSN R ez P R 2 SR
I%EEEAETETTQEQEMEUZ%
il - BRESITEBENINEAE
HABEERIER - WRFRBER
BEARMRIERZ5%EE) - 5|5

MRMAEEEE R 2 e E% H A8
at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. BINEIEES % s B - TRIEEK
The analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% strengthening of BE D RIRTEN 2GR o i
HEEEERE N EREY
HIREEEEERE 2t BB RE

number below indicates an increase and decrease in profit 5% Al eafEKER 2 EE

denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation

the functional currency of the respective group entities
against the relevant currency and a positive and negative

respectively. For a 5% weakening of the functional currency FE o
of the respective group entities against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

US Dollar Impact Singapore Dollar Impact

EIA 2 | BrEs
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE ZTT/\R ZERERE —TT\F
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEERL BEETL BEAT BEETL

(Decrease) increase in profit & Gl 4) 5 0 (36.2) (23.8) (0.2) 104

BEEBRS  ARFRER
BRENZ AR ﬁ&(@?&;ﬁﬁﬂﬂ?\ﬁ
REA 2 INERR °

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.
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Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank deposits and borrowings and fixed-rate
advance from minority shareholders (see notes 21, 29 and
30 for details of these deposits and borrowings). The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits and borrowings (see notes 21
and 29 for details of these deposits and borrowings) and
mortgage instalment receivables (see note 21 for the
receivables). It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings
at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets
and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
HIBOR or other relevant interbank offer rates arising from
the Group’s borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and
non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For
variable-rate bank deposits and borrowings and mortgage
instalment receivables, the analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability and asset outstanding at the balance
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnels and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s:

° profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 would
decrease/increase by HK$16.4 million (2008:
decrease/increase by HK$11.2 million). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank borrowings and mortgage
instalment receivables.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased from
prior year due to increase in bank borrowing.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

F =R 7 b B 1

AEEAXERRITEFRREEAR
PHBRERZEESRR (REFK
MEEFHB2RME2]1 - 29K30) 2
NHEMERRE - NEEITVEREE
RITERREE (ZEEAREEH
B2 RMT5E21 1% 29) K EWIZ1E 5 H
HR(HAFE2 RM 2D ZIRER
MEREE - BEENZBF X LTY
REBZHBR  UEERERFHER
R o

AEBEAEEREENERABZF
KRR ZFBERAM TR E SR
REEED o ARE 2R IRAERE
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HRE
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Other price risk

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through its
investments in both listed and unlisted securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a
diversified portfolio. The level and volatility of the prices of
securities may be affected by general economic and market
conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit,
inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws
(including taxation law), trade barriers, currency exchange
controls, and national and international political
circumstances as well as restrictions on redemption of certain
hedge fund investments, if applicable. In addition, the Group
has regularly meeting with the fund managers to review the
performance and asset allocation of the portfolio.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to price of securities investments at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective securities investments had
been 5% higher/lower:

U profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 would
increase/decrease by HK$37.1 million (2008:
increase/decrease by HK$88.0 million) as a result of
the changes in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss; and

o investment valuation reserve would increase/decrease
by HK$5.4 million (2008: increase/decrease by
HK$8.1 million) for the Group as a result of the
changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets.

The Group’s sensitivity to available-for-sale investments and
held-for-trading investments has not changed significantly
from the prior year.
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Credit risk

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
and financial guarantees provided by the Group is arising

from:

o the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated balance
sheet; and

o the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to

financial guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed
in note 39.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet
date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from
associates, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited
because the counterparties are associates with strong
financial position and cash flow position.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings,
the Group does not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk over trade receivables. Trade receivables consist
of a large number of customers, spread across diverse
industries and geographical areas.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

FERRE

R-ZZFZNF=ZA=1t—H ~&H
AR ZRHEREBITE TR EHE
RERANEEBVBBIAMEE 2 &S
EERR - TYRE :

RABEEREBERMATERD
ﬁ%éﬂé%Z%ﬁ@ K

o KMECHEEEMAKEE L
ZHBERNKARAEESHE -

REFIEREEERR  AEEERE
BEXY—ZBH  AEETEREER
B EEMRMEMERREF  UE
R Bl A R E TR B AN BRAETTED © Ut
Sh - REEENEAEE A B EE
B HEIR 2 AT O EER - ARERTL
AR Bl SR TR R E R IR © B
HmE  ARBEFRR  AREZ
EERBRD KERE -

%ﬁ%%%@ RIESRZEER
$$I%W2FEH Eﬁ@

E’ﬁl% 2 2R R AR SR

5R&IE%//ML‘|*/RZ S /NI

ERZSEBEHAERREETREE
TESEETRZET WRpES
ZIEERBRAR -

BRIERBDESFRRESEEFRZ
BRRITAMS R 2 EERBESE
o - REBRKE 5 RR 2 EERR
DHNAREFRZETRTTE MR
ZEP L BAKERWE SRR
BEAETZEERR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S 05 o Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 March 2009, the Group has available
unutilised overdraft and bank loan facilities of approximately
HK$19.6 million (2008: HK$30.9 million) and HK$2,419.2
million (2008: HK$4,232.4 million) respectively.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests
with the board of directors, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments settle on a net basis, undiscounted
net cash outflows are presented.
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Liquidity and interest risk tables

RBEE RN ERER K

Carrying
Total amount at
undiscounted  31.3.2009
Less than 1-2 2—5 Over  cashflows R=ZEhE
1 year years years 5 years AE®E ZA=t-H
PR-F -EME ZERE AENE  BERAE ZIREE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
HEET BEET BEBT HEET BEET BEET
2009 ZEENE
Non-derivative financial FTEERER
liabilities
Trade payables, provision EHESER  BER
and accrued charges i &R 133.6 — — — 133.6 1336
Deposits received and BliEe RED
other financial liabilities SHER 180.6 = = = 180.6 180.6
Amounts due to associates  JENEEE N AIZ 2.2 = = = 2.2 2.2
Bank loans fﬁh‘ﬁ?ﬁ
— fixed rate —TE 23.7 = = = 23.7 22.7
— variable rate — %5 1,023.3 22.0 2,381.8 — 3,427.1 3,359.4
Other liabilities AaE 18.9 116.7 50.2 783.5 969.3 964.3
Convertible bonds aRES — 834.2 = = 834.2 7713
1,382.3 972.9 2,432.0 783.5 5,570.7 5,440.1
Derivative settled net BEEMETIARE
Foreign currency swapand ~ SMEREREHAH
forward contracts 0.1 — — — 0.1 0.1
Carrying
Total amount at
undiscounted 31.3.2008
Less than 1-2 2—5 Over cash flows R-ZZNF
1 year years years 5 years %% =ZA=t-8
PR—F —ERE “ERE AFNE  BeRes LEEE
HK$'M HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
2008 “EEN\E
Non-derivative financial FTEERER
liabilities
Trade payables, provision ERERER - B
and accrued charges REFER 203.0 — — — 203.0 203.0
Deposits received and BligEe R
other financial liabilities ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁf 192.1 — — — 192.1 192.1
Amounts due to associates Fﬁﬂﬁf“" 145 — — — 145 145
Bank loans BITER
— fixed rate — E g 1322 — — — 1322 124
— variable rate — %25 516.6 190.2 1,7414 — 2,448.2 2,345.2
Other liabilities HthafE 23.7 106.4 28.3 807.5 965.9 960.7
Convertible bonds MR ES 505.6 - 1,2585 — 1,764.1 1,585.4
1,468.7 296.6 3,028.2 807.5 5,601.0 5,313.3
Derivative settled net CEEfETARE
Foreign currency swapand ~ SMEREEHA L
forward contracts 4.1 4.4 — — 85 74
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FAIR VALUE AF(E
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are SREENEREBEZCAFETZIN
determined as follows: THREE :

. the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities . BB R R AR I AT BB
with standard terms and conditions and traded on MBEMSZEECEMEER
active liquid markets are determined with reference TRBECATENIDNZRE

to quoted market bid prices and ask prices
respectively; and

MZEARBLEEE &

. the fair value of other financial assets and financial . EmemEEReRBE(R
liabilities (including derivative instruments) are BOTAETR) 2 2 FEDIRE
determined in accordance with generally accepted —REREXTERN - Wik

pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis
using prices or rates from observable current market
transactions as input.

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in
unlisted shares which are measured at fair value (note 20).
Fair value is provided by independent financial institutions
or fund managers. The valuation is generally based on the
most recent financial and market information of the
underlying investee or at cost as advised by the fund
manager.

37. ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

37.

IR MOMN - AR
ZIRETIGERINEREE -

e M F K a?§?¢ETEQ$TE‘+E
Z Ik LR (EE20) » AF{ETIH
BY RSB RESLREMR - (A8
—BARBHERRE Y REIIMH K
MIZER SR ES LIRS M2 NAIE
IT

RehBeEEEES
BR AT

2009 2008

—EBNEF ZEENF

HK$’'M HK$'M

BEET BEET

Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 1,903.5 1,481.2

Included in the bank balances and cash at 31 March 2009
were bank deposits with maturity within 3 months from the
date of placement amounting to approximately HK$1,785.9
million (2008: HK$1,480.6 million).

The effective interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March
2009 were in the range of 0.01% to 6.52% (2008: 0.25% to
5.36%) per annum. The directors consider the carrying
amount of the Group’s bank balances and cash at the balance
sheet date approximates their corresponding fair value.
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38.

204

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 38. ﬁ%iﬁ#
At 31 March 2009, the Group had pledged an investment —ETENF=HA=+—8" Zli’il
property with a carrying value of HK$646.4 million (2008: ?ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁfﬁ646.4§%/ﬁn (ZZEN
HK$729.0 million), property, plant and equipment with a F 7290888 2REME - K
carrying value of HK$9.4 million (2008: HK$9.9 million), a HAEQAAEE T (ZEE//\F : 998
property under development of HK$95.3 million (2008: 512.1 BATL)BITIME - BEREE -
million) and bank deposits of HK$58.9 million (2008: BIFEABITL(ZEE/\F : 51218
HK$79.6 million) to secure banking facilities granted to the BEL) cBREFMENE8.IBRE
Group. T(ZZEZT)N\F : 79.6A8BT) 2R
TER - UERETAKEERITEE
Zﬁi#ﬁ °
Royston Investment Limited, HKR Properties Limited, HKR ARa2ENBARMEEERER
Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd. and National Asset Limited, the RAF - BAEE W) BRAF -
Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, had respectively BBEE D KABR LA KNational
subordinated an intercompany debt due from one of their Asset Limited#% FE U % KT B A7) 2
subsidiaries of HK$31.8 million (2008: nil), nil (2008: RESRRILEEEAT(ZEEN
HK$29.0 million), nil (2008: 401.0 million) and HK$26.8 FEERERE B(CZEEN
million (2008: 35.6 million) respectively to secure certain F:20888T) BCZTIENF
general banking facilities granted to the particular 401.08 B# L) k26.8E8EL (=
subsidiaries. 2%‘@/\@ : 35.6B BB L) (EIRER
o ERARTRZEMNBAR . —KIR
TEEZER -
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39. FAEE
2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT BEBTT
Guarantees given, to the extent of RAEBERELFIRER
the Group’s proportionate share, BRIEENAER
in respect of banking facilities RITEEEL ZER
granted to an investee company 161.6 160.4
In addition to the contingent liabilities set out above, the br EXCPTit 2 SR BEIN - NEEE
Group, together with other joint venture partners of TCSDCL FITCSDCLz Efh & & B (i [1E
(collectively the “Guarantors”), had executed undertakings RAD BERETFHEITEL AR 12

in favour of certain banks in respect of providing finance to
TCSDCL amounting to HK$0.92 billion to procure that
TCSDCL or the Guarantors, as appropriate, would perform
and observe obligations under the development agreement
with MTR Corporation Limited and to achieve completion of
the Tung Chung Station Development Package Il project. This
bank facilities were later cancelled in October 2007 and the
guarantee was expired in May 2008.

No financial guarantee has been recognised as the fair value
for the financial guarantee is insignificant.
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40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. EREIE
2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEEBT BEETT
Capital commitments in respect of AEEBERWKERE -
acquisition of plant and equipment and HEREREE 2
development projects of the Group BARAENT -

are as follows:

Contracted but not provided for BR4BREE 1,064.8 1,023.0
Authorised but not contracted for EHAEBRREL 609.2 899.7
1,674.0 1,922.7
The Group’s share of the capital REES(HERRZEGIELR
commitments of its jointly controlled RABZEAREERT

entity, Dazhongli, are as follows:

Contracted but not provided for BEROBREE 167.5 180.9
Authorised but not contracted for BEHEERED 982.3 1,518.7
1,149.8 1,699.6
In respect of the Group’s share of the capital commitments RAEERGEHEBRELERPEZER
of Dazhongli, the Group has made advances to Dazhongli EEMES - ASBERAPEELR
which are included in the balance of loans to Dazhongli (see o RBEREBERERTARTFEZ
note 19). The outstanding capital commitments in respect HERA (RMWEEL9) - REEEG KT
of the Group’s interests in Dazhongli amounted to HK$63.2 BRI NEREERI2ASEETT
million (2008: HK$1,157.4 million). It will be financed by —EENGF 1,1574BEBTT) o %
further advance by the Group or direct borrowings by PEERFERRAEBR ZE— TR
Dazhongli as and when required. RIANFEEEBERNES -
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41.

206

LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
THE GROUP AS LESSEE

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of land and buildings which fall
due as follows:

41. HEZHE

REBRAEBEA

REER  AEERBELMREFZ
PNAHEHGEHEMAR A T HRE
N2 ARREERENFTAESELD
T

2009 2008

—EEhEF —EENF

HK$'M HK$'M

BAEBTT BEET

Within one year —F R 32.6 28.9
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFLF (BEEEMS) 49.9 31.1
Over five years hF#& 4.4 —
86.9 60.0

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for its office premises and staff quarters. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of two years and rentals are
fixed for an average term of one to two years.

In additions, the Group is committed to leasing land in
Singapore where a hotel is situated for 86 years up to
February 2074. The annual lease payment is at the higher
of approximately HK$3.3 million or 5% of the total gross
revenue of the hotel.
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THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Property rental income earned from investment properties
and other properties during the year was in aggregate
HK$372.3 million (2008: HK$369.5 million), of which
HK$364.9 million (2008: HK$361.6 million) was generated
from investment properties of the Group. Investment
properties and other properties with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$5,405.1 million (2008: HK$5,921.6 million)
were held for rental purposes as at balance sheet date.
Depreciation charged for the year in respect of other
properties was HK$1.3 million (2008: HK$1.3 million). The
properties held have committed tenants for a period from
one to six years. At the balance sheet date, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum
leases payments under non-cancellable operating leases
which fall due as follows:

AEBALBHEA

BEMEREMYERFRRIRZY)
EHSWAAEABI72IEES T (=
TTN\F :369.5HEBIT)  H
3649EBEIL (ZTT/\F : 361.6
BEASL)REASEREYME - 1
#EA - BREMBESH5405.18 88T
“ZT)N\F 5R16A8ET) 2R
BYEREMMETFERERR -
AEENEBEMMEZINETH A
13EBAT(CTTN\F : 13885
To) c TS BV EHE AMENHEEA
—ERFELE - REER - AKEE
HETHPRIL - MBRET A BUEEL
LRLHR TR B 2 R R EHE
SHRTET -

2009 2008

—EEhEF —ETENF

HK$'M HK$'M

BEBTT BEET

Within one year —F R 244.5 264.1
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFLF (BEEEMF) 223.8 212.7
Over five years hF#& 7.5 —
475.8 476.8

42. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

A.  HONG KONG

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance, a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with employer’s voluntary
contributions has been established on 1 December
2000.

42, RIKBRIFTE

A BB

RETEBHELTED B E
Bl - AEBEER -_TZTF+
—A—HARMLEEEREHRE
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gl -
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For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the
MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by the
employee.

The amount charged to the consolidated income
statement represents contributions payable of
HK$15.5 million (2008: HK$15.1 million) to the MPF
Scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes less forfeitures of HK$2.2 million
(2008: HK$2.0 million) arising from employees leaving
the Group prior to completion of the qualifying service
period.

At the balance sheet date, there is no forfeited
contributions, which arose upon employees leaving
the retirement benefits schemes and which are
available to reduce the contributions payable in future
years (2008: nil).

PRC AND OVERSEAS

The employees of the Group in PRC and overseas are
members of state-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the respective local
governments in relevant jurisdictions. The Group is
required to contribute and recognise a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligations of the Group with
respect to these schemes are to make the specified
contributions and recognise the respective retirement
pay in accordance with terms set out in the schemes
and relevant jurisdiction requirements.

The total cost charged to the consolidated income
statement in respect of the above-mentioned schemes
in the relevant jurisdictions amounted to
approximately HK$8.9 million (2008: HK$11.2
million).
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND

ASSOCIATES

(A)  Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have

their principal place of operation in Hong Kong are

43. T EMB AT REIE QT

(A) HEEBEMKILREEZTE
B ARFENT

as follows:
31 March 2009 31 March 2008
“EENE=R=1-H ZZEN\F=A=T-R
Proportion of Proportion of
nominal value nominal value
of issued and of issued and
voting share voting share
Nominal value capital held Nominal value capital held
of issued by the Group of issued by the Group
share capital AREHEAC T share capital ZEBBEEEIT
Name of company BRT REREZERA BET RAREERA Principal activities
GER RxzEfE HfEZthl kA EfE HEZ L TEEHR
HK$ % HKS %
B ARt BT BAL
Allmedco Group Limited 1,500,000 80 1,500,000 80 Medical and dental
equipment and supplies
ERNTHRBRAER
AmMed Cancer Center (Central) 2 100 2 100 Cancer treatment operator
Limited BIERBEEHAE
AmMed Hong Kong Limited 10,000 100 10,000 100 Investment holding
REBEEBRBAA REER
AmMed (Hong Kong Island Center) 868 92.17 868 92.17 Cancer treatment operator
Limited BIERBEEHAE
DbAY Service Limited 2 50* 2 50* Property agency services
BEENERRERATA WERERS
Discovery Bay Commercial Services 2 50* 2 50* Property leasing
Limited NERE
MREBERBERAA
Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited 400,000 50* 400,000 50 Operation of a shipyard
geis
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31 March 2008

“TZ)\FZA=Z+-H
Proportion of
nominal value
of issued and
voting share
Nominal value capital held
of issued by the Group
share capital AEEFEEET

Name of company BRI RERRERE Principal activities

NGER hxzaE =i 4] TEEHK
HK$ %
BT Bl
Discovery Bay Financial Services 2 50* Provision of financial
Limited services to first hand
WEENBREERLA purchasers of properties
in Discovery Bay
AR E-FEX
R BRY
Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited 2 50* Provision of club facilities
WRERRXREERAR Ritem
Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited 2 50* Provision of club facilities
MEEEREERAA REGHEN
Discovery Bay Residents Club 2 50* Provision of club facilities
Limited REEHMR
HREREEFRAA
Discovery Bay Road Tunnel 2 50* Road tunnel operation
Company Limited BiEge
MREREERAA
Discovery Bay Services 2 50* Estate management
Management Limited ERER
BRERBERERAT
Discovery Bay Transit Services 2 50* Provision of bus services
Limited REETRE
HRERBRBERAR
Discovery Bay Transportation 2 50* Provision of ferry services
Services Limited REERRE

HEERERKERLA
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Name of company

31 March 2009
“EZNF=R=1-H

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued and
voting share
Nominal value capital held
of issued by the Group
share capital AEEBEERT
BRT RERZRERA

31 March 2008
“TZ/\FZA=+-H

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued and
voting share
Nominal value capital held
of issued by the Group
share capital AEEHECEN
BT RERZERA

Principal activities

ASELE RAZEE HEZLA BAZEE HEZLH TEEHK
HK$ % HKS %
B BAl B Btk
Fame Wood Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
ERARLA NERE
Frosmate Company Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding
REEERAT REBR
Grace Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BEREERLA NERE
Greenyield Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
RAERLA nERE
HKR Limited 2 100 2 100 Property management
BERENEERAT NEEE
HKR Properties Limited 1,000 100 1,000 100 Investment holding and
ERREWME)ERATF property development
REBRENEER
HKR Transportation Services 17,000,000 50* 17,000,000 50* Management services to
Limited ferry operator®
AEEZERREARAT REEERBTREREHE
Hagent Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
ARREERLA NERE
Health & Care Dental Clinic 8,708,433 57.05 8,708,433 57.05 Development and operation
Limited of dental clinic
BRINEBERERAA THYREEREE
Health & Care Dental Services 800,000 57.05 800,000 57.05 Provision of dental and

Limited
BRFRBRBERAF

medical services

RETHRBRRE
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Name of company

31 March 2009
“EZNF=R=1-H

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued and
voting share
Nominal value capital held
of issued by the Group
share capital AEEBEERT
BRT RERZRERA

31 March 2008
“TZ/\FZA=+-H

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued and
voting share
Nominal value capital held
of issued by the Group
share capital AEEHECEN
BT RERZERA

Principal activities

ASELE RAZEE HEZLA BAZEE HEZLH IEXRH
HK$ % HKS %
B BAl B Btk
Health & Care Group Limited 1,133,334 57.05 1,133,334 57.05 Investment holding and its
EREESEERAH subsidiaries are engaged in
operation of dental clinic
chain
BEER - MERBATA
ftzEEBHETRDAH
Healthway Medical Centres 1 100 1 100 Provision of medical
Limited services
eEREDLERAH REBERY
Hong Kong Health Resort 4 100 4 100 Property investment
Limited nERA
Hong Kong Resort Company 212,950,000.5** 50*  212,950,000.5%* 50* Investment holding and
Limited property development
RERZEBRAA REZBRRNEZR
ImagingMed Central Limited 20 100 20 100 Diagnostic imaging center
REEET L
Kellett Healthcare Training 100 57.05 100 57.05 Provision of dental training
Institute Limited Courses
S BEREEIROERAF RAETRIE IR
Lam Island Development 2,000,000 99.99 2,000,000 99.99 Property development
Company Limited S
HRESERAA
Lee Wo Company, Limited 300,000 100 300,000 100 Property investment

MANERRF

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7
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Name of company

31 March 2008

“TZ)\FZA=Z+-H
Proportion of
nominal value
of issued and
voting share
Nominal value capital held
of issued by the Group
share capital AEEFEEET
BRI RERRERE

Principal activities

NGER hxzaE =i 4] TEEHK
HK$ %
BT Bl
Parocka Investments Limited 20 100 Property development
NEER
Pearl Development Limited 2 100 Property investment
BEERERAR NERE
Qualigenics Medical Limited # 3,000 80 Clinic operator in diabetic
and cardio treatment
BERRUERERRR
A
Quebostage Limited 2 100 Property investment
BHEERAH NERE
Rich Deal Limited 2 100 Investment holding
BRARAT REAR
Royston Investment Limited 2 100 Investment holding
MERREREERAA REZR
Scoot Development Limited 1 100 Investment holding
REAR
TCS Project Management Limited 2 100 Property development
project management
NEEREAER
Wells Estate Services Limited 100,000 100 Estate management

RENERBEERAA

ERER
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31 March 2009
ZEENFZA=1-H
Proportion of
nominal value
of issued and
voting share

31 March 2008
“TZ/\FZA=+-H
Proportion of
nominal value

of issued and
voting share

Nominal value capital held Nominal value capital held
of issued by the Group of issued by the Group
share capital AEEBEERT share capital AEEHECEN
Name of company BET REREZERRK B%T RERZERAE Principal activities
ASEL RAZEE AEZLA kazEfE AEZLH TEEHK
HK$ % HK$ %
&7 Al B A5l
Wells Property Management 1,000 100 1,000 100 Estate management
Limited ERER
BIENEERERAT
Yintaly Construction Company 2 100 2 100 Property investment
Limited mERE

BFRETIRERDA

* According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong * BEEBEEEER QA
Kong Resort Company Limited (“HKRC”), the Group ([BEAEZE]) 2REH
is able to control more than half of the voting powers & ANEEAESIEE
of the board of directors of HKRC and its HBENEWNBARIZES
subsidiaries. SHRAFE I IREE -

o In addition to 1 ordinary share of par value of o REREFREEC2S B
HK$0.25 each, 100% in the value of T2l REBBRIN - KNE&E
HK$212,950,000 deferred shares are also held by MFELI 00 % EE
the Group (see note). 212,950,000/ 7t 2 IR RE A%

7 (R ML) -

Note: The deferred shares held by the Group are MieT - ARBERE ZRT
shares whose shareholders are neither & 1 258 7 e F &
entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at BEHSHERRAE
any general meetings nor to receive any MABRRARE L&
dividend out of operating profit and have F - JPEREF YR
very limited rights on return of assets of the weEER MNP DIk
companies. ZEAKRE - k&

BB ARIIEEE
Rz & E 5Bl
F e

a Management services to ferry operator ceased on 8 RZZEZENF+—AZT+

23 November 2008. ZHRIERHEBRRSE T
R P o
# Adoption of Chinese name [##EEEGRE Q7] # H-ZEZTNFOALHR

with effect from 7 April 2009.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7
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(B)  Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows: (B) EMmEZWBRARFFEWET :
31 March 2009 31 March 2008
“EIAEZA1-R ZET\E=R=1-R
Proportion of Proportion of
nominal value of nominal value of
issued and issued and
Nominal value voting capital/ Nominal value voting capital/
of issued registered capital of issued registered capital
Place of share capitall ~held by the Group share capital/ held by the Group
incorporation/ Principal registered capital REEREE registered capital FEERED
registration place of ERTRE/ RIRERER BEfIkE/ ¥IREREE
Name of company iR/ operation HfER2 R/ ERER ez R&/#RER  Principal activties
ARER Bk TELENS e AfELA i EELA TERH
% %
Al ARl
Abraham Holdings Limited Liberia Hong Kong Nil 100 Nil 100 Securities investment
HitEs 3] £ B ERRE
Abraham Investment British Virgin Note* Us$1 100 U881 100 Securities investment
Holdings Limited Islands i JE %7 BHRE
ZBURREE
AmMed International Cayman Islands ~~ Note** U$$179,999.96 100 15$179,999.96 100 Investment holding and
Corporation Ltd. REHE iR 179,999.96% 7 1799996570 its subsidaries are
engaged in operation
of ambulatory cancer
diagnosis and
treatment centers

REBR - MAKBAFE
FERMPERAR O

Bathroom & Kitchen Australia Australia £$329,861 83.70 £$329,861 7581 Marketing of bathroom
Supplies Piy. Ltd. 2l 2 32986147 3986127 products
AZRRES
Beaufort Holdings Limited Cayman Islands ~~ Note ** HK$10,197,932 93.28 HK$10,197 932 93.28 [nvestment holding
REHE fi 10,197,932 10,197 932% 7 RERR
Beaufort Sentosa Singapore Singapore §643,696,126 93.64 §$43,696,126 93.64 Hotel operation
Development Pte Ltd il il 43,696,126% % 4369, 12651 HERE
Broad Base International British Virgin Note * Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Securities investment
Limited Isands i 157 B30 BHRE
ZBURREE
COW Building Limited Cayman Islands ~ Hong Kong HK$5,100,002 100 HK$5,100,002 100 Property investment
REHE 3] 5,100,002 7 5,100,002 ¢ nERE
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31 March 2009 31 March 2008
“EIAEZA1-R ZET\E=R=1-R
Proportion of Proportion of
nominal value of nominal value of
issued and issued and
Nominal value voting capital/ Norminal value voting capital/
of issued registered capital of Issued registered capital
Place of share capitall ~held by the Group share capital/ held by the Group
incorporation/ Principal registered capital REEREE registered capital FEERED
registration place of SRR/ BIRERER BEfkE/ el
Name of company st/ operation HfEx RA/ERER sz R /#BER Principal activities
ARER s TESENE il HELH 0 AER EEy)
% %
Al ARl
Clarity Aesthetic Center, Philippines Philippines PHP250,000 100 PHP250,000 100 Provision of dermatology
Inc. ez ez 250,000 250,000 senvices
FRERZ FRERZ RRKERERE
Concord Management Thailand Thailand Baht2,000,000 100 Baht2,000,000 100 Serviced apartment
Co,, Ltd. 28 28 2,000,000% 2,000,005 management
Rz e
D.B. Properties Inc. British Virgin Note** Us$1 100 U1 100 Investment holding
Islands i 1%7 17 RERR
AREBRES
GenRx Holdings Limited British Virgin Note** Us$1 100 Us$1 100 nvestment holding
RNBRERRE Isands fig 1%7 b RABHE
AEAMRES
Great Wisdom Holdings British Virgin Note** Us$1 100 U881 100 Investment holding
Limited Isands fi 157 B30 RERR
ZBURREE
HK Resort International Cayman Islands ~~ Note ** HK$2 100 HKS2 100 Investment holding
Limited REEE figt 27 %7 RERHR
HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Lid # Singapore Singapore $§5,000,000 100 §$5,000,000 100 Investment holding
EREFTARRATS i i 5,000,000 7 5,000,000% BABHR
HKR China Limited British Virgin Note ** Us$1 100 U891 100 Investment holding
ERRZTEARDA Islands figE 1%7 B REBHR
AREBRES
HKR Japan Co,, Ltd. Japan Japan JPY1,000,000 100 JPY1,000,000 100 Property investment
A% A% 1,000,000 1,000,000E VES Y
HKR Shanghai Limited British Virgin Note ** Us$1 100 U891 100 Investment holding
EREZ LRERAA Islands fisE 1%7 B RERR
ZBURREE
HMC Inc. Philippines Philippines PHP10,250,000 100 PHP10,250,000 100 Provision of medical
ez FEZ 10,250,000 10,250,000 senvices
FRERE FERRZ FHERRE

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7
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31 March 2008
I Iy
Proportion of
nominal value of
issued and
Nominal value voting capital/
of issued registered capital
Place of share capital/ held by the Group
incorporation/ Principal registered capial RERGFRE
registration place of BEARE/  BfIREREE
Name of company i/ operation iRz RA/ERER  Principal activties
RALR EdiE TERENY B mELA  1EXR
%
B
Hanbright Assets Limited British Virgin Note** Us$1 100 Investment holding
Islands fi 3D FERR
HAB4RRES
Health & Care (Macau) Dental Macau Macau MOP25,000 57.65 Operational of dental
Group Limited A b33 25,0008 clinic in Macau
ERREeTRIN
Healthway Philippines Inc. Philippines Philippines PHP19,137,500 100 nvestment holding
#eE #eE 19,137,500 REBR
FRERZ
REZRERDNTH PRC PRC 1$$22,000,000 10 Manufacturing of
h h 22,000,005 bathroom products
TEAZRG
Impulse Bathroom Products United United £320,000 100 Marketing of bathroom
Ltd. Kingdom Kingdom 3200003 products
iR L AERRRY
Mantle Investments Limited British Virgin Note * Us$1 100 Securities investment
Islands iz 3D EERE
ABURRES
Maxbright Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore 81 93.64 Property holding
il il %7 Uk
National Asset Limited British Virgin Note** Us$1 100 Investment holding and
Islands fi E3D its subsidiaries are
REARTEE engaged in marketing of
bathroom products
RERR - MANELA
ARSRERRRY
Powerford Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore §$4,500,000 100 Property development
il il 450000087 VEST
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31 March 2009 31 March 2008
ZERAEZA=1-R “ETN\EZRZ1-R
Proportion of Proportion of
nominal value of nominal value of
issued and issued and
Nominal value voting capital/ Nominal value voting capital/
of issued registered capital of issued registered capital
Place of share capitall ~ held by the Group share capital/ held by the Group
incorporation/ Principal registered capital AEEREE registered capital FEERED
registration place of ERIRK/ RRERZE BEIRE/ HIREREE
Name of company iR/ operation HfER2 R/ ERER ez &/ RER  Principal activties
e Eing IEEENS [l EELH ik EERA  TEER
% %
BAM BRIl
Prinia Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore §§2 100 2 100 Investment holding
i Fing Py BT RERR
Ruthin Investments Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore §§2 100 2 100 Property investment
i Fing Py BT NEHE
Sathorn Park Company Limited Thailand Thailand Baht933,600,000 96.47 Bant933,600,000 9.47 Hotel operation and owner
28 28 933,600,000% 933,600,000% HERABEE
Spa Botanica Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore §§2 100 2 100 Provision of spa hotanical
S S P %7 services
RUEKERHE
BE(LBERERAT # PRC PRC US$14,000,000 100 US$14,000,000 100 Property investment
T T 14,000,000% 7% 14,000000%7 nERE
EH(LB)EELS PRC PRC US$1,500,000 100 US$1,500,000 100 Property management
BROE # Gk k| 1,500,000£7 1,500 000% 7 and consultancy
services
NEEERERRE

* These companies are engaged in securities * EATNEREHR 2 F
investment business of the Group and have no FIREBER  AMmRER
specific principal place of operation. EZEBEEME -

*x These companies act as investment holding o HWERRAKREERA
companies and have no specific principal place of A-EmMEERECLEE
operation. HIiEM R -

# BB E T RKAR AR represents the Chinese # [BAEEDKERAF]
business name adopted for use in Hong Kong. BREBRA R XEE

HiE o
## These companies are wholly foreign owned ## WERRBEIINEDE -

enterprises.
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(C)  Details of principal associates are as follows:

31 March 2009
Attributable
interest held
by the Group

(©)

31 March 2008
Attributable
interest held

by the Group

- &b
=

1
D

7,

>

palllg

AIFFIBIAS ¢

R-ZEZAE RZETNF
Place of =A=+—H =B=+—H
Name of company incorporation rEHE REE Principal activities
NGIE T FEAK St 25 iSRS TSR ER ITEEH
% %
Bot Baott
Arrail Group Limited British Virgin 53.89* 53.89* Investment holding and
HREBARAR Islands its subsidiaries are engaged
REBEHBRR in operation of dental
HE clinic chain
REEZR  MEAMBRA
At EE e E
FRZ
Discovery Park Hong Kong 50.0 50.0 Property leasing
Commercial Services BB MERE
Limited
WRMMEERS
BRA A
Discovery Park Hong Kong 50.0 50.0 Provision of financial
Financial Services BB services to first hand
Limited purchasers of Discovery
=M B IR Park
BERRA RN —FEREM
B % AR 7%

Hanison Construction Cayman 49.0 49.0 Construction, property
Holdings Limited Islands development, property
£ 5 B S PR A REHS investment and sales of

BRAT health products
BRE - -MELRRE -
MERE R
REEmMEE
Polyoung Limited Hong Kong 31.0 31.0 Provision of financial
ERERAE HE services to first hand
purchasers of Coastal
Skyline
MEXEF —FEX
R B IR
Tung Chung Station Hong Kong 31.0 31.0 Property development
Development BE MEERE

Company Limited
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The issued share capital of the investee company comprises
4,628,974 shares of US$0.5 each. The Group holds 53.89%
interest in Arrail Group Limited and it has the power to
appoint 4 out of 7 directors of Arrail Group Limited. However,
under the memorandum and articles of association of Arrail
Group Limited, the power to govern the financial and
operating policies rests with the Board of Directors of Arrail
Group Limited and it requires two third of the directors to
approve the respective policies. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group does not have control
over Arrail Group Limited. The Group is able to exercise
significant influences in the operation thereof.

All of the above principal subsidiaries and associates, other
than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort Holdings Limited,
D.B. Properties Inc., Great Wisdom Holdings Limited,
Hanbright Assets Limited, HKR China Limited, HK Resort
International Limited and HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd, are held
indirectly by the Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries and associates of the
Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries and associates would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in note 30, no other
loan capital has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

* EXRAERAZEBETRABRE
4,628,974k FAREEO.55k 7T 2 Ik
e AREREBAEEER QA
FH53.89% i M AR ERE
SEHERARLREEZFHTMN
Fe AMBRIFERBEEBR QA
ZHBERR@NAL - HA%
BAERARAESEVHEMEE
BE YEEEABZ=ZD2—
WESHBRK -ARAEFR
R AEESURBAEEBR QA
WA G4 - AR W HEETE
BREET -

Bx Abraham Holdings Limited
Beaufort Holdings Limited * D.B.
Properties Inc. - Great Wisdom
Holdings Limited * Hanbright Assets
Limited - HEEEXPEAR LA
HK Resort International Limited & &7
BEDRKBRARIN - LB EE
EpE=MNEI S NS o l==P /NS Ik
A o

REBESZER - LRAIIAKEZ
(1= PNEIPSE = FNCIDEEI RN S T 3
BREEAEIBRE -EFER
7 IEE A 2 R MR AR
ABRITE »

BRPEE30PTZIZ B PTESIN - NEE
BB A R BT EERA
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, other than balances with related parties as
shown in consolidated balance sheet, the Group had
significant transactions with related parties as follows:

(A)

Transactions with associates of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the
late chairman of the Company, and his issue including
four directors of the Company being discretionary
beneficiaries of certain discretionary trusts where the
trusts have beneficial interests in both the associates
and the Company:

(i)

44, BERT S
MirEEEBBERMEAREREA LT

ZHRESIN - AT RASEF A ERE
ATETZEARS :

(A) BAAFERIREERML
R 2 1 W A A A
FERE TRBELZBES
AN REERBRALRA
DTS B 2 -

2009 2008
—EBNEF —ZEENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT BEET
Transaction with Mingly and (i) B REKE
its subsidiaries: RAZRS :
Management service fee received REFERWE 2
by the Group EERGE 1.1 0.1
Rental income received by REEUEL 2
the Group e WA 2.0 1.9

The Group entered an agreement with Cagen
for a term of 3 years effective on 1 April 2007
under which Cagen was appointed as manager
to invest the Group’s funds jointly with Cagen’s
own funds in a number of hedge funds. Cagen
is entitled to receive for each semi-annual
period a basic fee and for each annual period
an incentive fee.

The basic fee and incentive fee payable under the
agreement are as follows:

(a)

basic fee per semi-annual period equals to
0.5% of the value of the funds, subject to
adjustments for contributions or withdrawals
made during each preceding 6 month period;
and

(i) AEEHECageni] L
—EipZE BT E L
FUA—BRER B
HI=%F » Cagen# &I
RBASEMNERA - A
BAEEZE S R
CagenNF & & £ {1
ERZEHHAES -
Cagen’A ¥ &+ & W HEY
—EHEXERREFHK
BR—IEEEER -

BiEZ D EEN 2 ERBRH R
REBRAWOT :

(@) BFFZELEBREF
REL(EEZ05% * 7]
s & E R /N8 A B

AELR 2 B HE
T &
ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2000 2 221



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B S 05 o Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2009 &2 —FENF = A=+—HIFFE

222

(b)  incentive fee per annum equals to 10% of the
increase in the value of the funds under
management of Cagen, provided that such
payment will be made only if such increase
exceeds an amount equal to the value of the
funds multiplied by the last-quoted 180 days
US Treasury Bill rate plus 1% per annum.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the basic fee
payable by the Group to Cagen amounted to HK$9.0
million (2008: HK$12.4 million). No incentive fee was

paid to Cagen during the year (2008: nil).

Transactions with associates and jointly controlled (B)

entity of the Group

During the year, the Group had significant transactions
with associates and jointly controlled entity of the

Group as follows:

(b) BF2BEBEABEER
FCagenBIE ¢ A& NG
—FHEEMZEEZ
10% » MERIBE N %G
REBEERESCEE
T LAST BAFT ¥R 180 H &
Bl EEH B EMNLI%BAT
BHRBEZEBRATN  AE
SRR

HE_ZTZAF=—A=+—H
IEFE  REBER Cagen
EXREBRAEIOAEBT(ZZ
TNF 124888 o F
I 4 6] Cagen < 2B B
(ZZEZ)N\F &) -

ELR SR HE 2 N B M KRR
BERZRS

RAERR  AEEEBEA
ARERZHER EAZS
mF

2009 2008
—ZEZTNE —EENF
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBTT
Aggregate transaction value in respect BRAAREEE—EE
of the following transactions entered N (EL RSB ERR
into by the Group with an associate, BRATF)) REKHEB
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited, R &I#EITA T
and its subsidiaries: R XHHEE
— construction service fees — BER S 230.7 136.6
— renovation service fees —BFRS 0.6 0.5
Sales of services to an associate M & A F & RS 0.2 0.5
Management fee and other operating Mg ARIRR ERE
service fees received from associates N H b 48 & IR & 0.2 0.3
Management fee and other operating m) 3 A 12 1) 2 &) ER
service fees received from jointly ZEBREBENRHEM
controlled entity KRS & 12.0 12.4
Interest income received from associates  [A] B & /2 & Y BY
ZFEWA 0.9 15
Rental income received from an associate  [A] B <& A &) Y Y
s WA — 0.3
Carpark rental paid to an associate BEASYNEISES]
ZEEIGHES 0.3 0.3
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Compensation of key management personnel ©)

The remuneration of directors and other members of

TEEHEASHNE

EELHEMEIEZEENERSF

key management during the year was as follows: Az BenT:
2009 2008
—EEhF —EENF
HK$’'M HKS$'M
BEERT BEBT
Short term employee benefits HEE B @A
Fees e 1.7 1.4
Salaries and other benefits e REMIEF 21.2 23.1
Performance related incentive payments 48 & 12.8 15.1
35.7 39.6
Post-employment benefit BB RN
Retirement benefits schemes RRE A ET B3R
contributions 0.9 1.0
36.6 40.6
The remuneration of directors and key executives is BEERTBETHRABZHEH

determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.
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45. BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

OF THE COMPANY

Information of the Company’s condensed balance sheet is

as follows:

45. 7K

#

[RFRZEERGERE

ARl BHEERBEREMAT :

2009 2008
—EZhE —EENF
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBTT BEBT
Non-current assets EMENEE 4,456.0 4,962.5
Current assets MENEE 6,411.1 4.695.6
Current liabilities mEBAE (4,298.2) (4,931.7)
Net current assets (liabilities) RBEE (AR F8 2,112.9 (236.1)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (3,137.3) (1,793.1)
3,431.6 2,933.3

Capital and reserves A& A K 5 1
Share capital A& s 337.5 3375
Reserves R 3,094.1 2,595.8
3,431.6 2,933.3
Profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 of the Company AKRRIRBE_ZEENF=ZA=1+—

amounted to approximately HK$624.0 million (2008:

HK$968.1 million).

Under the Company Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman

Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for
distribution or paying dividends to shareholders subject to

the provisions of its memorandum or articles of association
and provided that immediately following the distribution of
dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall

due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with

the Company’s articles of association, dividends can only be
distributed out of the accumulated profits of the Company
of HK$1,518.7 million as at 31 March 2009 (2008:

HK$979.8 million).

224  HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 7 & 0 2 B[ & [ 45 /8 2 7)

HIEFE 2 a4 A62408EE T
—EZ)N\F 968.18FETT) °

REFESHEF222ERADE (KE
7)) RNRBZBEE R ks
FRRIRERS - WARXARMEME
FRAM K MAVESIFTARIR - M R BEIK
Bi&  RRABIARNEENBEER
B2 BT - RIBARE Z R AAR
ERMAR - EAUBEARRR-EEN
F=A=1T—HRE15187HEETT
(ZZZNF: 9798BERTT)IZR
HE MO IRA S e



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T4 1 55 1 22

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 March
BE-A=+-HLHFE
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
“BENE _—TTN\F C—TTLHF —ETRFE _"TTOHF
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT BEBT BEATL BEAT
Turnover EEE 2,593.7 3,429.7 2,636.7 1,293.8 1,892.3
(Loss) profit from operations =8 (8 AT (253.7) 1,576.7 1,217.0 650.7 679.3
Finance costs HBER (171.2) (193.2) (199.7) (160.7) (51.5)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA R Wa — — 580.8 — 19
Share of results of associates DO E DB EE 179.0 300.2 85.4 506.1 285.9
Share of result of jointly MMEEREHEE
controlled entity 4 (0.3) (34.0) 12.0 — —
Amortisation of goodwill HEEH — — — — (0.3)
(Loss) profit before taxation PR A (E518) i (246.2) 1,649.7 1,695.5 996.1 915.3
Taxation IR 8.6 (383.3) (196.3) (85.0) (41.3)
(Loss) profit for the year KEE (BE) & (237.6) 1,266.4 1,499.2 911.1 874.0
Attributable to: Tl E (AR
Equity holders of the Company KAGRREREA (224.1) 924.8 11923 856.3 803.3
Minority interests YRR ER (13.5) 341.6 306.9 54.8 70.7
(Loss) profit for the year KEE (BE) AR (237.6) 1,266.4 1,499.2 911.1 874.0
BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION EEEERER
At 31 March
R=ZA=+-8H
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
“BENE _—TTN\F CTTLHF —ETRFE _"TTOH
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEAT BEBT BEATL BEATL
Total assets EERE 17,848.9 18,412.1 15,607.1 14,988.6 12,343.1
Total liabilities EREEk (7,095.8) (7,186.5) (5,631.5) (6,433.7) (5,406.7)
Minority interests DERFEER (1,054.7) (1,070.7) (723.8) (552.5) (486.5)
Equity attributable to equity ARABREREA
holders of the Company B 9,698.4 10,154.9 9,251.8 8,002.4 6,449.9
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
E-X/BS )

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER A HBRRBRYYHE
DEVELOPMENT
Gross floor Expected
area (sq. ft.) Stage of completion Nature
Descriptions BREEE completion date of property
BR (EAR) THEER BHTAA NEME
1. The remaining phases, AELL
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island ~ HISEH T & H
(a) YiPak DiscoveryBay, AMIIBEE
Lantau Island “HE
— Residential —f=z
— Remaining Phases  — BT & 359,226 Completion 2010 — 2013 Residential
of foundation/ frE
Planning/
Superstructure
in progress
TRiE/
g2/t2
TREmH
— Commercial —B% 84,411 Completion of 2009 — 2010 Commercial
foundation/ [EE
Superstructure
in progress
TRE/
TETRENS
— Hotel —BE 269,100 Superstructure No definite Hotel
in progress plan il
LETRENS EETHE
— Recreational — R4 48438 Completion of 2010 Recreational
foundation/ RE
Superstructure
in progress
ERE/
TETRENY
(b) Others Ett 520,322 Not yet No definite Retained for future
(Note) (F3E) commenced plan development
HWAHT BEEE BERRER
2. Plot No. 34, 174 and 257 REEA 124,000 Construction 2011 Residential
Soi Attakarnprasit 10120 Sathorn, Soi (site area) under progress Fx
Thungmahamek, Sathorn Attakarnprasit (pgEmEB) Tiggnd
Bangkok 10120 Thungmahamek
Thailand 34 17412575 T4
Note: The Discovery Bay Project has a total site area of approximately st - M= E2EERHEAENATIOES

226

70 million sq. ft. The remaining development area comprises a
total of above 163,011 sq. ft. of gross building area of residential
and commercial development and about 357,311 sq. ft. of gross
building area for recreational development.

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7

FHR o s THEE LB IERESL
EERA163,011F TR ZEFERE
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
e L/ES P

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD

FOR RENTAL PURPOSES

B. #EREVWEFERESE
WA R

Attributable Category
Gross floor interest to of lease
area (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group term
Descriptions BEEER property r5E RO
B (FAR) MEME i ER L]
3. 2 houses located at Bijou Hamlet, KB LaEE 5,392 Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BEME2ETRER e h
4. 8 houses located at Headland Village, AE LS E 18,999 Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island FESETLR R ffE h
5. 3 lowrise apartments located at AE L2 4,565 Residential 100% Medium
Beach Village, Discovery Bay, ERMEEEER FE i
Lantau Island
6. 23 units comprising highrise, lowrise RE L= 34,021 Residential 100% Medium
and duplex apartments located at BEEENhREE - £ h
Peninsula Village, EEEER
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BA BRI
7. 3 units comprising highrise and AE LS E 3,397 Residential 100% Medium
lowrise apartments located at La Costa, BREMAENASEENL L FE h
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island gy =l
8. 8 highrise apartments located at ABE L2 6,055 Residential 100% Medium
Greenvale Village, Discovery Bay, [ YA ffE i
Lantau Island
9. 1 highrise apartment located at La Vista, RE L= 1,006 Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BEEIEREEN £ i
10. 1 highrise apartment located at AE LS E 699 Residential 100% Medium
Hillgrove Village, FERlEmEEl ffE hH
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island
11. 39 highrise apartments located at ABE L2 24513 Residential 100% Medium
Parkridge Village, Discovery Bay, AR A39ER BN ffx i
Lantau Island
12. 6 midrise apartments located at DB Plaza, ~ KB E 4522 Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island S EH6METBEN £ h
13. 14/F of Century Tower Il and EELERFIRESR 3,638 Residential 100% Long
Car Parking Space, No. 12 on Level 1, IR RIFAEEAEINER FE =8
Century Tower, Nos. 1 and 1A, HEREFIE
Tregunter Path, The Peak, Hong Kong BEBIHEN
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
e L/ES P

228

Attributable Category
Gross floor interest to of lease
area (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group term
Descriptions AEEEE property pi-3 | iRk
R (FAR) NEME EhER Ehl
14. Flat 2 on Ist Floor, and Car Parking BEABEEICH 3,000 Residential 100% Long
Space No. 19 and One Roof Space EEREIE2EH (E2 &8
Marked “5”, Bowen Mansion, 19 B R[5 % KA
7C Bowen Road, Hong Kong
15. 4 highrise apartments located at B AEERT 3,786 Residential 100% Medium
Island Resort, 28 Siu Sai Wan Road, EEYRAAREEN ffE i
Hong Kong
16. 10 highrise apartments located at RRRBEERLY 10,223 Residential 100% Medium
Coastal Skyline, 12 Tung Chung EXERI0EREEN £ h
Waterfront Road, Tung Chung
17. 8 highrise apartments located at RBERES 8,503 Residential 100% Medium
Tung Chung Crescent, RIRENSHSEEf FE t
2 Mei Tung Street, Tung Chung
18. 27 highrise apartments located at RERBSERSH 20,385 Residential 100% Medium
Seaview Crescent, 8 Tung Chung BEEN 7B BN ffE i
Waterfront Road, Tung Chung
19. Chelsea, (including 118 residential units EINPS 238,224 Residential 100% Long
and 125 car parking spaces) PETREREK10387 FE h
No. 169 of Lane 1038, 19 EEEEE
Huashan Road, Changning District (BRELBEFEEMR
Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China 125/@E )
20. DIA Palace Il, Sapporo, Japan HAALIZDIA Palace 11 44,593 Residential 100% Freehold
fFx KAERE
21. Commercial Centre, Discovery Bay, KBl aEE 180,910 Commercial 50% Medium
Lantau Island GELIN BE hi
22. Shop 401, Coastline Villa, KB LaEE 7417 Commercial 50% Medium
Phase IV, Discovery Bay, FENBREE [GES h i
Lantau Island AN
23. Commercial Centre, ALBRE 81,107 Commercial 50% Medium
Yi Pak, Discovery Bay, ZHEBERL BE h
Lantau Island
24. 22nd Floor, China Merchants Tower, EATHET168-2005% 10,800 Commercial 100% Long
Shun Tak Centre, EERL EES R

168 — 200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TP ERE
Attributable Category
Gross floor interest to of lease
area (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group term
Descriptions AEEEE property pi-3 | iRk
R (FHR) NELE EhER £5l
25. Commercial Podium, Discovery Park, mREE 465,685 Commercial 50% Medium
398 Castle Peak Road, Tsuen Wan, & L3985 GRS H
New Territories WSS
26. West Gate Tower, No. 7 NERDE 146,432 Industrial 100% Medium
Wing Hong Street and KEETH RIBMEST 1% h
8 King Lam Street, Cheung Sha Wan, ARG L
Kowloon
27. Joyce Building, No. 38 55 89,157 Industrial 100% Long
Wong Chuk Hang Road, BAFENNEIRT 1% s
Aberdeen, Hong Kong g
28. CDW Building, 382-392 Castle Peak Road, ~ #THR&EE 982,777 Industrial 100% Medium
27-37 Mei Wan Street, Tsuen Wan, ZRE27-37% 1% H
New Territories E118382-392%
PEIZABARE
C. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE C. BEEALE W
Attributable Category
Gross floor interest to of lease
area (sq. ft.) Nature of the Group term
Descriptions AERHE property pi-3 | iRk
R (FHR) NELE EhER £5l
29. La Serene, Discovery Bay, AEL 1,519 Residential 50% Medium
Lantau Island BREBE ffx i
30. Neo Horizon, Discovery Bay, AU 791 Residential 50% Medium
Lantau Island BRERE ffx i
31. Chianti, Discovery Bay, AEL 32,734 Residential 50% Medium
Lantau Island BREHE fiE h
32. Beaufort on Nassim, Singapore A% 5,135 Residential 100% Freehold
Beaufort on Nassim FE KAKRE
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

F P ERHE
D. OTHER PROPERTIES D. Hftt¥z%
Attributable
Site area interest to
(sq.ft.) Nature of the Group
Descriptions WEHE property rEE
B (FHR) MELE gL
33. Lot No. 373RP and 374 in D.D. 352 MRKEL 23,400 Residential 100%
Lantau Island, LEH3525% 5K (retained for future
New Territories 373 B k374 development)
E
(REREER)
34. Lot nos. 1735, 1737, 1979 and MRBE 154,106 Agricultural lots 100%
portions of Lot nos. 1978 and LENFENSE1735% « 1737%; » (no definite plan)
2012 in Demarcation District no. 91, 1979553 B E21978 % 201255 7 i
Fanling, New Territories 7 e (EEEE)
35. Various lots in Demarcation District KE L 150,282 Agricultural lots 50%
No. 363, Sam Pak, Lantau Island ZALENERS AR (no definite plan)
EHHR
(EE e
36. Section B and the remaining portion M 57,935 Agricultural lots 100%
of Lot no. 5, Section A and the HEBSRBER ROFHE - (no definite plan)
remaining portion of Lot no. 65 and 6557 AL R 6557 BA 8L |2 B g
Lot nos. 61, 66, 67 and 69, Peng Chau 615 + 665 + 675 R695% (EEE:E)
37. Section C and the remaining M 35,266 Agricultural lots 100%
portions of Lot nos. 354 and 346, B E 3545 & (no definite plan)
Peng Chau 3465 CER R BB B
(EE el
38. Various Lots in Demarcation District KL 222,592 Golf course 50%
No. 354, Diana Farm, Hang Sui, 417K Diana Farm (completed)
Lantau Island L2HEBARS bR BRXNS
(2I)
39. The remaining portion of Lot no. 317 MALM 15,587 Agricultural lots 50%
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and Lot no. 320 in Demarcation District
no. 132, Tuen Mun, New Territories

LENZ132FBE3TH BB R
3208

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &/F B (BB EEHRE A 7
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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N
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HEfMEE
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TERER
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Legal Advisors
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Hong Kong Laws
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HKEx Stock Name
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Stock Code
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Website
483k

O
'_'w

-1104, Cayman Islands

23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre
168 200 Connaught Road Central Hong Kong

&8 T 78 168-2005%
ERPOAEERARE23E

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

=8 e BEMRT EETENTT

The Hongkong and Shanghal Banking Corporation Limited

B LEELERITARR

Standard Chartered Bank
EITIRTT

Hang Seng Bank Limited
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Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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EERRELELER AR
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1712-1716=

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.0. Box 309, Ugland House
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Richards Butler
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Kao, Lee & Yip
B M

Maples and Calder

HKR Int'
e e

00480 (shares f%19) )
02517 (convertible bonds AJ# % & %)

www.hkri.com
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HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
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